## Central New York Care Collaborative Community Health Assessment

## **FINAL REPORT**

#### November 2014

Submitted to:

Central New York Care Collaborative Community Needs Assessment Steering Committee

> Submitted by: John Snow, Inc. 44 Farnsworth Street Boston, MA 02210-1211



#### Acknowledgements

This Community Needs Assessment (CNA) was initially conducted on behalf of a loose partnership of four emerging Performing Provider Systems (PPSs) that were individually taking steps to apply to the New York State's Delivery System Reform Incentive Payment (DSRIP) Program. This group of PPSs came together to collaborate on a regional community needs assessment as part of their application requirement and each PPS identified a representative to participate in the Community Needs Assessment Steering Committee. Over the course of the assessment, the four PPSs opted to merge their efforts and to collaborate on a single DSRIP application, as a single, joint PPS.

John Snow, Inc. (JSI) would like to acknowledge the great work, support, and commitment of this Steering Committee, which met periodically throughout the assessment in order to keep abreast of the assessment's progress and to provide feedback that was absolutely vital to its outcome.

Since the beginning of the assessment in early August 2014, hundreds of individuals participated in meetings and/or were interviewed by John Snow, Inc. (JSI) or other CNYCC partners. These participants included representatives from health and social service provider organizations, public health departments, community advocacy groups, community businesses, and many other types of community organizations, as well as from the community at-large. The information gathered as part of these efforts allowed JSI, its partners, and the CNA Steering Committee to engage the community and gain a better understanding of community capacity, strengths, and weaknesses as well as community health status, barriers to care, service gaps, underlying determinants of health, and overall community need.

On behalf of the CNA Steering Committee and all of the senior leadership from each of the initial PPSs, JSI would like to thank everyone that was involved in this assessment, but particularly the region's service providers, health departments, advocacy groups, and community members who invested their time, effort, and expertise through interviews, focus groups, and community meetings to ensure the development of a comprehensive, thoughtful, and quality assessment. While it was not possible for the JSI project team to talk with all of the community's stakeholders, the project team talked with a vast and hopefully representative sample. This group is committed to strengthening the regions system of care, particularly for those who are Medicaid insured or uninsured and often from segments of the population who are most at-risk. This assessment would not have been possible or nearly as successful without the support of the all of those who were involved. Please except our heartfelt appreciation and thanks for your participation in this assessment.



November 2014

#### Central New York Care Collaborative (CNYCC)

#### **Community Needs Assessment Steering Committee**

Tom Filliak, Auburn Community Hospital Kristen Heath, St. Joseph's Hospital Health System Cynthia Jaconski, Upstate University Hospital Dianne Nano, Upstate University Hospital Cheryl Perry, Faxton-St. Luke's Healthcare Joseph Reilly, St. Joseph's Hospital Health System

#### John Snow, Inc. (JSI)

John Snow, Inc., and our nonprofit JSI Research & Training Institute, Inc., are public health management consulting and research organizations dedicated to improving the health of individuals and communities throughout the world.

JSI's mission is to improve the health of underserved people and communities and to provide a place where people of passion and commitment can pursue this cause.

For 35 years, Boston-based JSI and our affiliates have provided high-quality technical and managerial assistance to public health programs worldwide. JSI has implemented projects in 106 countries, and currently operates from eight U.S. and 81 international offices, with more than 500 U.S.-based professionals and 1,600 host country staff.

JSI is deeply committed to improving the health of individuals and communities worldwide. We work in partnership with governments, organizations, and host-country experts to improve quality, access and equity of health systems worldwide. We collaborate with government agencies, the private sector, and local nonprofit and civil society organizations to achieve change in communities and health systems.

#### JSJ Project Team

Alec McKinney, MBA, Project Director

Steve Meersman, PhD, Quantitative Data Team Leader Susan Grantham, PhD, Qualitative Data Team Leader Debra Oleson, Senior Technical Advisor Pamela Byrnes, PhD Senior Technical Advisor Katie DeAngelis, MPH and Sarah Genetti, BA Project Managers



### **Table of Contents**

I. OVERVIEW OF THE DELIVERY SYSTEMS REFORM INCENTIVE PROGRAM AND THE COMMUNITY HEALTH ASSESSMENT
A. DSRIP Overview1
B. The Central New York Care Collaborative and the Context of the Service Area1
II. SUMMARY COMMUNITY HEALTH NEEDS ASSESSMENT APPROACH AND METHODS4
A. Summary Approach4
B. Summary Methods4
III. NEEDS ASSESSMENT FINDINGS
A. Description of Community to Be Served8
B. Identification of Main Health and Health Service Challenges
C. Community Assets and Resources
IV. RECOMMENDED PROGRAMMATIC STRATEGIES
V. METHODOLOGY
A. DSRIP Performance Data Methods75
B. Condition Categorization of Episode Disease Categories77
C. Qualitative Methods79
D. Synthesis and Analysis of Data82



## List of Tables, Figures, and Maps

TABLE	PAGE
Table 1: Population Demographics by County and Region	10
Table 2: Income, Unemployment and Education Status by County and Region	13
Table 3: Insurance and Medicaid Status by County and Region	14
Table 4. Leading Causes of Premature Death, by County	16
Table 5. Disease Prevalence (Expanded BRFSS, 2009)	17
Table 6: Leading Causes of Hospital Admissions (across all counties in the CNYCC service area)	19
Table 7: Leading Causes of Emergency Room Visits (across all counties in the CNYCC service area)	21
Table 8: Population Health Indicators and Major Health Risk Factors	24
Table 9. Access to Health Care and Service Utilization	27
Table 10: AHRF Number of Providers by County	33
Table 11: Grocery Store Access	37
Table 12: Percentage of Population with Low-Income and Low Access to a Supermarket or a Large	38
Grocery Store	
Table 13: Recreation and Fitness Facility Access	38
Table 14. Park Access	39
Table 15. Key County Providers	41
Table 16: Hospital Beds Per 1,000 Residents for Hospitals in CNY Care Collaborative CNYCC Service Area	42
by County – 2014 (Excluding psychiatric beds)	
Table 17: Hospital Occupancy Rates for Hospitals in CNY Care Collaborative CNYCC Service Area by County – 2012 (Including psychiatric beds)	43
Table 18: Selected Hospital Quality Data Metrics Drawn from the Quality Improvement Organization	45
Table 19: Number of FTE Primary Care Providers Per 100.000 Population – 2012	48
Table 20: Primary Care Internal Operations: Strengths and Weaknesses	54
Table 21. Number of NCQA-Certified PCMHs by County	55
Table 22: HEDIS Measures from DSRIP Clinical Process of Quality Measures Chartbooks	56
Table 23: Federal Qualified Health Center (FQHC), Uniform Data System (UDS), Selected Clinical Measure Rates for each of the FQHCs in the CNY Service Area - 2013	57
Table 24. Number of FTE Psychiatrists per 100,000 Population	58
Table 25. Number of FTE Dentists per 100,000 Population -2012	60
Table 26. Summary of Regionally Available Resources	65



FIGURES and MAPS	PAGE
Figure 1. CNYCC Service Area Map	2
Figure 2. Percent of Residents Who Are Foreign Born Map	11
Figure 3. Percent of Residents Living Under 138% FPL Map	12
Figure 4. Overall PQI Composite Score Map	28
Figure 5. Overall Composite PQI by County	28
Figure 6. Overall Composite Pediatric Quality Indicator by County	29
Figure 7. Potentially Preventable ER Visits Map	29
Figure 8. Percent of Members with ER Visit Map	29
Figure 9. Health Impact Pyramid Diagram	30
Figure 10. HPSA Map	34
Figure 11: Rates of Primary Care Safety Net Penetration into the Low Income Population by County - 2013	47
Figure 12: Growth of FQHCs Capacity in Central New York	49
Figure 13: Percent of Medicaid Members with an ER Visit Map	50
Figure 14: Triple Aim	66
Figure 15: Social Determinants of Health and Primary Care	71
Figure 16: Approaches to Community Health	72



#### Appendices

- **A.** Selected Combined Data Tables: Data tables for all counties in the CNYCC service area. These tables are also available for each county in individual County Profiles.
- B. Inventory of Resources by County: A list of health care and non-medical services in each county.
- **C. Quality Data (Hospitals, FQHCs, and HEDIS):** Tables of quality data for hospitals, health centers, and HEDIS measures for all counties in the CNYCC service area.
- D. Executive Summary of CNY Report: This primary care needs assessment was conducted in 2013 by John Snow Inc. (JSI)
- E. Findings of 2013 CNY Consumer Access Survey: This survey was conducted as part of the Central New York Needs Assessment.
- F. Central New York Safety Net Assessment: This executive summary provides an overview of findings from the Central New York Safety Net Assessment for eight counties: Cayuga, Cortland, Herkimer, Madison, Oneida, Onondaga, and Oswego. The focus of the needs assessment was on Medicaid and Self Pay populations. The needs assessment was conducted in 2013 by JSI.
- **G.** Mapping Applications: Links to the four mapping applications, as well as an overview of the level of analysis and layers available.
- **H.** Key Informant Interview Guide: This served as the guide for key informant interviews with four types of interviewees: community based resources, other health care providers, hospitals, and individuals involved with policy development.
- I. List of Key Informant Interviews by County: This list includes the name, organization of affiliation, and interview type for all key informant interviews conducted.

Note: At the time the Appendices for this report were created, eleven counties were included in the PPS service area. Since then, the number of counties included in the service area was reduced to six. While the report includes only those counties which were finally included in the service area, the appendices include data elements from the original eleven counties.



# I. OVERVIEW OF THE DELIVERY SYSTEMS REFORM INCENTIVE PROGRAM AND THE COMMUNITY HEALTH ASSESSMENT

#### **A. DSRIP Overview**

The Delivery System Reform Incentive Payment Program (DSRIP) is groundbreaking initiative to transform the health system of New York State. The over-riding focus of DSRIP is reducing avoidable hospital use by 25% over 5 years for the Medicaid and uninsured population in New York State. However, DSRIP has five key goals. First, DSRIP aims to be a truly transformative initiative at both the system- or market-level as well as the state level. The primary driver of this transformation will be a series of Performing Provider Systems (PPS), which have been formed throughout the State of New York as broad, truly collaborative entities that will work together to achieve the goals of DSRIP. However, there are a range of policy and regulatory changes that will occur at the State-level that will also have tremendous impact on facilitating the transformation.

Second, DSRIP aims to reduce avoidable hospital use and improve other health and public health measures. While the primary measure of success is clearly reduction of avoidable hospital use, there is a clear appreciation for the fact that this cannot be accomplished without also addressing the underlying root causes of illness that are responsible for the bulk of death and disease in the population.

Third, DSRIP aims to sustain the transformation beyond the 5-year waiver period by building on New York State's efforts of related to payment reform. Integral to this effort will be shift away from traditional fee-for-service methods of payment to more global forms of payment combined with paying service providers across the spectrum for achieving specific patient-related metrics or outcomes (Payfor-performance).

Fourth, DSRIP aims to provide financial support to the PPS, and particularly the State's vital safety net providers, to support the systems transfer and development of critical market-level infrastructure.

Finally, if DSRIP is going to have a lasting impact on the leading causes of illness and death in their service areas, it is clear that the PPSs' initiatives will have to look beyond the walls of the traditional health care setting and involve the public health and community health sectors. In conceptualizing DSRIP, the State is making a very conscious effort to move the worlds of clinical medicine and primary care and the worlds of public health and community medicine closer together. As a result, the PPSs' will need to involve these sectors, along with behavioral health, dental health and community organizations, in the process and explore how to integrate the efforts of these sectors in meaningful ways.

#### B. The Central New York Care Collaborative and the Context of the Service Area

The Central New York Care Collaborative (CNYCC) PPS is made up of the broad range of health, public health, and community partners in the region that must be united to truly reform the health care system. The CNYCC is made up representatives from hospitals; primary care, behavioral health, medical



specialty, and dental practices; nursing homes and skilled nursing facilities; local public health agencies; housing agencies; single and multi-service community and social service agencies; and a myriad of other

health and community agencies. The CNYCC is also linked to and involves a broad range of other critical partners including labor union officials, academic partners, elected officials/policy makers, advocacy organizations, business partners, the media, and private foundations.

The service area for the CNYCC spans six counties in the Central portion of Upstate New York from Lewis County in the North Country near the Canadian border, to Madison County in the south, to Cayuga County in the west, and Oneida County in the east. Specifically, the CNYCC encompasses the following eight Counties: Cayuga, Lewis, Madison, Oneida, Onondaga, and Oswego (Figure 1).

The region is largely rural but has a number of substantial population centers, including the Cities of Syracuse and Utica, which are the dominant metropolitan areas in the region. Demographically, the population is predominantly White, non-Hispanic but



Figure 1: CNYCC Service Area Map

there are significant pockets of racial/ethnic minority populations throughout the region, including large communities of recent immigrants, refugees, and asylees, particularly in Syracuse and Utica. Specifically relevant to DSRIP, there are also large proportions of low-income Medicaid insured residents living throughout the region. In fact, every county in the CNYCC service area has proportions of residents living in poverty or low income households that exceed the Upstate<sup>1</sup> and New York State averages. The region is slightly older than the Upstate New York and New York State populations overall with larger proportions of older adults. Economically, the region was hard hit by the economic downturn and while it has made grade strides is still recovering. There are large pockets of unemployed or under-employed workers and many residents have left the workforce.

There are great assets in the region that will be drawn on by the CNYCC to develop a strong, vibrant, collaborative system of care but the assessment will also show that there are significant gaps in health and social services and in most parts of the region the community health infrastructure is quite limited. As a result, large proportions of the population face major barriers to care and access. These factors are often intensified by the social, economic, and environmental factors that are pervasive in many of the cities, towns, villages, and neighborhoods throughout the region. Limited transportation, high rates of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Upstate New York for the purposes of the CNA is defined as all areas in the State of New York, except for New York City, which mirrors the New York State Department of Health's definition.



poverty, and lack of affordable housing are some of the leading determinants of negative health outcomes.

This document will identify these strengths, weaknesses, and details with the clarity and vision necessary to pave the way for true redesign efforts and to enable the partner organizations to invest in the staff, resources, and technology necessary to make the goals successful.

#### **Community Health Needs Assessment Overview and Engagement Process**

One of the truly groundbreaking aspects of the DSRIP program is its data-driven approach and incorporation of population health principals. All of the PPSs throughout the State are required to conduct comprehensive community health needs assessments (CHNA) that collect both quantitative and qualitative data. The CHNA must also engage all stakeholders and leverage the assessment activities conducted by local health departments and the State's community hospitals as part of the State's Prevention Agenda and the Community Health Improvement planning process. The CHNA is meant to guide and inform all aspects of the CNYCC's project selection and implementation plans, as well as ensure that CNYCC's initiatives are aligned with existing community health efforts and the State's Prevention Agenda.

The CHNA must include a description of the population to be served and an assessment of its health status and clinical care needs, as well as an assessment of the health care and community wide systems and resources available to address those needs. The essential components of the CNYCC assessment are briefly described below and are described in detail in Section V of this report. The ultimate goal of the CHNA is the selection of DSRIP projects that are based on a solid understanding of the health needs of the population and the resources available to address them that will help achieve the Triple Aim: improved health, lower costs and improved quality.



#### **II. SUMMARY COMMUNITY HEALTH NEEDS ASSESSMENT APPROACH AND METHODS**

#### A. Summary Approach

The goal of the community needs assessment (CNA) was to provide an understanding of the CNY region's population to be served, health status and clinical care needs, and available health care and community wide systems to address those needs. The results of this process provided the foundation for DSRIP strategy selection, ensuring that the strategies chosen reflect the actual needs of the community and that they will have a meaningful impact on Triple Aim goals: improved health, lower costs, and improved quality.

#### **B. Summary Methods**

To understand the key challenges and resources available, a significant amount of quantitative data was identified and reviewed. In addition to this quantitative review, qualitative data was acquired through a survey of PPS partners, in-depth key informant interviews, consumer engagement activities, and a review of past needs assessments. The final phase in the CHNA process was to communicate findings to community leaders to elicit feedback on and responses to the data. This section provides a brief overview of the methods used to develop this CHNA; a more comprehensive review of the methodology used to complete this CHNA can be found in Section V, subsection A.

#### **Quantitative Data Analysis**

The quantitative assessment involved a review of the data elements outlined in the DSRIP guidance according to the domains: Domain 2) System Transformation, Domain 3) Clinical Improvement, and Domain 4) Population-wide Strategy Implementation. Data sources, including those available on the Department of Health's Health NY website, were reviewed. Data elements for the counties included in the PPS were extracted and compared to Upstate and New York State averages, when available. A more complete description of the quantitative analysis can be found in Section V.

#### **PPS Partner Survey**

Concurrently, qualitative data was gathered through a number of sources, the first of which was a PPS Partner Survey. The purpose of the survey was to cast a wide net of potential partners and resources in the region. The audience for the PPS Partner Survey was identified as those organizations that the PPS had included as partners in their DSRIP planning application to NYS DOH. This original list, included in the application to NYS DOH, was used to create a list of PPS Partner Survey recipients. The list of partners included general partnering organizations, other partnering organizations, physicians, and pharmacy partners. Over 200 contacts received the survey. This online survey collected address information that was used to map partners, and capacity and services information to provide an understanding of available resources and remaining gaps. A total of 173 organizations completed the



survey between August 21 and September 30, 2014. It is important to note that these 173 organizations covered the original PPS service area of eleven counties. Survey data is reported in this report in the aggregate, and some of the respondent organizations may lie outside of the six counties included in the final CNYCC Region service area.

#### **Key Informant Interviews**

In addition to the PPS Partner Survey, key informants in the participating counties were identified for indepth interviews. A total of 77 interviews were completed in the region. These interviews provided context for the data by focusing on perceived priority issues and root causes of hospital readmissions. The PPS generated the list of original contacts to be interviewed. These names were selected by the PPS because the organization was identified as a key partner for the DSRIP project (i.e., a key county provider identified in Table 15 of this report) and their insight was seen as key to developing the picture of needs and resources in the service area. Interviewees selected by the PPS were interviewed by JSI. During this interview, the interviewees were given the opportunity to identify other key names for additional information. The goal in contacting this second round of names was to achieve and ensure saturation in key themes.

A total of 77 interviews were conducted; of these, 56 were conducted in the six counties of the CNYCC Region. These interviewees were diverse on a number of indicators. Interviews were conducted in several counties, including Cayuga (7), Cortland (9), Herkimer (7), Lewis (4), Madison (8), Oneida (14), Onondaga (14), Oswego (9), and St. Lawrence (5). Additionally, the interviewees were diverse in the type of organization they represented. Interviewees included 10 hospitals located in six different counties. The hospitals represented by interviewees were Lewis County General, Community Memorial, Crouse, St. Joseph's, Oswego (4 interview), and Canton-Potsdam Hospitals. There were 37 interviews with other health care providers. These other health care providers included county agencies (health, aging, and mental health departments), federally-qualified health centers, Health Home agencies, case management organizations, and hospice providers, among others. Finally, there were 30 interviews with community-based resources. These community based resources included ARC agencies, housing authorities, community action partnerships, community coalitions, rural health councils, the Salvation Army, and Catholic charities, among others. A list of interviewees, including name, organization, organization type, and county of location, can be found in Appendix I. The diversity in geography and organization type resulted in a saturation of themes surrounding resources and gaps in the service area.

#### **Consumer Engagement Activities**

Input from consumers is a critical part of the CNYCC PPS. In-person consumer engagement activities were conducted in each of the CNYCC counties. These activities ranged from structured focus groups to guided listening sessions to individual interviews. Both JSI and Eric Mower and Associates (EMA) conducted consumer engagement activities. Discussions with consumers were guided by an interview protocol. The protocol encouraged discussion on access barriers including provider communication, care coordination, and experience locating services.



Participants were recruited by partnership agencies in each County. Agencies included community organizations and mental health providers, among others. Participating agencies included: Central New York Adult Homes Inc., Cayuga County Mental Health Center, Liberty Resources, CazCares, Catholic Charities, Hutchings Member Support Center, Sunrise Recovery Center, Faxton-St. Lukes Hospital and their Partner Advisory Committee members, Oswego Health, Lewis County Health department, North Regional Center for Independent Living, and the Human Services Center. These agencies were geographically spread to increase access to participants and ensure diverse perspectives. Agencies recruited participants either by asking patients who were attending the site for a visit to participate in a group or individual interview, or by active outreach to agency participants. In all over 100 individuals from the six PPS service area counties provided input on their experiences with the health care system. Participants in these activities were predominantly Medicaid recipients with a significant number also being covered by Medicare. The latter group of dually eligible was a combination of seniors and persons with developmental disabilities.

#### Western and Central New York Low Income Consumer Survey (2013)

In 2013, JSI developed and implemented a Central New York Consumer Access Survey (CNYCSS). The 2013 Central New York Consumer Access Survey (CNYCS) was developed to understand consumer experience related to using primary care services in the region. The primary objective is to understand gaps in services encountered by adults accessing care for themselves and/or children. The survey questions, which were designed to mirror and complement the qualitative interviews with providers and other key informants, assesses consumers' experience scheduling appointments, reaching providers by phone, and ability to communicate with providers to access care and a medical home. The survey covered general health access barriers such as insurance status and communication as well as specific barriers to different types of medical services. The survey was designed based on the 2007 Western New York Consumer Access Survey (WNYCAS), which was developed primarily by drawing questions from existing state and national health surveys. Where questions were not available to address specific issues of interest to HFWCNY, JSI adapted similar questions from previous JSI surveys.

The goal of survey distribution was to capture families in two distinct groups: 1) those waiting for services and affiliated with one of the community health centers or other pediatric providers that serve low-income families; and 2) families in the community whose status related to the safety-net utilization were unknown. The survey was distributed face-to-face to parents at community agencies, events, and provider offices with the cooperation of numerous organizations and individuals across the central New York region. A total of 531 surveys were collected from September through October 2013.

The findings of this survey were used to inform the data collection for the DSRIP application. The results of the survey were discussed thoroughly in the 2013, and the executive summary of the findings of this report are included as Appendix D. The detailed review of the results of the CNY Consumer Access Survey is included in Appendix E.



#### Central New York Safety Net Assessment (2013)

In 2013, JSI with the support of the Health Foundation of Western and Central New York, conducted a primary care and safety net assessment in Central New York that focused on eight counties in Central New York including all of the counties that are part of the CNYCC's service area. This assessment involved the following eight counties: Cayuga, Cortland, Herkimer, Madison, Oneida, Onondaga, and Oswego. JSI used both quantitative and qualitative methods to identify key gaps in the safety net in this region at the zip code level. The analysis included characterizing safety net providers, the Medicaid population, health status and indicators of inappropriate care, rates of admission and rates of discharge across the eight included counties. The key findings of this report also served as the foundation for this needs assessment for the DSRIP application. The executive summary of the findings of this past needs assessment are included in Appendix F.

Quantitative and qualitative data was first reviewed on the county-level, and county profile reports of the data were created. These profiles should be reviewed for a more in-depth understanding of county-specific issues. This report summarizes issues across the participating counties.

#### New York State Prevention Agenda Needs Assessments

The qualitative assessment that was conducted as part of the CNYCC CNA also involved a review of prior needs assessments conducted by local health departments and hospitals in conjunction with the New York State Prevention Agenda. The purpose of this step was to explore whether the findings of the CHA aligned with past assessments.



#### **III. NEEDS ASSESSMENT FINDINGS**

#### A. Description of Community to Be Served

A robust assessment must include a thorough discussion of the community to be served so that projects can be selected and implementation plans can be developed that are tailored to the specific geographic, demographic, socio-economic, and health status characteristics of the population. While it is critical to understand the overall characteristics of the community and service area at large, it is important to note that with respect to DSRIP the emphasis is on the low income Medicaid insured and uninsured segments of the population.

This section of the assessment will include a succinct narrative, along with graphical, mapping and tabular data figures, that describe the demographics of the proposed population to be served, as well as the leading health status and service utilization factors. This information will facilitate the selection of the most appropriate, value-added projects and the design of tailored strategies that will allow the CNYCC to achieve the DSRIP goals. In this regard, it should be noted that while there is a clear understanding of the importance of raising overall health status as way of facilitating sustainable transformation, the primary measure of success for DSRIP is the reduction of inappropriate hospital inpatient and emergency department utilization.

The Demographics section below will include a discussion of the data related to gender, race, ethnicity, age, income, disability status, mobility, educational attainment, housing status, employment status, Medicaid/insurance status, access to a regular source of care, language and health literacy, legal/illegal immigrant/migrant status, and urban/rural status. Most of the data sources focus on the general, non-institutionalized population, but care will be taken to ensure that the CNYCC has an understanding of special populations such as the homeless, children with special health care needs, disabled adults, and other institutionalized populations, including those involved in the criminal justice system.

The health status and service utilization section below will build on the review of the demographic factors above and characterize the health status and utilization factors for the region overall, including a discussion of geographic and demographic disparities in outcomes. This section of the assessment will include a review of:

- Leading causes of death and premature death
- Leading causes of illness and hospitalization
- Rates of ambulatory care sensitive conditions and the leading causes of preventable hospitalizations
- Disease prevalence for the leading medical and behavioral health conditions
- Maternal and child health outcomes,
- HIV and other sexually transmitted infection indicators, and
- Behavioral risk factors such as obesity, smoking, drinking, drug overdose, and physical inactivity

#### **Demographic Characteristics**

The Central New York Region is an area of contrasts ranging from large sparsely populated rural tracts to more densely populated semi-urban areas. In all there are only three larger cities, the dominant being Syracuse. In relating population demographics to health disparities and health care access barriers, the focus is often on urban-based minority populations, those who lead complex lives with limited resources. However in many areas like the Central New York region low income is not solely an urban issue, and limited access to health care permeates if for different reasons. Most of the health care and community-based resources in the region are located in the more urbanized areas, as are the minority and foreign-born populations. Limited access and health disparities in these communities often stem from lack of insurance, non-acceptance of Medicaid by providers, cultural and language difficulties. In the rural areas poverty certainly factors into negative health outcomes, but this is further complicated by an absolute lack of health care options and community resource support agencies. Transportation is a significant problem. In some areas it is the distance alone that impedes access to care – extensive drives through backcountry roads, particularly in the winter months, are deterrents to accessing regular preventive and primary care. People often wait until there is no choice but to go to the hospital with conditions that potentially could have been rectified at an earlier stage. Even in the semi-urbanized areas transportation is an issue as there is very limited public transportation outside of Syracuse, Utica and Ithaca. The several miles to the nearest urban center becomes a major barrier to accessing care when you do not have a car and the only transportation option is a group of volunteer drivers who are overbooked every day.

The total combined population is 1,002,605 with counties ranging from around 27,000 in Lewis County to Onondaga County with over 466,000. Geographically large rural areas with few urban population centers of any significant size characterize the region. While there is variation in the density of population across the counties (21/sq. mi to 599/sq. mi), most of the counties fall well below the rate for upstate New York (239 people/sq. mi). Onondaga County is the densest at 599, however most of the impact is from Syracuse, which accounts for nearly a third of the county's population. Within counties there is also variation in the distribution of residents. Looking at some of the predominantly rural counties it is noticeable that the populations tend to concentrate in certain areas. The distribution of resources reflects this pattern with the vast majority of health care providers and community resources being located in the areas with greater population density. In the larger more rural counties transportation to the nearest health care resource is often arduous following back roads and circuitous routes. Other than in the urban areas there is little if any public transportation, compounding the difficulty in accessing services. Syracuse (144,669) and Utica (61,808) are the main population hubs in the region.



#### Age, Race, Ethnicity

Most of the counties have experienced an aging of the population over the past decade. In many of the counties younger people left as industries closed, leaving the older and poorer residents behind. Oneida County has the highest proportion of residents age 65+ (17.1%); Cayuga and Lewis Counties also exceed the average for the CNYCC Region (14.6%). Three of the counties (Onondaga, Lewis, Oswego) have a larger proportion under age 18 compared to the CNYCC Region (22.5%).

County	Population	% <18	% 65+	% White	% Black	% Asian	% Hispanic /Latino	% Foreign Born	% LEP	
Cayuga	79,996	21.6	15.5	92.6	4.3	0.6	2.4	2.4	0.6	
Lewis	27,062	24.4	15.3	97.7	0.9	0.2	1.3	1.5	0.5	
Madison	72,977	21.7	14.2	95.0	1.9	0.7	1.8	2.0	0.3	
Oneida	234,336	21.8	16.3	87.0	5.6	3.0	4.6	7.2	2.7	
Onondaga	466,179	22.9	14.1	81.6	10.8	3.2	4.0	7.2	1.8	
Oswego	122,055	23.0	12.7	96.2	0.9	0.6	2.1	2.0	0.3	
City of Syracuse	144,669	23.0	10.6	56.0	29.5	5.5	8.3	11.1	n/a	
City of Utica	61,808	24.7	14.8	69.0	15.3	7.4	10.5	17.6	n/a	
CNYCC Region	1,002,605	22.5	14.6	86.9	7.0	2.4	3.6	5.6	1.6	
Upstate NY	11,198,904	n/a	n/a	81.8	8.7	3.5	9.7	11.1	n/a	
NY State	19,398,125	21.6	14.4	66.0	15.7	7.5	17.7	22.0	n/a	
n/a = data point r	not available	n/a = data point not available								

#### Table 1: Population Demographics by County and Region

A leading factor associated with limited access to care and disparities in health outcomes is whether one is foreign born, a recent immigrant, or part of a racial/ethnic minority group. Overall the population of the region is predominantly White (86.9%); in four of the six counties Whites comprise more than 90% of the population. But this has been changing. Between 2000 and 2010, there were major increases in the racial/ethnic minority populations in Syracuse and Utica. In 2000, 64% of the population in Syracuse and 79% of the population in Utica categorized themselves as of White race alone. By 2010, the percent of the population that was White alone had declined to 56% in Syracuse and 69% in Utica. The fastest growing population during this time was the Hispanic/Latino segment of the population. In 2000, 5% of the population of Syracuse and 6% of the population in Utica were of Hispanic/Latino origin. By 2010, the percent of the population that was of Hispanic/Latino dissent had increased to 8.3% in Syracuse and 10.5% in Utica. In some communities in the central New York region, the percentages of the population that are in racial/ethnic minority groups are as high as 70-80%.



African American/Black is the leading racial/ethnic minority group, followed by people of Hispanic/Latino descent.

There are also large and growing immigrant and refugee populations in Syracuse and Utica (see Figure 2). Immigrants and refugees struggle with access, health literacy, and various health conditions. Overall in the region 5.6% of residents are foreign-born, with the highest percent in Onondaga and Oneida Counties with 7.2% each. Within these counties it is the two cities that impact the overall county

experience: 11.1% of Syracuse's population and 17.6% of Utica's are foreign-born. The largest immigrant/refugee populations are from Bosnia, Somalia, Thailand, Burma, Central America, and Iraq. Amazingly, according to figures from UNHCR (The UN Refugee Agency), Bosnian immigrants now constitute about 10% of the total population of Utica, which has one of the largest resettlement agencies in the country located in the county.

> "The Mohawk Valley Resource Center for Refugees has been responsible for the resettlement of over 13,000 refugees in New York State since 1979. Over 4,000 of these refugees have resettled in Oneida County. Initially, the majority of these refugees came from Bosnia, the former Soviet Union and Vietnam. The most recent influx of refugees is from southern Somalia, Burma and Bhutan. In addition, Oneida County has a significant and growing Latino population. The 2005-2007 American Community Survey 3-year estimate for the County is that 3.5% of the population speaks Spanish. It is also estimated



Figure 2. Percent of Residents Who Are Foreign Born Map

that 549 Native Americans reside in Oneida County. Oneida County's rural communities are also seeing an increase of Amish and Mennonite families."<sup>2</sup>

These individuals are likely to have language, cultural and other significant barriers to navigating the health care delivery system and receiving appropriate care. This was indicated in the "Oneida County 2010-2013 Community Health Assessment":

"Culturally and linguistically diverse residents were identified as a vulnerable population facing personal barriers to health care in Oneida County."<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> http://www.ocgov.net/health/CommunityHealthAssess2010-2013



Access for the refugee community is provided primarily through the resettlement clinics such as the Faxton-St. Luke's clinic. A general lack of access was identified which results in people going to the ED or urgent care centers. In these settings language barriers are problematic. In the resettlement and hospital clinics language issues are handled through volunteers and language-access services. Another barrier is cultural and religious norms. Lack of understanding of the hierarchy systems within cultures, for example needing to "get permission" from the ranking male for a female to be treated; not understanding when and how to access the health care system; not feeling comfortable with the doctors; were mentioned as barriers to care.

#### Income, Employment, and Education

Living in poverty or in a low-income household is one of the leading factors associated with vulnerability, as those who are in these income brackets face economic barriers to care and tend to have stress in their individual or family lives that limit access to care. In the six-county CNY region, the low-income population (i.e. those living below 200% of the federal poverty level) comprised 31.6% of the total population using a 5-year estimate from 2008-2012.

As is true throughout the nation, low educational attainment, poverty and low-income population rates tend to be highest in urban and rural areas and lowest in suburban areas. The highest numbers and highest density of those living in poverty or in low-income households are located in the inner-city areas of Syracuse and Utica. In many of these inner city neighborhoods, more than 70% of the population lives in low-income households. However, a high percentage of the region's rural population also lives in poverty. Throughout the region, the county averages for people living below 200% FPL range from 28.9% in Madison to 36.3% in Oswego. It is notable that the more urban counties experience the highest rates of low-income residents. Looking at rates of poverty again Syracuse and Utica stand out at 33.6% and 30.1% respectively, compared to the region rate of 14.8%. See Figure 3 for a map of the percent of residents living under 138% of the Federal Poverty Level (FPL).

Unemployment is highest in the two larger cities of





Syracuse and Utica, although it is also notable that Oswego and Lewis, rural counties, have high rates as well. Five of the six counties exceed the Upstate rate for population with less than a high school education. Syracuse and Utica both exceed the NY State rate. As manufacturing has left the area over the past decade the service industry has become the dominant employment sector. This transformation



means an increase in part time and low wage work coupled with a decrease in employer-based insurance.

These socio-economic indicators factor importantly in overcoming barriers to accessing health care. Unemployment relates to multiple factors that impact health status and access to health care including disposable income available for health care, access to employer-based health insurance, and car ownership among others. Numerous key informants cited lack of transportation as a significant factor in accessing health care. Limited health literacy, both not being aware of what services are available as well as not understanding how to utilize them were also identified as contributors to unnecessary ED visits and higher in-patient rates. These problems are exacerbated for immigrant and LEP populations as they face the added burden of language and cultural barriers.

	Median Household Income	% <100% of FPL	% <138% of FPL	% <200% of FPL	% Unemployed	% < Than high school diploma		
Сауида	\$50,950	12.2	18.5	30.9	8.2	14.4		
Lewis	\$45,187	13.5	20.0	34.7	9.6	13.2		
Madison	\$52,187	10.8	17.3	28.9	6.0	9.8		
Oneida	\$49,148	15.6	22.5	34.0	7.7	13.6		
Onondaga	\$53,593	14.3	20.4	29.6	7.2	10.6		
Oswego	\$47,288	16.4	23.8	36.3	10.0	13.3		
Syracuse	\$31,459	33.6	n/a	n/a	11.4	19.6		
Utica	\$31,408	30.1	n/a	n/a	12.7	21.0		
CNYCC Region	\$51,254	14.4	20.9	31.6	7.6	11.9		
Upstate NY	\$54,125	11.2	16.6	25.7	7.7	11.1		
NY State	\$57,638	14.9	21.5	31.6	8.7	15.1		
n/a = data point	n/a = data point not available							

#### Table 2: Income, Unemployment and Education Status by County and the CNYCC Service Area

#### Insurance Status, Medicaid and Dual Eligibility

Overall the CNY region has a lower percent of people who are uninsured compared to both Upstate NY and NY State. This is a result of the aggressive approach to expending Medicaid that New York has taken as well as a reflection of the pervasive poverty in the region. Within the region there is significant variation ranging from a high of 10.8% in Cayuga and Lewis Counties to a low of 7.7% in Oneida County. Two of the six counties have rates that exceed the Upstate rate. Meanwhile, the percent of people who are Medicaid recipients is higher for the CNY region compared to Upstate NY in five counties. The load that this puts on the health care system is reflected in the health utilization data below. Many of the



key informants commented that the Medicaid population experiences greater difficulties in accessing care because of the lack of health care resources available to them. The community health centers throughout the region are functioning at capacity, as are the other safety net providers.

County	% Uninsured	% Medicaid	#Medicaid	#Children	#Adult	#Dual Eligible	Dual Eligibles as % of Medicaid recipients	
Cayuga	10.8	18.0	17,109	6,060	11,049	3,005	17.6%	
Lewis	10.8	17.3	5,574	1,967	3,607	1,091	19.6%	
Madison	8.5	14.3	15,291	5,296	9,995	2,713	17.7%	
Oneida	7.7	21.9	66,647	23,534	43,113	11,986	18.0%	
Onondaga	8.7	17.0	106,388	39,078	67,310	16,271	15.3%	
Oswego	8.3	22.5	32,625	11,753	20,872	4,520	13.9%	
CNYCC Region	8.7	18.6	243,634	87,688	155,946	35,586	14.6%	
Upstate NY	9.1	14.9	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	
NY State	11.3	20.9	5,835,794	1,979,039	3,856,755	853,866	14.6%	
n/a = data poi	n/a = data point not available							

Table 3: Insurance and Medicaid Status by County and the CNYCC Service Area

Children represent approximately one-third of the Medicaid recipients throughout the region with little variation across the counties. This is consistent with the statewide experience. However, the percent of Medicaid recipients who are dually eligible exceeds the state percent in all of the counties in CNY, with the highest percent in Lewis (19.6%).

The dually eligible population is split between seniors on Medicare who have long term care support through Medicaid and persons with developmental and other disabilities. As discussed below the latter group experiences significant difficulties in accessing care due to inadequate capacity and the lack of community-based transportation services.

#### **Other at Risk Populations**

#### Persons Experiencing Homelessness

Key informants report that homelessness is a serious issue in many of the counties. Aside from the urban areas there are few housing options available for very low-income people. Many of the counties lack any transitional housing or homeless shelters. Persons who are homeless utilize the EDs for shelter, food, showers and clean clothes – particularly as the temperatures drop. In the broad rural tracts of the region's counties people have very little opportunity to find affordable housing. In the more urbanized areas persons experiencing homelessness are often those discharged from in-patient hospital and



behavioral health care facilities. The increasing epidemic of heroin and opiates addiction is exacerbating the problem.

#### Persons without Personal Transportation

In listening sessions and focus groups with consumers, transportation was noted as a significant barrier to care. The only sources of public transportation are found in the larger more urbanized areas, those same places where the majority of resources are located. Many of the counties in the region have large rural areas with no transportation resources. Even those with cars often have to travel hours to get to health care, and even longer for behavioral and oral health care services. People often hold off on going for care until conditions worsen and end up in EDs or in-patient care with complex problems. People on Medicaid without cars experience difficulty in accessing care because of the paucity of options available to them. While most of the urbanized areas have some type of Medicaid transportation service (vans, private taxis) the wait is often extensive and the length of time frame pick-up to drop-off can be hours. Some of the programs require 3-day prior notification of appointments and there are limits on how far they will transport people.

#### Health Status and Service Utilization

At the core of the DSRIP CNA process is an understanding of the leading causes of death and illness, the leading causes of inappropriate utilization, and the extent that the population participates in the risky behaviors that are often the root cause of illness and death. This information is critical to assessing health status and risk factors, clarifying health-related disparities, and understanding the nature of inappropriate utilization. The assessment captured a wide range of quantitative data primarily from State sources but also from certain Federal and local sources as well.

#### Leading causes of death and premature death

Cardiovascular disease (heart disease), cancer, respiratory disease, and cerebrovascular disease (stroke) are the four leading causes of death in the United States, New York, and Central New York, regardless of age and race/ethnicity. Combined these diseases account for the vast majority of all deaths across all geographies. Unintentional injuries, pneumonia, and diabetes are also ranked highly in all geographies. If one takes race/ethnicity into consideration, the distribution of premature deaths is slightly different. Heart disease and cancer are still the leading causes of death for Black, non-Hispanic populations and Hispanics. However, in the Black, non-Hispanic population, deaths from diabetes are the third largest killer followed by deaths due to stroke and pneumonia. Among Hispanics, unintentional injuries are the third leading cause of death followed by pneumonia and diabetes. For Black, non-Hispanic and Hispanic populations respiratory disease is not in the top five leading causes of death. In short, Black, non-Hispanic and Hispanic and Hispanic populations are more likely to die of diabetes and pneumonia than White, non-Hispanic populations.



With respect to DSRIP, the more relevant variable is premature death<sup>3</sup>, given that the initiative is targeting Medicaid insured and uninsured populations that generally do not include most older adults. Assessing premature death, rather than overall mortality, supports the underlying intention of DSRIP, refocusing attention on the morbidity and mortality that can be prevented. This should ultimately contribute to reducing inappropriate hospital utilization.

The leading causes of premature death are similar to those of mortality overall but there are important differences. The first and second leading causes of premature death in New York State, Upstate New York, and Central New York are cancer and heart disease. Unintentional injuries, respiratory disease, and diabetes are ranked 3<sup>rd</sup>, 4<sup>th</sup>, and 5<sup>th</sup> respectively and each have a considerable impact on the premature death rate overall. On a county basis, there is some variation across the region. Cancer is the leading cause of premature death followed by heart disease in all counties. With respect to the 3<sup>rd</sup>, 4<sup>th</sup>, and 5<sup>th</sup> leading causes of death across the counties there is even more variation but unintentional injuries, respiratory disease, diabetes, and suicide are the leading causes. It should also be noted that except in a few isolated cases the rates of all these conditions across all of the counties that are part of the CNYCC service area are higher than the upstate New York rate overall. This means that children and young adults are more likely to die prematurely in the Central New York region than children and young adults in the Upstate New York region overall.

	Cause 1	Cause 2	Cause 3	Cause 4	Cause 5	
Cayuga	Cancer	Heart Disease	Unintentional Injury	Chronic Lower	Diabetes	
				Respiratory Disease		
					Chronic Lower	
Lewis	Cancer	Heart Disease	Unintentional Injury	Suicide	Respiratory	
					Disease	
Madican	Cancor	Hoart Discaso	Unintentional Injuny	Chronic Lower	Suicido	
IVIAUISOIT	Caller	Heart Disease	Ommentional injury	Respiratory Disease	Suicide	
Oneide	Cancar	Lleart Disease	Chronic Lower	Unintentional Injuny	Stroke	
Offelua	Cancer	Heart Disease	Respiratory Disease	Ommentional mjury		
Opendaga			Unintentional Inium	Chronic Lower	Stroko	
Ununuaga	Caller	Heart Disease	Ommentional injury	Respiratory Disease	SUORE	
Ochucaco	Cancor	Heart Disease	Unintentional Injuny	Chronic Lower	Suicido	
Oswego	Cancer	neart Disease	Ommentional mjury	Respiratory Disease	Suicide	
CNYCC	Cancor	Hoart Discass	Unintentional Injuny	Chronic Lower	Stroko	
Service Area	Caller	neart Disease	ommentional mjury	Respiratory Disease	SUOKE	
	Heart Disease	Unintentional	Chronic Lower	Diabatas	Cancor	
Opsiale NY	neart Disease	Injury	Respiratory Disease	Diabeles	Cancer	

Table 4	. Leading	Causes of	Premature	Death.	by County
				,	~, ~~~,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Premature deaths are deaths are deaths that occur before a person reaches an expected age, for instance, age 75, many of these deaths are considered to be preventable



Table 4 above provides the county-specific data for the counties that are part of the CNYCC service area, along with CNYCC regional and Upstate comparison data.

This data highlights the dramatic impact that chronic disease (e.g., heart disease, respiratory disease, and diabetes) have on the population. Perhaps even more importantly, given that these conditions are largely preventable, the data underscores the importance of education related to behavioral risk factors (e.g., tobacco use, lack of physical exercise, risky drinking/alcohol abuse, poor nutrition, and obesity/overweightness), primary care engagement, and evidence-based chronic disease management (e.g., diabetes, asthma, and depression). , which are widely considered to be preventable or manageable conditions by focusing on reducing behavioral risk factors (tobacco use, lack of physical exercise, risky drinking/alcohol abuse, poor nutrition, and obesity/overweightness) and appropriate chronic disease care management. It also highlights the tremendous impact of cancer and other complex chronic conditions, in light of the high rates of where premature death and the associated rates of inappropriate utilization that can be lessened with early detection, evidenced based treatment and palliative care.

#### Leading causes of illness

To determine the leading causes of illness, the CNA reviewed data on disease prevalence, primarily drawn from the Center for Disease Control and Prevention's (CDC) Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) and New York State's Expanded BRFSS, as well as well as hospital utilization data provide through New York State's Statewide Planning and Research Cooperative System (SPARCS) dataset . Once again, this data highlighted the tremendous impact of chronic medical conditions but also drew into clear relief the overwhelming impact that behavioral health (mental health and substance abuse) conditions have on the population, particularly the Medicaid population.

County	% of Adults	% of Adults	% of Adults	% of Adults with	% of Adults with	% of Adults Poor
	with	with	with Heart	High Blood	Heavy Drinking	Mental Health in
	Diabetes	Asthma	Disease	Pressure	in Past Month	Past Month
Cayuga	9.5	12.7	7.6	28.0	7.6	14.8
Lewis	10.4	8.9	8.8	27.9	5.3	8.9
Madison	7.4	13.8	9.1	26.9	6.7	8.8
Oneida	8.8	11.0	5.7	27.6	11.3	13.0
Onondaga	7.6	11.8	7.0	26.1	7.5	12.0
Oswego	9.9	12.1	8.3	28.4	7.6	12.7
NY State	9.0	9.7	7.6	25.7	5.0	10.2

Table 5. Disease Pi	revalence (Expanded	BRFSS, 2009)
---------------------	---------------------	--------------

Notes and data sources:

Diabetes: 2009, BRFSS County-Specific Prevention Agenda Reports

Asthma: 2009, age-adjusted rate, Expanded BRFSS July 2008 - June 2009

Hypertension: 2009, age-adjusted rate, Expanded BRFSS July 2008 - June 2009

Heart Disease: 2009, age-adjusted rate, Expanded BRFSS July 2008 - June 2009

Adults with Heavy Drinking in Past Month: 2009, age-adjusted rate, County-Specific Report - Expanded BRFSS July 2008 - June 2009 Adults with Poor Mental Health in Past Month: 2009, BRFSS County-Specific Prevention Agenda Reports



A review of data drawn from New York State's Expanded BRFSS, shows that the rates of the leading chronic medical conditions are all generally higher throughout the region. This is particularly true in Oswego, which had higher rates for these medical conditions than the State across all four leading measures. Cayuga, Lewis, and Madison Counties had higher rates for three of the four leading chronic medical conditions than the State. The State's Expanded BRFSS data also shows the impact that behavioral health conditions such as poor mental health and alcohol abuse have on the population. The county rates for these conditions are also considerably higher than the State and Upstate averages. In these cases, the rates are particularly high in Cayuga, Oneida, Onondaga, and Oswego.

With respect to hospital utilization, the assessment analyzed data drawn from the New York State DOH's Medicaid Beneficiary Chronic Health Conditions, Inpatient and Emergency Room Utilization data set, which reviews hospital inpatient and emergency department utilization specifically for the low income, Medicaid insured population. This dataset was provided by DOH to guide DSRIP planning and analyzes the chronic and episodic conditions that are thought to be most significant drivers of hospital use. This methodology categorizes patients into specific critical risk groups (CRGs) and is thought to reduce bias related to how providers code patient conditions by diagnosis. A review of hospitalization data from this dataset strongly corroborates findings from the analysis of Expanded BRFSS data, reinforcing the dramatic impact of chronic medical and behavioral health conditions.

According to the Medicaid Beneficiary Chronic Health Conditions, Inpatient and Emergency Room Utilization data set, in the CNYCC service area overall the two underlying conditions that were at the root of most inpatient hospital admissions for those insured by Medicaid were hypertension and depression. In 2012, 30,413 Medicaid beneficiaries in CNYCC's service area were categorized in the depression CRG and 30,885 beneficiaries were categorized in the hypertension CRG. Of those categorized with depression, 9,367 had been admitted to the hospital at least once and these beneficiaries accounted for a total of 18,650 admissions. Of those categorized in the hypertension CRG, 8,883 had been admitted to the hospital at least once and accounted for 15,827 admissions. The remaining leading causes of admission were a mix of chronic medical and behavioral conditions. The following is a list of the top 20 CRG conditions that accounted for the most hospital inpatient admissions for the Medicaid beneficiaries in CNYCC's service area, ranked in order of total admissions.

A review of the data on leading CRG conditions by hospital admissions, brings into clear relief the dramatic impact of chronic medical and behavioral health conditions. Particularly striking is the impact that behavioral health (mental health and substance abuse) has on the Medicaid insured population. While chronic medical conditions certainly take their toll (e.g., hypertension, diabetes, asthma, COPD, etc.) a majority of Medicaid beneficiaries with a hospital admission are categorized in behavioral health related CRGs (e.g., depression, drug abuse, chronic stress/anxiety, chronic alcohol abuse, schizophrenia, and other chronic mental health diagnoses, etc.). Specifically, a review of 2012 data for the Medicaid beneficiaries in the CNYCC service area that were categorized in the top 20 chronic conditions, shows that there were 88,967 beneficiaries categorized in various chronic behavioral health-related CRGs. Of these beneficiaries, 20,459 had at least one inpatient admission and in total these beneficiaries accounted for 63,834 admissions. There were nearly identical numbers for those with chronic medical



conditions. In 2012, there were 83,329 beneficiaries categorized in various chronic medical health related CRGs. Of these beneficiaries, 30,799 had at least one inpatient admission and in total these beneficiaries accounted for 57,458 admissions. Similar data for each county in the CNYCC can be viewed in Appendix A, Selected Combined Data Tables.

Rank	Condition	Beneficiaries in Service Area with Condition	Unique Beneficiaries in Area Admitted with Condition	Total Admissions in Area with Condition
1	Depression	30,413	9,367	18,650
2	Hypertension	30,885	8,883	15,827
3	Drug Abuse	11,943	6,476	14,999
4	Diabetes	15,732	5,399	10,045
5	Asthma	14,517	3,627	6,860
6	Chronic Stress and Anxiety Diagnoses	12,282	2,957	5,979
7	Schizophrenia	9,435	2,616	5,450
8	Chronic Alcohol Abuse	4,683	2,479	5,447
9	COPD and Major Other Chronic Pulmonary Diagnoses	5,629	2,851	5,296
10	Chronic Mental Health Diagnoses	5,509	2,020	5,070
11	Cardiomyopathy, Congestive Heart Failure, Other Cardiovascular Diagnoses	3,722	2,390	4,713
12	Atrial Fibrillation, Cardiac Dysrhythmia, and Conduction Disorders	3,528	2,171	4,492
13	Bi-Polar Disorder	4,056	1,619	3,770
14	Chronic Bronchitis and other Chronic Pulmonary Diagnoses	3,443	1,741	3,659
15	Coronary Atherosclerosis	3,379	2,171	3,437
16	Post Traumatic Stress Disorder	2,102	722	1,753
17	Angina and Ischemic Heart Disease	1,555	828	1,680
18	History of Myocardial Infarction	939	738	1,449
19	Conduct, Impulse Control, and Other Disruptive Behavior Disorders	2,307	554	1,392
20	Attention Deficit / Hyperactivity Disorder	6,237	649	1,324
Data Sou pje4/files	rce: https://health.data.ny.gov/api/views/m2wt- s/W8jjVDb7hRW8ThuXcnMEd0tn0NCVQPhIFziBWsqhew	v8?download=true&filenan	ne=NYSDOH_MedicaidPopulation	overview.pdf

# Table 6: Leading Causes of Hospital Admissions for Medicaid Beneficiaries in 2012 (across all counties in the CNYCC service area)

Specifically, a review of 2012 data for the Medicaid beneficiaries in the CNYCC service area that were categorized in the top 20 chronic conditions, shows that there were 88,967 beneficiaries categorized in various chronic behavioral health-related CRGs. Of these beneficiaries, 20,459 had at least one inpatient admission and in total these beneficiaries accounted for 63,834 admissions. There were nearly identical



numbers for those with chronic medical conditions. In 2012, there were 83,329 beneficiaries categorized in various chronic medical health related CRGs. Of these beneficiaries, 30,799 had at least one inpatient admission and in total these beneficiaries accounted for 57,458 admissions. Similar data for each county in the CNYCC can be viewed in Appendix A, Selected Combined Data Tables.

A review of hospital emergency department data led to similar conclusions. Once again, in the CNYCC service area overall, depression and hypertension were the underlying conditions that were at the root of most emergency department visits for those insured by Medicaid. In 2012, 14,867 unique Medicaid beneficiaries in the CNYCC service area were seen in a hospital emergency department with conditions that were categorized in the depression CRG. These beneficiaries accounted for a total of 51,432 emergency department visits. Once again, hypertension was the second leading factor. In this case 11,974 Medicaid beneficiaries were categorized in the hypertension CRG and these beneficiaries accounted for a total of 36,279 emergency department visits. Once again, the remaining leading causes of emergency department utilization were a mix of chronic medical and behavioral conditions but there were substantially more beneficiaries in behavioral health-related CRGs than in chronic medical CRGs.



		Beneficiaries in	Unique Beneficiaries in	Total ER Visits			
Rank	Condition	Service Area with	Area with ER Visit with	in Area with			
		Condition	Condition	Condition			
1	Depression	30,413	14,867	51,432			
2	Hypertension	30,885	11,974	36,279			
3	Drug Abuse	11,943	7,461	33,557			
4	Asthma	14,517	7,350	23,522			
5	Chronic Stress and Anxiety Diagnoses	12,282	5,745	21,365			
6	Diabetes	15,732	6,301	20,240			
7	Schizophrenia	9,435	4,676	16,676			
8	Chronic Mental Health Diagnoses	5,509	2,762	12,481			
9	Chronic Alcohol Abuse	4,683	2,766	11,181			
10	Bi-Polar Disorder	4,056	2,392	10,659			
11	COPD and Major Other Chronic Pulmonary	5,629	2,398	9,012			
	Diagnoses						
12	Atrial Fibrillation, Cardiac Dysrhythmia, and	3,528	1,652	7,371			
	Conduction Disorders						
13	Chronic Bronchitis and other Chronic	3,443	1,788	6,960			
	Pulmonary Diagnoses						
14	Attention Deficit / Hyperactivity Disorder	6,237	2,261	5,522			
15	Post Traumatic Stress Disorder	2,102	1,269	5,459			
16	Cardiomyopathy, Congestive Heart Failure	3,722	1,522	5,408			
	and Other Cardiovascular Major Diagnoses						
17	Coronary Atherosclerosis	3,746	1,451	5,043			
18	Conduct, Impulse Control, and Other	2,307	1,137	3,681			
	Disruptive Behavior Disorders						
19	Angina and Ischemic Heart Disease	1,555	735	2,856			
20	History of Myocardial Infarction	939	478	2,361			
Data Sou	rce: https://health.data.ny.gov/api/views/m2wt-	1		1			
pje4/files/W8jjVDb7hRW8ThuXcnMEd0tn0NCVQPhIFziBWsqhew8?download=true&filename=NYSDOH_MedicaidPopulation_overview.pdf							

#### Table 7: Leading Causes of Emergency Room Visits for Medicaid Beneficiaries in 2012 (across all counties in the CNYCC service area)

Once again, the remaining leading causes of emergency department utilization were a mix of chronic medical and behavioral conditions but there were substantially more beneficiaries in behavioral health-related CRGs than in chronic medical CRGs.

If one looks at the Medicaid beneficiaries in the CNYCC service area that were categorized in the top 20 chronic conditions, the analysis shows that there were 45,336 beneficiaries categorized in a behavioral health-related CRG that had at least one emergency department visit and in total these beneficiaries accounted for 172,013 visits. There were substantially fewer numbers of beneficiaries seen in hospital emergency departments with chronic medical conditions. Specifically, there were 35,649 beneficiaries categorized in chronic medical condition CRGs that had at least one emergency department visit and these beneficiaries accounted for a total of 119,052 visits.



#### **Chronic Health Conditions**

As mentioned above, cardiovascular disease (heart disease), cancer, respiratory disease, and stroke are the four leading causes of death in the United States, New York State, and Central New York region. In addition, diabetes is ranked in the top 10 across all three of these geographic areas. Mental health issues, discussed in more detail below, are chronic conditions for many and are often coupled with other medical conditions. All of these conditions, individually and collectively, have a major impact on people living in the region. Arguably they represent the most critical health issues for the region. All of these chronic conditions share the health risk factors cited above (tobacco use, lack of physical exercise, poor nutrition, obesity/overweightness, risky drinking/alcohol abuse) as leading factors.

Once again, there are major health disparities across all of these conditions among racial/ethnic minority groups. Rates of illness and death vary by condition, but overall non-Hispanic, White populations are less likely to have chronic health conditions than their racial/ethnic counterparts. Those in more rural areas with more limited ambulatory care networks and more significant barriers to care are also at-risk. This puts a disproportionate burden on rural communities and communities with high proportions of racial/ethnic minority population segments, which leaves few areas in the region entirely untouched but particularly impacts the Cities of Syracuse and Utica as well as the counties of Herkimer, Lewis, Oneida overall, and St. Lawrence. (Refer to Table 5 for prevalence of chronic conditions)

#### Behavioral risk factors such as obesity, smoking, drinking, and physical inactivity

There is a growing appreciation for the effects that certain health risk factors, such as obesity, lack of physical exercise, poor nutrition, tobacco use, and risky drinking/alcohol abuse have on health status and the burden of chronic disease. Over the past two decades, obesity rates in the United States have doubled for adults and tripled for children. These trends have spanned all segments of the population, regardless of age, sex, race, ethnicity, education, income, or geographic region. There are certainly segments that have struggled more than others but no segment has been unaffected. According to data from the NYS DOH's Expanded BRFSS, nearly 60% of Upstate New York's adults (18+) are either obese or overweight. While comprehensive data is not readily available, national data would suggest that specific demographic, socio-economic and geographic population segments living in the area have rates that are even higher.

Lack of physical fitness and poor nutrition are the leading factors associated with obesity and the leading risk factors associated with chronic diseases, such as heart disease, hypertension, diabetes, cancer, depression, and anxiety. Good nutrition helps prevent disease, and is essential for healthy growth and development of children and adolescents. Overall fitness and the extent to which people are physically active reduce the risk for many chronic diseases, are linked to good emotional health, and help to prevent disease. Once again, according to NYS DOH's Expanded BRFSS, only one in four adults (18+) (26%) ate the recommended five servings of fruits and vegetables per day, and roughly the same percentage (25%) reported getting no physical activity in the past 30 days.

Tobacco use is the single most preventable cause of death and disease in the United States, New York State, and the Central New York region. Each year, approximately 443,000 Americans in the United States die from tobacco-related illnesses. For every person who dies from tobacco use, 20 more people



suffer with at least one serious tobacco-related illness, such as chronic airway obstruction, heart disease, stroke, or cancer.<sup>4</sup> According to New York's Expanded BRFSS data, approximately 20% of Upstate New York's residents are current tobacco smokers.

Risky drinking or alcohol abuse is also strongly correlated with chronic medical and mental health issues. Alcohol abuse raises the risk of developing chronic illnesses and increases the severity level once the illnesses emerge. In Upstate New York approximately 19.8% or 1 out of every 5 adults reported binge drinking on a regular basis, as defined by having more than 5 drinks for men and more than 4 drinks for women at any one occasion. This rate is slightly higher than the New York State rate overall, which was estimated at 18.1%.

When looking across all of these health risk factors (obesity, lack of physical exercise, poor nutrition, and tobacco use), the quantitative data compiled for this assessment confirms the trends seen nationally; African Americans/Blacks and Hispanics/Latinos are more at-risk and fair worse than their non-Hispanic, White counterparts. Given the demographic distribution of the population by race/ethnicity, this means that the populations living in Syracuse and Utica are particularly at-risk with respect to these health risk factors. Qualitative information from the assessment interviews and focus groups corroborated these findings and nearly all discussion participants cited obesity, poor nutrition, lack of physical exercise, and alcohol abuse as leading health issues.

A review of county specific data shows that the rates for these health risk factors are comparable across the counties that are part of the CNYCC. However, most often the individual county rates are slightly higher than the Upstate New York rates.

County data along with the Upstate New York comparison data for these measures are included below in Table 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> <u>http://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topicsobjectives2020/overview.aspx?topicid=41#five</u>



#### Table 8: Population Health Indicators and Major Health Risk Factors

Major Health Risk Factors	Cayuga	Lewis	Madison	Oneida	Onondaga	Oswego	Upstate New York
Maternal and Infant Health**		•		•			
Births with late or no prenatal care (%)	3.1	5.8	3.6	4.4	3.5	4.0	3.9
Exclusive breastfeeding (%)	60.8	64.8	69.0	48.9	55.4	54.7	48.1
Cesarean section delivery (%)	31.8	33.7	32.5	37.3	32.2	32.3	35.8
Infant mortality (per 1,000 live births)	6.2	5.9	4.3	4.8	5.5	5.9	5.6
Preterm births (%)	9.6	10	10.9	12.2	10.7	9.6	11.0
Low birth weight births (%)	7.3	5.1	6.0	8.1	8.1	7.1	7.8
Tobacco, Alcohol, and Substance Use							
Adults who are current smokers (%)*	22.9	19.3	25.4	25.1	20.0	24.7	
Adults with heavy drinking in the past month (Age-adjusted, %)*	23.3	22.7	19.9	21.3	18.7	22.5	19.8
Alcohol related motor vehicle injuries and deaths (per 100,000)**	46.4	40.6	35.4	42.3	37.3	42.5	45.3
Drug-related hospitalizations (Age-adjusted, per 10,000)**	11.8	11.6	11.3	14.1	21.2	14.4	21.3
Mental Health			•		•		
Percent of adults with poor mental health for 14 or more days in past month*	14.8	8.9	8.8	13.0	12.0	12.7	10.9
Obesity and Related Indicators					I		
Percent of children and adolescents (students) who are overweight or obese(%)***	38.0	37.8	37.5	36.5	32.1	41.4	
Adults who are obese (%)*	27.6	27.8	26.2	25.7	21.1	32.0	24.3
Adults who are overweight or obese (%)*	63.6	66.5	59.3	56.5	55.5	67.9	NA
Adults with diabetes (%)*	9.5	10.4	7.4	8.8	7.6	9.9	8.5
Adults consuming 5 fruits or vegetables per day (Age-adjusted %)*	27.0	20.2	22.6	26.0	33.7	27.1	27.7
Adults with no leisure-time physical activity (Age-adjusted, %)*	22.9	24.1	22.9	24.6	20.3	23.0	21.1
Safety							
Age-adjusted rate of motor-vehicle mortalities per 100,000**	11.4	8.9	8.9	8.2	7.0	14.4	8.2
Data sources: *BRFSS 2009, **CHAI 2011, *** CHAI 2012 Note: Other variables are available in complete data set.							

#### Behavioral health issues (mental illness and substance abuse)

Mental illness and substance abuse have a profound impact on the health of people living throughout the United States. Data from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention suggests that approximately one in four (25%) adults in the United States has a mental health disorder and an estimated 22 million Americans struggle with drug or alcohol problems. Depression, anxiety, and alcohol abuse are directly associated with chronic disease, and a high proportion of those living with these issues also have a chronic medical condition. As mentioned above, 19.8% of adults in the Upstate New York region reported binge drinking on a regular basis. This rate is slightly higher than the New York State rate overall, which was estimated at 18.1%. With respect to mental illness, approximately 11% of the population reported being in poor mental health 15 or more days in the past month. On a county basis for the counties that are part of the CNYCC service area the prevalence rates for adults with mental illness and substance abuse issues are comparable to the Upstate New York rate across all counties but a number of the counties have higher rates. All informants interviewed cited an increasing epidemic of heroin and opiates addiction throughout the CNY region. This puts a huge burden on the already strained substance abuse services system and contributes to unnecessary ED visits and inpatient hospitalizations. As discussed below in the social determinants section, homelessness and lack of a continuum of supportive housing compounds the problem as many of the people who are addicted end up on the streets, in the ED for shelter and food, admitted for short-term treatment and then back on the streets. CNYCC partners cited a lack of detox facilities throughout the region.

County data along with the Upstate New York comparison data for these measures are included above in Table 8.

#### Maternal and child health outcomes

Maternal and child issues are of critical importance to the overall health and well-being of healthy, vibrant community. Infant mortality, childhood immunization, rates of teen pregnancy, rates of low birth weight, and rates of early, appropriate prenatal care for pregnant women are among the most critical indicators of maternal and child health.

The indicators with respect to the leading maternal and child health issues (e.g., infant mortality, prenatal care, adolescent births, and low birth weight) are generally better off throughout the CNYCC service area with the exception of Oneida and Cayuga Counties. Data also shows the disparities that exist for African Americans/Blacks and Hispanics/Latinos. The infant death rate for these populations is nearly twice the rate of non-Hispanic, Whites. This data however does not reflect the difficulties that many of the residents face in accessing care. Prenatal care services are located mainly in the population centers. Several "outpost" clinics in the far rural areas have closed due to finances and there are few private providers in these areas. The State PCAP (Prenatal Care Assistance Program) provides support to fill the gaps in Medicaid coverage, however, some of the county prenatal clinics that were a part of the program have closed. These clinics are particularly important for teens who are pregnant.

#### HIV and other sexually transmitted infection indicators

Increases in life expectancy during the 20th and 21st centuries are largely due to reductions in infectious disease mortality, as a result of immunization. However, infectious diseases remain a major cause of



illness, disability, and even death. Sexually transmitted diseases and pneumonia are among the infectious diseases that have the greatest impact on the population. The assessment captured data on a number of sexually transmitted diseases chlamydia, gonorrhea, syphilis, and HIV/AIDS as well as Hepatitis B and C, and pneumonia/influenza.

HIV/AIDS and other sexually transmitted diseases are a major community health issue for large numbers of residents. This is particularly true in Syracuse and Utica, which have the highest rates. With respect to HIV/AIDS the rates are consistently lower throughout the region, even in Syracuse and Onondaga County. In Onondaga County there are relatively high numbers of people living with HIV/AIDS but the prevalence and incidence rates are lower.

Great strides have been made with respect to HIV/AIDS, and for most it is considered to be more of a chronic condition that can be managed with medications than a terminal condition. Rates of illness, death, and HIV transmission have declined dramatically over the past decade. However, HIV/AIDS still has a major impact on certain segments of the population including intravenous drug users and the lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender (LGBT) community.

Chlamydia, gonorrhea, and syphilis are the most common sexually transmitted diseases although the rates across the region are generally lower. The exception to this is Onondaga whose rates are nearly twice the Upstate New York average. It is important to note trends and variation across the counties in CNY. Pneumonia is also one of the leading causes of death, particularly for frail older adults, and one of the leading causes of hospital readmission overall, although not for the Medicaid population.

#### Access to health care and preventive services

The extent to which a person has insurance that helps to pay for medical services as well as access to a full continuum of high quality, timely, accessible health care services has shown to be critical to overall health and well-being. Access to a usual source of primary care is particularly important as it greatly impacts one's ability to receive regular preventive, routine, and urgent care, as well as chronic disease management services for those in need. Nationally, low income, racial ethnic minority populations are less likely to have a usual source of primary care, less likely to have a routine check-up, and less likely to be screened for illnesses, such as breast cancer, prostate cancer, or colon cancer. Data also suggests that low income, racial/ethnic minority populations are more likely to use hospital emergency department and inpatient services for care that could be avoided or prevented altogether with better more accessible primary care services.

Central New York's healthcare system and the health and community resources that are available to Medicaid insured and uninsured residents will be discussed in greater depth below. However, overall the system is somewhat fragmented and there are significant shortages and barriers to care that limit access for large portions of the region. This is particularly true outside of Syracuse and Central New York's other smaller population centers. The region's health care system is anchored in Syracuse, which provides access to world-class services. Despite this resource, data collected for this assessment shows that large segments of the population in the region, particularly low income and racial/ethnic minority populations, face significant barriers to care and struggle to access services due to lack of insurance,



cost, transportation, cultural/linguistic barriers, and shortages of providers willing to serve Medicaid insured or low income, uninsured patients.

In general, data from New York's Expanded BRFSS shows that residents in the CNYCC's service are just as likely, if not more likely than the New York State and Upstate New York populations overall to receive preventive services such as pap tests, mammograms, or colonoscopies. These data also suggest that the population is nearly as likely to report that they have a regular primary care provider. However, other data would suggest that many are not necessarily accessing care on regular, periodic basis or using a high quality, primary care medical home (PCMH) that can fully coordinate the services they receive as that usual source of care.

County	Adults with health insurance (%)	Adults with regular health care providers (%)	Adults with dental visits in past year (%)	Women aged 40 and older who had mammograms in the past two years (%)	Women who had pap tests in the past three years (%)	Adults aged 50 and older who ever had sigmoidoscopies or colonoscopies (%)	Adults age 65 and older who had flu shots in the past year (%)	Adults age 65 and older who ever had pneumonia vaccinations (%)			
Cayuga	89.7	88.9	71.7	78.7	83.0	71.3	76.7	70.1			
Lewis	83.4	83.1	67.8	77.7	78.9	50.1	75.3	70.0			
Madison	86.1	89.2	69.0	84.9	82.1	71.3	73.9	77.7			
Oneida	90.1	86.1	71.9	80.7	77.4	68.2	69.3	65.3			
Onondaga	91.0	85.9	73.9	87.5	89.4	73.2	82.4	83.0			
Oswego	86.2	82.0	66.4	79.1	82.0	65.3	67.4	69.8			
NY State	89.9	87.1	72.7	81.9	82.6	68.4	76.0	71.2			
Data source: BRFSS County-Specific Prevention Agenda Highlights 2009 Note: Other variables are available in complete data set.											

#### Table 9. Access to Health Care and Service Utilization

The percentage of the population that had a pap test in the past three years ranges from 89.4% in Onondaga County to only 77% in Oneida, with everyone else falling somewhere in between. The percentage of adults 50+ who have had sigmoidoscopy or colonoscopy varies across the region. Once again, residents of Onondaga have the highest rates but those in more rural areas do not fair as well. With respect to colon cancer screening, 73.2% of the Onondaga population had a colonoscopy or sigmoidoscopy in the appropriate interval. Lewis, Oneida, and Oswego had the lowest percentages.

#### Rates of ambulatory care sensitive conditions and the leading causes of preventable hospitalizations

Some of the most striking findings from the assessment are related to rates of inappropriate hospital inpatient and emergency department utilization, which are dramatically higher across most counties in the CNY region, particularly for adults. To assess inappropriate hospital inpatient and emergency department utilization, the New York DOH provided data to DSRIP CNYCCs on an extensive series of



Prevention Quality Indicators (PQIs)<sup>5</sup>, Pediatric Quality Indicators (PDIs)<sup>6</sup>, and Potentially Preventable Visits (PPVs).<sup>7</sup> These allow one to identify when a patient is being admitted to the hospital inpatient setting or the hospital emergency department setting for a condition that likely could have been prevented or avoided with more timely, higher quality primary care services. With respect to PQIs there are 14 specific conditions (e.g., diabetes, hypertension, asthma, heart failure, etc.) that each have indicators that allows one to identify the extent to which these conditions are being well managed for adults in the primary care setting. There are also three composite PQI measures (i.e., acute, chronic, and diabetes) that group multiple PQIs together in ways that allow one to assess the overall strength of the primary care system and its ability to manage chronic and acute illness. Similarly, there are series of roughly 20 PDIs, along with a series of



composite measures that serve the same function for

Figure 4. Overall PQI Composite Score Map

children. Finally, with respect to inappropriate emergency department utilization the DOH provided PPV data, which is an aggregated analysis of a series of conditions that could be reduced or eliminated with adequate primary care services, patient monitoring and follow up. See map above for geographic

variation in performance on the PQI composite indicator.

A review of the region's PQI data shows four of the six counties have higher rates of PQI conditions than the New York State average. Further the rates are disproportionately higher in the more rural areas, although there are relatively high rates in pockets throughout the region.



Figure 5. Overall Composite PQI by County

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> http://www.qualityindicators.ahrq.gov/modules/pqi\_overview.aspx

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> http://www.qualityindicators.ahrq.gov/Modules/pdi\_resources.aspx

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> http://www.healthdata.gov/data/dataset/all-payer-potentially-preventable-emergency-visit-ppv-rates-patient-zip-code-sparcs

Interestingly, a review of the region's PDI data does not lead to the same conclusions. With respect to the PDIs, the rates at the countylevel are lower than the New York State average in all six counties. This would suggest that primary care providers do a better a better job at managing children than family practice physicians, general practitioners, and internists do at



managing adults. This is not a finding that was corroborated through our

Figure 6. Overall Composite Pediatric Quality Indicator by County

key informant interviews. Further investigation is required to tease out why this data is so different.

Finally, a review of the region's PPV and other emergency department utilization data shows a dramatic overutilization of the emergency department particular in the more rural areas. The map below left highlights areas in red with the highest quartile of potentially preventable hospital emergency department visits. The map below right highlights in yellow, areas where more than 30% of Medicaid members have had an emergency room visit in the County.






# **B. Identification of Main Health and Health Service Challenges**

An understanding of community need and health status in the CNYCC Service Area begins with knowledge of the population's characteristics as well as the underlying social, economic, and environmental challenges and assets that impact health. This information is critical to: 1) understanding disease burden, health disparities and health inequities; 2) identifying target populations and health-related priorities; and 3) targeting strategic responses. This assessment captured a wide range of quantitative and qualitative data related to age, gender, sexual orientation, race/ethnicity, income, poverty, family composition, education, violence, crime, unemployment, access to food and recreational facilities, and other determinants of health. These data provide valuable information that allows characterization of the population as well as provides insight into the leading determinants of health and health inequities.

Although DSRIP's ultimate desired outcome is to reduce readmissions by 25% for the Medicaid and uninsured populations, there is the recognition that health utilization and health status are embedded in a broad environmental context. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's (CDC)s *Health Impact Pyramid*, shown below illustrates this concept. Although clinical interventions and counseling and education do have an impact on health status, socioeconomic factors, such as housing, poverty, and education, and environmental factors have the greater impact on health status. This section notes the interrelatedness across behavioral, socioeconomic, and environmental risk factors and describes some of these larger determinants of health for the CNYCC region. In that behavioral risk factors (such as smoking, drinking, and physical activity) and socioeconomic factors (such as poverty levels, educational attainment, and employment status) have been discussed in previous sections of this report, this section provides more detail related to environmental risk factors.



#### Figure 9. Health Impact Pyramid Diagram



## Interrelatedness of Behavioral, Socioeconomic, and Environmental Risk Factors

Behavioral, socioeconomic, and environmental risk factors are intertwined, each affecting the other and all influencing access and utilization of health services as well as overall health status. Behavioral risk factors refer to an individual's choices to act in a particular manner. Research conducted using New York State vital statistics showed that nearly half (47%) of all 2012 deaths were attributed to 8 modifiable behaviors: smoking, poor diet and physical activity, alcohol consumption, microbial agents, toxic agents, motor vehicle crashes, incidents involving firearms, and unsafe sexual behavior<sup>8</sup>. Of these 8, smoking, poor diet, and physical activity constitute 73% of deaths attributed to modifiable behaviors. Additionally, as noted in this same source, these same behaviors significantly contribute to emergency department and inpatient use, primarily manifested in the high rates of chronic disease as described previously.

Bringing this to the level of the CNYCC, compared to Upstate NY, all six counties have disproportionally higher percentages of adults who are current smokers (18.9% in Upstate NY compared to a range of 19.3% in Lewis to 25.4% in Madison). The CNYCC service area population also did not fare well on metrics related to diet and exercise. With the exception of Onondaga County, all other counties showed greater rates of adults who are obese (from 25.7% in Oneida to 32% in Oswego) compared to Upstate NY (24.3%). Five of six counties fared worse than the Upstate NY average for the percentage of adults consuming 5 fruits or vegetables a day and all six counties fared worse than the Upstate NY average for the percent of modifiable deaths are attributed to alcohol consumption, and five of the CNYCC counties have heavy drinking rates higher than the Upstate NY average rate (refer to Table 8 above).

These behavioral risk factors are wrapped up in socioeconomic and environmental factors that are often beyond an individual's ability to control. In terms of socioeconomic factors, it is well established that lower income and less educated populations (both attributes of Medicaid-insured population overall and CNYCC population specifically) and rural populations (a large demographic of the CNYCC) have higher smoking rates, poorer diets and exercise habits, and poorer overall health. Vulnerable populations including the elderly, minorities, refugees, people with developmental disabilities, veterans, and homeless people are at socioeconomic disadvantage. The vast majority of the county's minority populations live in Syracuse, and the State's Prevention Agenda dashboard shows large inequities in health status, including the premature death rate, for minority populations compared to White populations. Syracuse is also home to a population of approximately 6,000 refugees from Southeast Asia and the Middle East and Utica is home to a refugee resettlement program. Additionally, there are pockets of migrant populations, both transitory and permanent, throughout the CNYCC. Although there are no statistics related to health care access and utilization for these populations, consideration must

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Office of Public Health, New York State Department of Health. DSRIP Population Health Projects: Introduction to Population Health and Community Needs Assessment. June 1014. Webinar slides. Estimates were extrapolated using the results published in "Actual Causes of Death in the United States, 2000" JAMA, March 2004, 291 (10) and NYS 2012 Vital Statistics data.



be provided in terms of culture and language sensitivities and overall challenges this population may have accessing care. Key informants who provide support and care to the refugee population note that cultural understandings of health care, socio-cultural family structures and even the concept of time and appointment schedules impacts accessing health care.

Multiple key informants contacted during the needs assessment process noted this interaction between socioeconomic factors and individual behaviors. Some key informants referred to "lack of health literacy," which had multiple implied meanings. For example, it referred to the lack of knowledge related to the consequences of individual behaviors (such as exercise, healthy diet, preventive care) on overall health status. It also referred to the lack of knowledge about resources available to assist. Other key informants referred to the "culture" or "norms" in their particular area, which did not necessarily promote healthy lifestyles. This lack of health literacy or culture/norms also influenced the way in which individuals accessed health services. Most often the examples provided were using the emergency department for routine health care, accessing health services only when sick (rather than for prevention), lack of understanding about health insurance (what services are covered and what are not; pre-approvals, co-pays), and not establishing a primary care provider to help guide and coordinate health care.

Environmental factors add another layer of complexity. Is it that poorer, less educated populations have less healthy behaviors or is it that they live in areas that are less conducive to health? Do residents not understand that EDs should only be used for emergencies, or is it that there are a lack of primary care providers within a reasonable distance or that the earliest primary care appointment is two months hence? Availability and accessibility of health care providers, healthy food, parks and recreational areas, transportation, and housing all influence an individual's well-being, their ability to make healthy and appropriate choices, and ultimately their overall health status. Below is a description of some key environmental factors influencing health in the CNYCC area.

## **Environmental Risk Factors**

#### **Provider shortages**

There is both anecdotal and quantitative data to indicate that provider shortages are a major concern in the CNY region, most notably psychiatrists, dental providers, and primary care providers. In rural areas, multiple key informants also noted access to medical specialists as an issue. The rural areas also experience greater challenges in recruiting providers. Table 10 is drawn from the Area Health Resource Files (AHRF) maintained by the Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA). The AHRF is a compilation of key sources listing providers, including constituency organizations such as the American Hospital Association and American Medical Association, as well as governmental sources such as the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services and the Bureau of Labor Statistics. As noted in the table, all counties in the CNYCC have shortages of primary care providers and psychiatrists, and all counties except Onondaga have a shortage of dentists and OB-GYNs.



An important note is that this table is an overestimate of the capacity. While the assessment was able to gain a very strong understanding of the primary care safety net landscape driven largely by data on the region's FQHCs and hospital-based primary care practices provided through a primary care safety net assessment conducted by the Health Foundation of Western and Central New York. The DSRIP assessment was not able to fully understand the capacity provided by private, independent primary care providers and the extent to which they accept Medicaid-insured patients. Anecdotally, there were a handful of private practices that serve a small population of Medicaid-insured patients, but the general sense is that primary care providers serving the Medicaid population are "stretched thin." One FQHC noted a two-month wait to make an appointment. For behavioral health and dental care it is even longer. Multiple key informants noted that there are very few, if any, dentists in particular counties that serve Medicaid-insured populations. One mother with a child needing a root canal was told that the closest access was over 120 miles away. Psychiatrists are relatively few in number; and the relatively few are further reduced in number when those serving Medicaid-insured is part of the criteria. Additionally people with Medicaid related stories of having eye exams covered but not glasses.

County	Primary	' Care	OB,	/GYN	General	Surgeons	Psychi	atrists	Den	tists
	#	Rate*	#	Rate	#	Rate	#	Rate	#	Rate
Cayuga	23	28.9	2	5.1	3	3.8	1	1.3	30	37.5
Lewis	16	58.2	3	22.3	2	7.3	0	0	5	18.5
Madison	42	58	7	19.0	4	5.5	5	6.9	23	31.3
Oneida	175	74.9	20	17.1	26	11.1	28	12.0	127	54.1
Onondaga	439	94	71	29.4	62	13.3	71	15.2	338	72.4
Oswego	43	35.3	5	8.2	5	4.1	1	0.8	28	22.9
NY State	16,171	109.58	2,645	26.2	1,922	9.8	3,586	18.3	14,035	72.4
USA	233,862	82.6	34,047	21.4	27,301	8.7	29,521	9.4	183,286	59.4
*Rate per 100,000 population										
Data source:	AHRF 2012									

Table	10:	AHRF	Number	of	Providers	by	County
						-	-

The shortage information is further substantiated through the large number of Health Professional Shortage Area and Medically Underserved Areas/Populations designated in the CNYCC. In Oswego, the entire Medicaid-eligible population is designated as a primary care HPSA. All Medicaid eligible populations in Syracuse and Utica are designated as shortage areas for primary care. Large areas of the other counties are also HPSA designated as shown in the map in Figure 10.

Similar areas are noted as mental health shortage areas. In Lewis, and Madison, the entire counties (Medicaid eligible or not) have mental health shortage designations, as do the Medicaid-eligible populations in Oneida County, Oswego County and the City of Syracuse. Additionally two correctional facilities are designated as mental health shortage areas: Auburn Correctional Facility (Cayuga County) and Mid-State Correctional Facility (Oneida County).



Figure 10. HPSA Map



There are fewer designations for shortages of dental providers<sup>9</sup>. The Medicaid eligible population in Syracuse and all of Oswego County are so designated and as is all of Lewis County. The other dental shortage designations, however, are more targeted to specific service areas within the counties of Cayuga, Madison, Onondaga, and Oswego. This is contrary to the information received through the key informant interviews and the survey that was fielded. For a table of all HPSA shortage areas, see Table 11 in Appendix A.

In addition to general provider shortages, there is strained capacity among FQHCs to meet the demand for services. In a survey of CNYCC partners, there were seven respondent FQHCs. Among these FQHCs, three were under and three were at capacity to provide outpatient primary care services to adults; the same distribution was reported for expected capacity to serve adults in the next year. With regards to pediatric patients, six respondent FQHCs reported being at capacity to serve children, while none reported being over

or under capacity. However, looking ahead, three FQHCs thought they would be under capacity to serve children in the next year.

Furthermore, social barriers contribute to limited access to the providers that do exist. In focus groups and listening sessions with consumers, consumers indicated that there were fewer barriers to accessing needed behavioral health but negative experiences with primary care. Consumers talked about being made to feel "strange" and unwanted in primary care offices. There is a sense of two separate health care worlds – one that is primary care oriented and the other that is behavioral health and that there is little perceived coordination between the two. Persons who experience mental illness often feel unaccepted and misunderstood in the PCP environment.

#### Transportation

Transportation barriers are a pervasive issue across all counties in CNY. Lack of public transportation, limited transportation services, barriers caused by the road system, and lack of income and financial resources to purchase vehicles were causes often cited by informants. Additionally, cold, sometimes harsh winters make driving long distances difficult or waiting outside for public transportation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> HPSA designation has to be pursued so the fact that an area/population does not have one is not necessarily because it does not qualify but could be because no one has initiated the designation process.



uncomfortable. Medicaid taxi vouchers are being used but are often noted as insufficient and often require hours of waiting. Additionally the Medicaid transportation services require up to 3 days notice of an appointment. This is particularly problematic for people leading complex lives, those who have mental illness and adolescents. A few counties have other transportation services available including County Agencies for the Aged who offer seniors rides to appointments within the county and service organizations that focus on persons with mental illness or individuals with developmental disabilities. Rather than serving the needs of those accessing the services, residents need to fit their needs into the structure of the transportation services. Lack of adequate and available transportation contributes to patients' inabilities to access preventive and routine health services, to follow through on discharge plans, go grocery shopping for healthy foods, and obtain medications, among other challenges.

#### Housing

An increasing body of evidence has associated housing quality with poor overall health status and illness due to infectious diseases, chronic illnesses, injuries, poor nutrition, and even mental disorders. These health issues are inherent to low income residents but there are also clear links between poor housing conditions and poor health status. At its extreme those without housing, either living on the street or in some transient housing situation, have dramatically higher rates of illness and shorter life expectancy.<sup>10</sup> Shelter is a basic human need and lack of affordable and safe housing negatively affects health care utilization, especially routine and preventive care, which may become less of a priority if other basic need issues are a concern, such as housing. Low-income housing programs in the CNY area have extensive wait times, often measured in years. In several of the more rural counties there are no homeless shelters, supportive or transient housing. Several informants commented on the vicious cycle of people living on the streets presenting to emergency departments for shelter, food, a shower and clean clothes. These folks are often admitted for physical and/or mental illness and then released back out onto the streets where it starts all over again.

In addition to the broader housing concern, several key informants raised the issue of supportive housing, most notably for persons with mental health, substance abuse, and physical disabilities. Inpatient settings, including skilled nursing facilities, noted the difficulties around discharge when housing is an issue for a particular patient. Instances were cited where patients were kept longer than needed in these settings because discharge to home was not an option. Without adequate housing, patients are less able to follow through on discharge plans and obtain the support they need, resulting in another emergency room visit or readmission.

## Healthy and safe environment

The New York State 2013-2017 Prevention Agenda outlines four primary areas that define a healthy and safe environment, including: outdoor air quality, water quality, built environment (housing, educational settings, employment settings, public buildings, transportation, zoning) and injuries, violence, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> <u>http://www.nationalhomeless.org/factsheets/health.html</u>



occupational health. These primary areas of prevention for a healthy and safe environment work in concert with one another and have significant impacts on the health status of individuals and the overall community.

The Central New York region is comprised of a diverse array of social and built environments, which include urban, suburban, and rural communities. Within this region, individual behavior and the built environment influence access to both medical and non-medical resources. The counties constituting the CNY region are predominantly rural, but there is a range, requiring the DSRIP project planning process to address both urban and rural contexts. Oneida and Onondaga, with the population centers of Utica and Syracuse respectively, have significant urban and rural populations. The remaining counties are predominantly rural. The combined regional shortages of housing and transportation, especially in rural areas, lead to barriers in accessing healthcare, maintaining medical appointments, engaging in physical activity, and preparing healthy meal items. Challenges in geography and zoning, especially in rural areas, make it difficult for individuals to engage in regular physical activity as well as access public recreation facilities and parks.

## Barrier free access deficiencies

Improved community design standards help make streets safe for all users including pedestrians, bicyclists, and those that rely on public transportation. These standards promote environments that encourage physical activity and engage community members in healthy behaviors. Across the Central New York region, counties have begun to adopt complete street policies that include increased options for transportation, more livable communities, improved safety, renewed economies, and increased opportunities for physical activity. Most notably, the City of Syracuse has incorporated these design standards into its infrastructure with the establishment of the Connective Corridor. This development links the Syracuse University community with downtown Syracuse through a new roadway that provides safe and sustainable access for bicyclists, pedestrians, and those who utilize public transportation. These new standards engage and connect community members with opportunities for physical activity and social interaction. In more rural communities across the Central New York region, barriers often exist that prevent individuals from walking and biking to the areas that they live, work, and play. Limited access to transportation and the lack of roadway sidewalks impact an individual's ability to make healthy decisions, especially when weather conditions are severe and travel becomes increasingly difficult. By removing these barriers and ensuring that new developments include sidewalks and bike lanes, the health status of rural communities can begin to improve, particularly for residents that are disproportionately low-income.

## Access to affordable food

Issues around access to affordable and healthy food options contribute to health problems across Central New York. Within isolated and rural parts of the region, food insecurity continues to disproportionately impact low-income populations. Lack of transportation in rural areas exacerbates these issues as geography makes it difficult for individual's to access grocery stores without the use of a vehicle. Barriers around transportation and the built environment pose challenges to an individual's ability to make healthy decisions regarding their body and diet. The manner in which food is processed



and made available to individuals has a tremendous impact on the health of those consuming it. Many of the chronic diseases attributed to food insecurity are preventable, yet continue to harm individuals in the Central New York region, especially low-income individuals. Limited access to healthy food captures the percent of the population who are low-income and do not live close to a grocery store.

Table 11 represents the number of grocery stores per 100,000 population. Each of the counties in the CNYCC has far fewer grocery stores than the state average, probably due to the rural geography of the area. This certainly limits options for residents in terms of where to shop, selection of foods available, and ability to do cost comparisons.

County	Total Population	Number of Establishments	Establishments, Rate per 100,000 Population	
Сауида	79,996	16	20.00*	
Lewis	27,149	2	7.36*	
Madison	72,382	14	19.34*	
Oneida	233,585	55	23.54*	
Onondaga	466,852	125	26.77*	
Oswego	122,220	12	9.81*	
New York State	19,378,102	10,037	51.80	
*Rate lower than state				
Data source: US census Bureau, County Business Patterns: 2012. Additional data analysis by CARES				

#### Table 11: Grocery Store Access

Table 12 drills down further on grocery store access, examining specifically access to grocery stores for low-income populations. Low access is defined as greater than one mile from a supermarket or grocery store in rural areas. This indicator is relevant because it provides a measure of healthy food access and environmental influences on dietary behavior, specifically related to low-income populations (an example of the interrelatedness between socioeconomic and environmental factors). Lewis, Madison, Oneida, and Onondaga counties all are higher than the state average for percentage of population with low-income and low access to a supermarket or large grocery store.



County	Total Population	Population with Low- Income and Low Access	Percentage with Low- Income and Low Access	
Сауида	80,026	1,422	1.80	
Lewis	27,087	1,531	5.70*	
Madison	73,442	3,548	4.80*	
Oneida	234,878	13,166	5.60*	
Onondaga	467,026	25,602	5.50*	
Oswego	122,109	3,067	2.50	
New York State	19,378,102	481,911	2.50	
*Rate higher than state Data source: 2010 US Department of Agriculture Food Environment Atlas Data as of November, 2012				

Table 12: Percentage of Population with	Low-Income and Low Access to a Superi	market or a Large Grocery Store
---	---------------------------------------	---------------------------------

#### **Recreational facilities and park access**

Access to recreational facilities and parks encourages physical activity. Table 13 represents the number of recreation and fitness facilities per 100,000 population. With the exception of Onondaga County, all others have a lower establishment to population ratio than the state as a whole.

Table 13: Recreation	and Fitness	Facility Access
----------------------	-------------	-----------------

County	Total Population	Number of Establishments	Establishments, Rate per 100,000 Population	
Сауида	79,996	4	5.00*	
Lewis	27,149	2	7.36*	
Madison	72,382	5	6.90*	
Oneida	233,585	19	8.13*	
Onondaga	466,852	59	12.63	
Oswego	122,220	11	9.00*	
New York State	19,378,102	2,142	11.05	
*Rate lower than state				
Data source: US census Bureau, County Business Patterns: 2012. Additional data analysis by CARES				

The population living within a half mile of a park is noted in Table 14. All CNY counties listed below are lower than the state average for park access.



Report Area	Total Population	Total Population Within ½ Mile of a Park	Percent Population Within ½ Mile of a Park
Cayuga	80,026	22,777	28.00*
Lewis	27,087	1,599	6.00*
Madison	73,442	21,421	29.00*
Oneida	234,878	1,541,891	36.00*
Onondaga	467,026	83,633	49.00*
Oswego	122,109	226,793	7.00*
New York State	19,378,102	9,989,440	52.00

#### Table 14. Park Access

\*Rate lower than state

Data source: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Healthy Community Design Initiative and Geospatial Research Analysis and Services Program. National percentage of population that resides within half a mile of a park. Accessed from Environmental Public Health Tracking Network, 2010. Source geography: County.

## **C. Community Assets and Resources**

In order for the CNYCC to: 1) identify community need and service gaps; 2) select the most appropriate, value-added projects, and; 3) develop sound, well-focused action plans for the projects selected, it must have a thorough understanding of the resources and assets that exist in the Central New York region. The following is a description of the resources and assets that exist across the six counties that make up the CNYCC's service area. This description is segmented into six components: Hospital and specialty care services; primary care services; behavioral health services; oral health services; post-acute services (e.g., skilled nursing facilities, nursing homes, and other long-term care facilities) and; community health/social services. This summary description is supported by a series of County Resource and Asset Listings that specifically identify the core service providers and assets that exist in each County. This summary is also supported by the individual county assessments that were completed as part of the CNYCC's needs assessment. This supporting documentation is appended to this report.

Per the DSRIP needs assessment guidance, this section will describe the resources available for each of the service components and consider their scope of service, distribution, and capacity. This description touches on the broad range of services that are available for the population at-large in each category but is primarily focused on the system of care for low income, Medicaid insured and uninsured residents of the region. This information will inform the CNYCC's understanding of availability, affordability, quality, and accessibility of services as a way of identifying access barriers, shortages, care coordination, and service gaps.

Ultimately, this information will ensure that the project plans are carefully targeted based on community and regional need. This information will also ensure that the project plans involve and



Central New York Care Collaborative (CNYCC) Community Needs Assessment leverage all of the available health and community resources throughout the region. Finally, the resource assessment will allow the CNYCC to know what resources and capacities exist in the service area and, along with the other components of the community needs assessment, allow the CNYCC to meet the DSRIP goal of 25% reduction in avoidable hospital use.

This information was informed by a broad range of quantitative and qualitative data sources, including; 1) the CHNA's key informant interviews and focus groups, 2) resource data drawn from the New York State Department of Health, 3) Data drawn from the Bureau of Primary Health Care's UDS Mapper Database, and the 3) the PPS Partner Survey identified by the core members of the CNYCC. Table 15 below includes a listing of the leading health and community providers by county that were identified through our key informant interviews and CNYCC partner lists, confirmed and augmented by a review of the more complete and systematic information distributed by NYS DOH. This is not an exhaustive list, rather it is meant to highlight those organizations that the CNYCC should focus on in developing their project plans. A more comprehensive listing of all of the region's resources, organized by county, can be found in Appendix B. Below is a description of each service component. The descriptions begin with an overview of the resources available across the region, followed by a discussion of capacity, accessibility, patient population served, and quality.



#### Table 15. Key County Providers

County	Hospital	Primary Care Safety Net	Behavioral Health	Dental	Post-acute	Community Health Providers
Cayuga	Auburn Community Hospital	East Hill Family Medical, Inc. Family Health Network, Inc. Port Byron Community Health (Finger Lakes Community Health Center) Children's Health Specialists Hillside Children's Center Auburn Community Hospital – Primary Care Practices	Unity House of Cayuga County Cayuga County Department of Mental Hygiene Cayuga Centers Cayuga County Community Mental Health Confidential Help for Alcohol and Drugs (CHAD), Inc. Cayuga County Mental Health Center East Hill Family Medical Port Byron Community Health Hillside Children's Center Cayuga Counseling Services Family Health Network, Inc.	Cayuga County DDS East Hill Family Medical Port Byron Community Health Family Health Network, Inc.	Finger Lakes Center for Living Hospice and Palliative Care, Inc. (Cayuga Medical Center)	Cayuga County Office of Aging Hillside Children's Center Auburn Housing Authority UCPA of Cayuga County, Inc. Cayuga/Seneca Community Action Agency Cayuga Chamber of Commerce Auburn Nursing Home Cayuga County Health Department Cayuga Counseling Services
Lewis	Lewis County General Hospital	Lewis County General Hospital – Primary Care Practice Sites North Country Family Health Center	North Country Family Health Center	North Country Family Health Center		Anise Child & Family Lewis County County Services Lewis County Public Health
Madison	Community Memorial Hospital Oneida Health Care	Planned Parenthood Mohawk Hudson Liberty Resources Mary Rose Clinic Madison County Memorial Hospital, Primary Care Practices Oneida Healthcare Center	Hutchings Psychological Center Madison County Mental Health		VNA Home Care	Madison County Department of Health Anise Child & Family Loretto
Oneida	Faxton St. Luke's; Rome Memorial Hospital St. Elizabeth's Medical Center	RPCN- Utica Community Health Center Faxton St. Lukes Rome Memorial Hosptial St. Elizabeth Medical Center Oneida Healthcare Center	The Neighborhood Center Mohawk Valley Psychiatric Center	RPCN- Utica Community Health Center	St. Luke's Home, Mohawk Valley Home Care	Mohawk Valley Resource Center for Refugees, Inc. Upstate Cerebral Palsy
Onondaga	Crouse Hospital St. Joseph's Hospital Upstate University Hospital	Syracuse Community Health Center Crouse Hospital – Primary Care Practices St. Joseph's Hospital – Primary Care Practices Christian Health Services Ramha Clinic AMAUS Clinic Poverello Clinic Upstate University Hospital – Primary Care Practices Community General Hospital – Primary Care Practices	Hillside Children's Center Liberty Resources Onondaga County Department of Mental Hygiene Prevention Network Syracuse Community Health Center	Syracuse Community Health Center	Franciscan Health Support Services, LLC Hospice of Central New York James Square Health and Rehabilitation Center Loretto Health & Rehabilitation Center Onondaga County Department of Adult and Long Term Care Services St. Camillus Residential Health Care Facility VNA Homecare	ARC of Onondaga Arise, Inc. Aurora of Central New York Enable Liberty Resources Onondaga County Health Department REACH CNY, Inc. The Salvation Army, Syracuse Area Services
Oswego	Oswego Health	Northern Oswego County Health Services, Inc. (NOCHSI) Oswego Hospital – Primary Care Practices	Farnham, Inc. Hillside Children's Center Oswego County Department of Mental Hygiene Oswego Hospital	Northern Oswego County Health Services (NOCHSI) Seneca Hill Manor, Inc.	Morningstar Cares Hospice of Central New York Oswego County Health Department St. Luke's Health Services Seneca Hill Manor, Inc. VNA Homecare	Aurora of Central New York Arise, Inc. ARC of Oswego Catholic Charities of Oswego County Oswego County Health Department Oswego County Opportunities, Inc.

Data source: 2014 Survey of Health Care and Community Resources; Key Informant Interviews



### **Description of Health Care Resources**

#### **Hospital services**

#### Summary Description of Available Resources and Resource Capacity

There are 13 hospitals in the six county CNYCC region that provide a broad range of hospital inpatient, emergency, and ambulatory care services.<sup>11</sup> This includes six community hospitals, four regional medical centers, one designated psychiatric hospital, and one Veterans Administration (VA) hospital. There are an estimated 2,827 beds across these 13 hospitals, including 688 beds at community hospitals, 2,002 beds at regional medical center hospitals, 187 psychiatric beds (including 32 at the psychiatric hospital), and 106 beds at the VA hospital. The list of hospitals by County in the region is included in Appendix B.

# Table 16: Hospital Beds / 1,000 Residents for Hospitals in CNY Care Collaborative CNYCC Service Area by County 2014 (Excluding psychiatric beds)

County	Number of Beds	Population	Average Beds per 1,000 residents
Сауида	85	79,996	1.1
Lewis	31	27,062	1.1
Madison	126	72,977	1.7
Oneida	640	234,336	2.7
Onondaga	1,592	466,179	3.4
Oswego	136	122,055	1.1
CNYCC Region	2,610	1,002,605	2.6
New York State	50,143	19,398,125	2.6

Note: Numbers include beds in facilities designated as 'Hospitals' or 'Primary Care Hospital -Critical Access Hospitals', but exclude psychiatric beds.

Data source: Calculated using beds data Health Facility Certification Information file from Health Data NY - https://health.data.ny.gov/Health/Health-Facility-Certification-Information/2g9y-7kqm, accessed 10/31/2014.

The overall capacity with respect to beds per 1,000 residents varies across the counties in the CNYCC's service area but on a regional basis is comparable to the New York State average. Per Table 16 above, the average number of beds per 1,000 residents by county ranges from a high of 3.4 beds per 1,000 residents in Onondaga to 1.1 beds per 1,000 residents in Cayuga, Lewis, and Oswego. Oneida also has a high number of beds per population compared to the other counties in the region. The fact that the beds per 1,000 figure is highest in Onondaga is a clear reflection of the fact that Syracuse is a medical

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Hospital information, including bed capacity, available at: http://profiles.health.ny.gov/



service hub and has been historically perceived as source of care for the region. This same interpretation holds for Oneida which is to a lesser degree a care hub. The average number of beds per 1,000 residents for the CNYCC service area overall is 2.6 beds per 1,000, which is consistent with the New York State rate.

This data combined with our data from the key informant suggests that regionally there is more than adequate capacity of hospital services regionally. In fact, the data suggests an overcapacity. The beds per 1,000 resident rates are comparable to the state and the occupancy rates, while comparable to the State average, are low with four of the six counties have occupancy rates that are at least 25% lower than that the state average.

With respect to hospital occupancy rates, the data suggests a similar interpretation. Per Table 17 below, there is considerable variation in occupancy rates by county but regionally the CNYCC service area average occupancy rate is slightly lower than the State average. The occupancy rates by county range from a high of 76.9% in Cayuga County to as low as 40.3% in Madison. The average occupancy rate for the six county PPS service area is 67.3% compared to a New York State average of 68.5%.

County	Number of Beds	Total Inpatient Days (SPARCS)	Hospital Occupancy Rate
Cayuga	99	27,772	76.9
Lewis	31	5,510	48.7
Madison	126	18,525	40.3
Oneida	701	166,523	65.1
Onondaga	1,672	441,158	72.3
Oswego	164	26,780	44.7
CNYCC Region	2,793	686,268	67.3
New York State	56,191	14,042,431	68.5

Table 17: Hospital Occupancy Rates for Hospitals in CNY Care Collaborative CNYCC Service Area by County
2012 (Including psychiatric beds)

\*Total inpatient days data for 2012 were obtained from SPARCS Health Data Query System https://apps.health.ny.gov/pubdoh/sparcsqry/, accessed on 11/3/2014. Number of beds data were obtained from Health Data NY - https://health.data.ny.gov/Health/Health-Facility-Certification-Information/2g9y-7kqm, accessed 10/31/2014. Hospital occupancy rates were calculated using this formula: (Total number of inpatient days/(Number of beds x 365 days))\*100.



## Quality, Care Coordination, and Care Transitions

Based on quantitative data compiled from NYS DOH and qualitative information from key informant interviews, the measured and perceived quality across the hospitals throughout the region is mixed.

Table 18 below shows selected quality metrics for the hospitals that operate within the region drawn from the Quality Improvement Organization (QIO) Clinical Warehouse. The data is compiled from hospitals that voluntarily submit data to the QIO Clinical Warehouse, which is a national data repository for private healthcare data. The QIO validates the information, provides feedback to the hospitals, and makes data available to the public through the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) and the New York State Department of Health<sup>12</sup>. A wide range of quality data is presented including recommended care, mortality rates, customer satisfaction, emergency department timeliness, and Readmission Rates. The following is a review of selected indicators as well as a composite measures that assesses the overall timeliness and effectiveness of care.

The figures across all the hospital the composite measure were very high. The average across the hospitals in the region was 96%. On an indicator by indicator basis there was some variation, particularly across some of the measures. There was particular variation with respect to emergency department wait times, which ranged from as high as 84 minutes to as low as 19 minutes. There was also considerable variation with respect to patient satisfaction, which ranged from a high of 82% to a low of 53%. The range of variation with respect to % of patients readmitted within 30 days for selected conditions was consistent across the hospitals.

From our key informant interviews, most of those who were interviewed perceived the quality of emergency department and inpatient services to be high with respect to the quality of the clinical care and patient satisfaction. The one area of improvement that was mentioned consistently was the need for improving care coordination and the transition of care after discharge from the hospital. Interviewees consistently cited that there was often limited follow-up between the hospital, the post-acute settings, and primary care/behavioral health providers. Interviewees identified need for better flow of information between providers, as well as care managers to bridge care after discharge as methods to improve care coordination.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> http://profiles.health.ny.gov/hospital/pages/technotes



Hospital	Emergency Department Wait Time (in minutes)	Patient Satisfaction	Readmissions Within 30 Days	Heart Attack Patients Readmitted within 30 Days	Heart Failure Patients Readmitted within 30 Days	Pneumonia Patients Readmitted within 30 Days	Timely and effective care (composite measure)
Auburn Community	60 min.	53%	19%	19%	21%	17%	95.3%
Community Memorial	31 min.	82%	19%	n/a	22%	17%	99.5%
Crouse	19 min.	63%	22%	18%	26%	19%	97.8%
Faxton-St Lukes Healthcare	56 min.	62%	22%	18%	24%	20%	96.9%
Lewis County General	35 min.	70%	18%	n/a	21%	16%	86.3%
Oneida Healthcare	35 min.	69%	21%	n/a	24%	18%	96.3%
Oswego	27 min.	60%	22%	19%	26%	19%	95.0%
Rome Memorial	45 min.	64%	21%	19%	23%	20%	95.3%
St. Elizabeth Medical Center	38 min.	70%	22%	20%	24%	19%	97.1%
St. Josephs	84 min.	73%	21%	20%	25%	20%	98.5%
Syracuse VA	n/a	n/a	23%	21%	25%	23%	98.3%
University Hospital SUNY Health Science Center	44 min.	63%	21%	17%	24%	20%	95.6%

# Table 18: Selected Hospital Quality Data Metrics Drawn from the Quality Improvement Organization (QIO) Clinical Warehouse as Reported by the NYS Department of Health – 2012

**Emergency department wait time:** Average time patients spent in the emergency department before they were seen by a healthcare professional. Lower is better.

**Patient Satisfaction:** This measure is used to assess adult inpatients' perception of their hospital. Patients rate their hospital on a scale from 0 to 10, where 0 is the worst hospital possible and 10 is the best hospital possible. Higher is better.

**Readmissions Within 30 Days:** A composite average of the 30-day readmission rates for heart attack, heart failure, and pneumonia. Lower is better.

Heart Attack Patients Readmitted within 30 Days: This measure shows the all-cause 30-day readmission rate for patients discharged from a previous hospital stay for heart attack. Lower is better.

Heart Failure Patients Readmitted to Hospital within 30 Days: This measure shows the all-cause 30-day readmission rate for patients discharged from a previous hospital stay for heart failure. Lower is better.

**Pneumonia Patients Readmitted within 30 Days:** This measure shows the all-cause 30-day readmission rate for patients discharged from a previous hospital stay for pneumonia. Lower is better.

**Timely and effective care (Composite measure):** This measure is a weighted average of all of the process-of-care, or "core" measures, reported on CMS Hospital Compare. Higher is better.

\*There was no data available for Upstate University Hospital at Community General



#### **Outpatient primary care services**

#### Summary Description of Available Resources and Resource Capacity

Central New York's primary care system, and particularly the portion of the system that serves low income, Medicaid insured, and uninsured residents in the region, is a diverse collection of primary care clinics or practice sites that fall into one of three categories. The first category is a group of publically and/or privately subsidized, full-service primary care clinics that are formally committed, either by mission or mandate, to serve low-income uninsured or insured patients. Federally qualified health centers (FQHCs), New York State, Article 28 clinics, clinics run by faith-based organizations, and free clinics (such as those that operate in Syracuse) are the primary entities in this category.

The second category is a group of hospital-owned or affiliated primary care clinics or practices that are typically part of larger, integrated delivery systems. These practices are most often located directly on or adjacent to hospital campuses, but many are scattered throughout the hospital service areas as well. With the implementation of ACA, these hospital-based practice sites are becoming a more integral part of hospital's service delivery and business strategies. They serve a broad range of predominantly insured patients across the socio-economic spectrum, including a significant portion of low-income, Medicaid-insured patients.

The third category is private, solo, or group primary care practices that operate independently in the community and, like the hospital-based practices, tend to serve insured patients, including those who are insured by Medicaid. Practice sites in this category are more likely to be pediatric clinics, given the relatively favorable nature of coverage and Medicaid reimbursement for children in New York State. Often these practices cap the number of Medicaid patients they serve. These practice sites individually do not typically make a large impact but as there are a large number of providers in this category collectively they can have a major impact.

The first and second categories of providers are relatively easily identified and are included in our list of core primary care providers by county in Appendix B. The third category, however, is much more difficult to identify and is largely not represented in our listing of resources by county. Some of these private, independent providers were identified through our key informant interviews or through other sources but largely they are obscured from our analysis. It is important to note, however, while they may not be included in our list, they do play an important role and it is this category of providers where there is the biggest potential for growth in the service system for low income Medicaid insured residents.

In the Central New York region, there is considerable variation on a county-to-county basis as to which of these provider category types is dominant. Appendix B provides a listing of the core primary care providers in each county.

Region-wide, there are 8 federally qualified health center (FQHC) grantees operate more than a dozen full service clinic sites. In addition there are 4 free clinics operating in Onondaga County and approximately 15 other hospital-based clinic organizations distributed throughout the CNYCC service



area, including some that are Article 28 designated, that provide the bulk of services to the low income Medicaid insured population and virtually all of the uninsured population. The list of FQHCs, Article 28 clinics, and other hospital-based clinic locations are included in Appendix B.

Given the difficulty in identifying the primary care system that is responsible for serving the low income Medicaid insured and uninsured population, it is difficult to assess capacity and the extent to which there are gaps in coverage for the underlying low income population that it is designed to serve. The Health Foundation of Western and Central New York (HFWCNY) commissioned John Snow, Inc. in 2013-2014 to assess the capacity and strength of the Central New York region's primary care safety net.<sup>13</sup> This study applied a robust methodology that compiled data from the core elements of the primary care safety net to determine the safety net's capacity, then overlaid this capacity over the size and characteristics of the underlying low income population. The ultimate conclusion of this assessment was that there is a robust, well-distributed network of FQHC and hospital-based safety net practices operating throughout the central New York Region. However, despite this distribution, there are still considerable shortages and gaps in primary care safety net capacity throughout out the region that are hindering access, leading to delayed acute care and preventive services, and causing inappropriate utilization of hospital services.



Figure 11: Rates of Primary Care Safety Net Penetration into Low Income Population by County - 2013.

Figure 11 above, indicates how well the core primary care safety net providers in the region penetrate into the eight counties that were part of the Health Foundation of Western and Central New York's primary care safety net assessment. Specifically, the low income penetration rate indicates the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>http://www.hfwcny.org/Tools/BroadCaster/Upload/Project416/Docs/CNY\_FINAL\_Report\_HFWCNY\_2\_26\_2014\_ \_\_Final.pdf



percentage of the low income population<sup>14</sup> in a region that is served by the set of core primary care safety net providers. In this case, the core safety net is defined as the primary care practices that are included in categories one and two, discussed above.

Figure 11 shows that the core elements of the primary care safety net only serve approximately 30% of the low income population in the region. Large proportions of the remaining population either: 1) do not receive regular primary care services; 2) are served by small, independent private practices that typically do not provide comprehensive PCMH-based care; or 3) receive intermittent care in usually in an untimely manner by hospital emergency departments. Oswego County has the highest overall penetration into the low income population, followed by Oneida and Cayuga Counties. The City of Syracuse has relatively high penetration rate on its own but Onondaga County's penetration overall is quite low. Because it is difficult to identify all of the primary care providers that serve the Medicaid population it is hard to fully understand gaps in capacity. However, based on this data, the qualitative information gathered from key informant interviews, and the PQI, PDI, and PPV data gathered from the health status assessment, it is clear that there are dramatic gaps in primary care access throughout the region, particularly for those who live in rural areas.

County	# Primary Care Physicians	FTE Providers per 100,00 Population			
Cayuga	23	28.9			
Lewis	16	58.2			
Madison	42	58			
Oneida	175	74.9			
Onondaga	439	94			
Oswego	43	35.3			
New York State	16,171	109.58			
United States	233,892	82.6			
Data source: Health Resources Services Administration, Area health Resources Files					
(AHRF), 2012					

Table 19: Number of primary care physicians and FTE providers per 100,000 population by county.

As was discussed in a prior section, the Health Resources Services Administration disseminates data related to primary care capacity in a county-basis through the Area Health Resources Files (AHRF). AHRF is a family of health data resource that is drawn from an extensive county-level database assembled annually from over 50 sources. One of the sets of measures that are part of this resource is a compilation of ambulatory care capacity measures that reports on the number of physicians per 100,000 populations by physician-type, including primary care. Reviewing this data shows that in each of the six

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Low income is defined as those living in households earning less than 200% of the federal poverty level (FPL)

counties that are part of the CNY Care Collaborative, the number of full-time-equivalent primary care providers per 100,000 populations is lower than the New York State overall figure. Table 19 above shows the rates for each county. In some cases this rate is as much as one fourth of the State rate.

Finally, it is important to note here that one of the most consistent comments from the CNA's key informant interviews were the shortages of primary care resources in their areas and the barriers to access that were experienced by the low income Medicaid insured and uninsured residents. The lack of primary care providers is further evidenced by the large number of Health Professional Shortage Area (HPSA) designations, of which there are many in the CNYCC' service area. Various areas of Cayuga, Cortland, Madison, Oneida (especially Utica), and Onondaga (especially Syracuse) are designated primary care HPSAs.<sup>15</sup>

Following is a discussion of the common themes with respect to the primary care system and its structure and capacity.

**Considerable growth in Federally Qualified Health Center (FQHC) Capacity.** Typically, safety-net systems are bolstered by a set of core primary care providers that are formally or informally mandated

to serve low-income Medicaid-insured, underinsured, or uninsured populations. These organizations are often heavily subsidized through grants and enhanced provider payments so that they can tailor their operations to low-income populations, provide a range of enabling and supportive services, and provide uncompensated care to the uninsured. Throughout the United States, FQHCs are often at the heart of these safety-nets and this is certainly true in the central New York region.

In 2007, there were five FQHCs in the region that served 63,795 patients. In 2007, these FQHCs served approximately 19% of all low-income residents in the region. In 2007, the majority of the region's FQHC

Figure 12: Growth of FQHCs Capacity in Central New York

# Impact and Growth of FQHCs in the Region 2007-2012



Source: Uniform Data System Data from the Health Resources Services Administration, Bureau of Primary Health Care. 2013 Data.

capacity served residents of Syracuse. Specifically, approximately 56 % of all the region's FQHC patients were served by Syracuse Community Health Center.

Since 2007, two new FQHC grantees were funded, bringing the total number of FQHC grantees in the region to seven. In addition to the new sites, there was some growth among the existing FQHCs. All told, the region's FQHCs served a total of 81,110 patients in 2012, representing a 27% increase since 2007.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Designated HPSAs can be found at: http://hpsafind.hrsa.gov/HPSASearch.aspx

Moreover, these FQHC sites served 23% of the low-income population living in households earning < 200% of the federal poverty level, which represents a 17% increase in low-income penetration since 2007.

Substantial and growing impact of private, hospital-based, or independent community-based primary care practices. Private, hospital-based and independent, community-based primary care practices have always played a role in safety-net systems in the United States, particularly in rural areas with low population density. In rural areas, it is not efficient to establish safety-net clinics like FQHCs because the volume of patients is not high enough due to low population densities. It tends to be more efficient to support rural community hospitals to fill this role, which is what the federal government has done through the Critical Access Hospital network. In Central New York, these hospital-based providers play an even larger role than is typical, in both rural and urban areas. With the rollout of ACA, it is likely that these providers will increase their involvement in primary care safety-nets as they take strategic steps to serve those who are newly insured through ACA and take advantage of emerging service delivery and payment reforms.

A review of the data that JSI collected from the leading primary care safety-net providers on behalf of the Health Foundation of Western and Central New York, shows that there are approximately 33 hospital-based or independent, private primary care practice organizations that provide a substantial amount of services to low-income residents in the region. Based on our survey, these providers served an estimated 158,426 patients in 2012. This represents 50% of the total patients served by all of the core practices identified by the assessment. The hospital-based practices located in Onondaga County (8) and Oneida County (17) collectively served approximately 43% (139,340) of the total number of patients surveyed by JSI.

Active and growing group of free clinics. Free clinics in Central New York, with locations in Onondaga and Madison, have become an important part of the primary care safety-net. Each operates independently, and most are faith-based in origin and funding source. These clinics are staffed by volunteers who provide care to people without insurance. They provide comprehensive services and referrals to specialty services such as oral and behavioral health, to the most-vulnerable populations. All of the clinics noted that they struggle to link with providers who accept Medicaid-insured patients after a patient is enrolled in Medicaid. Only Christian Health Services bills for Medicaid, but most offer insurance-enrollment assistance.

**Substantial unmet need in low-income population.** There has been considerable growth in primary care capacity in Central New York over the past 5 years. This is largely due to the growth of FQHC practices as well as the hospital-affiliated practices in Syracuse, Oswego County, and Utica. The quantitative and qualitative data captured during this assessment shows that every county in the region has a solid core of providers and stakeholders that are increasing the safety-net capacity and promoting primary care engagement among those most at-risk.

What is also clear, however, is that despite the substantial efforts of a group of core safety-net providers, there is still substantial unmet need among the low-income population and very limited



capacity in many of Central New York's communities. This is especially true with respect to those who are uninsured. A portion of this unmet need is associated with the lack of primary care capacity and/or inefficiencies in primary care operations. However, a large portion is also associated with a lack of primary care engagement and a lack of consumer awareness about the importance of regular primary care, chronic disease management, and prevention. What practice sites are finding is that the expansion of capacity does guarantee that people will take advantage of it, even if the penetration rate is relatively low.

Establishing a figure that reliably estimates unmet primary care need is extremely challenging. This assessment was able to determine the number of patients served by the core of the region's safety-net.

But what the assessment could not estimate is the number of low-income patients who are served by private, independent, or hospital-based primary care practice sites. Individually they serve only a small number of Medicaid-insured and uninsured patients but collectively may have a considerable impact. The assessment is also unable to estimate the number of low-income individuals who do not and will not access care regardless of whether there is capacity.

Based on data compiled by JSI for the HFWCNY primary care assessment, 18 core provider organizations in Central New York comprise the core of the region's safety-net. These provider organizations operate 59 practice sites and serve and estimated 314,668 patients, of whom 114,245 are uninsured or Medicaid-insured patients.

JSI's assessment of demand showed that there are 360,806 low-income residents living below 200% FPL, which means that the leading safety-net providers in the region serve approximately 31% of the total low-





income, Medicaid-insured population in the region. This calculation is based on the fact that the core safety-net providers surveyed serve 114,245 Medicaid-insured or uninsured patients.<sup>16</sup> The corollary to this figure is that 69% of the population is either not engaged in regular primary care, receives primary care at a hospital emergency department, or receives care from a provider outside the JSI's list of core providers. Surely a portion of the remaining 69% of the population is able to secure high-quality, timely primary care from practice sites that are outside the list of leading providers. However, it is also clear

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> This figure does not include the older adult, low-income, Medicare-insured population, who likely makes up a significant portion of these providers patient populations.



that a large portion is receiving untimely episodic primary care from care providers who are not part of the safety-net and are not providing PCMH-driven care.

**Over-utilization of hospital emergency departments (EDs).** As alluded to above in the review of hospital emergency department data, there are large proportions of the population that rely on the emergency department for their primary care, either because they: 1) have no other source of primary care and as a result are forced to use the ED; 2) use the ED as their first choice of care rather than regular, comprehensive primary care; or 3) have difficulty accessing primary care during normal business hours and must resort to the ED's 24-hour availability.

A review of the consumer survey data that was included as part of the CNA showed that 39% of adults and 44% of children surveyed went to a hospital emergency department at least once in the past 12 months, and 14% of adults and 17% of children went to the emergency department two or more times during this period. Further analysis shows that only approximately 56% adults and only 34% of children surveyed were seen in the ED for a medical emergency. The remaining visits were because those surveyed did not have a primary care provider, could not been seen by their regular primary care provider due lack of capacity or after-hours care, or were instructed by their provider to go to the ED (9% of adults).

Data cited above in the health status section on Potentially Preventable Visits (ED), and rates of hospital ED use reinforces this. In rural areas in the northern portion of Central New York in counties such as Lewis, as well as eastern counties such as Oneida, upwards of 30-40% of residents have had a at least one visit to a hospital emergency department in the past 12 months.

It should also be noted that the CNA's key informant interviews indicated substantial barriers to care related to no after-hours or weekend care, limited public transportation, long wait-times, lack of timely scheduling in primary care practice sites, practice sites that do not take Medicaid insurance, and administrative barriers to Medicaid enrollment. As a result, a large number of the families in the region have learned over time to rely on the region's hospital EDs as their usual source of care and do not, in any real sense, have a "medical home."<sup>17</sup>

Lack of consumer engagement. Another important factor related to unmet need and insufficient primary care access is the lack of primary care engagement. A certain portion of unmet need is more closely associated with a lack of consumer awareness about the importance of regular primary care, chronic disease management, and preventive services than it is about a lack of actual primary care capacity. This was a common theme in JSI interviews and site visits. Practice sites often said that while there is absolutely unmet need and a lack of primary care capacity in nearly all of their communities, they often struggle to engage their patients and their target populations in appropriate primary care

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> This report is using the Commonwealth Fund's definition of medical home defined as: a regular doctor or source of care, easy access to the provider by telephone, easy access to health advice on evenings and weekends or whenever the provider is closed, and visits with the provider that occur conveniently for patients, are on time and are efficient



services. Many providers are keenly aware that even if they increase capacity or develop new sites, there will be a lag in service until they promote primary care engagement effectively.

In this regard, there needs to be a greater focus on prevention, health promotion, community health education, emergency room diversion, and greater efforts to identify and engage those who are not accessing primary care. This is particularly important for people with chronic disease and/or other health related conditions (mental health, substance abuse, hospital discharge, etc.) as well as certain demographic (children, frail elders, single-parent mothers, etc.) and socio-economic (low-income, public housing residents, WIC recipients, etc.) segments of the population. In addition to exploring how to increase primary care capacity, safety-net organizations need to focus on outreach, primary care engagement, and the implementation of population-based efforts that are data driven and promote appropriate utilization. Practice sites need to be savvier in using their own electronic health records, other managed care data, or hospital partner data to identify and reach out to those who are not engaged in care. Once they get a patient in the door, they have to offer patients convenient hours, ensure quality customer service on the phone and in person, and build strong relationships so patients choose them as their preferred provider for both preventive and acute needs.

## Summary Description of Primary Care Internal Operational Strengths and Weaknesses

The CNA through its key informant interviews and other data sources gathered a significant amount of information regarding the operational capacity of the region's primary care safety net. The following is a summary of the strengths and weaknesses from the information collected.



	Strengths	Weaknesses
Outreach, Eligibility/ Enrollment, and Primary Care Engagement	<ul> <li>FQHCs and other core safety-net providers are conducting extensive outreach, insurance eligibility screening, and insurance enrollment efforts.</li> <li>In some cases, these efforts are being accomplished with outreach workers who are going to underserved communities and/or working with other community partners.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Need for greater outreach, insurance eligibility screening, and enrollment efforts particularly among non-FQHC providers.</li> <li>Lack of primary care engagement, particularly for people with chronic illness or with risk-factors.</li> <li>Lack of emergency department diversion programs that promote engagement in more appropriate primary care.</li> </ul>
Patient- Centered Medical Home	<ul> <li>Most of the core primary care FQHC and hospital-based safety-net practices have embraced PCMH principles to a large extent, such as:         <ul> <li>Implementation of EHR</li> <li>Tracking of quality indicators</li> <li>Implementation of quality systems</li> <li>Case and care management services</li> <li>External referral systems</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Need to invest resources to bridge gap between theory and practice and promote the full implementation and practice of PCMH principles, such as:         <ul> <li>Population-based panel management of preventive services and chronic disease</li> <li>Provider communication</li> <li>Information transfer between specialists</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
Utilization of Interdisciplinary Teams	<ul> <li>Many core safety net provides have developed specialty care and mental health integration models that co-locate providers in the primary care setting or that expedite referrals to other local providers.</li> <li>Some level of case and care management services is provided at most safety-net practice sites.</li> <li>Appointment reminder calls and specialty care referral scheduling systems exist in most core safety net providers.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Team-based approaches to providing primary care that involve physicians as well as nurse practitioners, physician assistants, and other mid-level providers have shown to be very effective and efficient, yet there is limited evidence of these models being applied in the region.</li> </ul>
Health Information Technology (HIT) and Quality Improvement	<ul> <li>Most safety-net practices are using robust electronic medical record systems.</li> <li>Most are tracking quality indicators and many have applied quality improvement protocols.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Most practice sites lack the time, resources, and understanding to train providers to fully use their medical record systems to identify those at-risk, manage follow-up, communicate with other providers, and coordinate care.</li> </ul>
Administrative Operations and Procedures		<ul> <li>One of the most significant barriers to safety-net growth is primary care provider recruitment, especially in rural areas.</li> <li>Many practices struggle with coding, billing, and other financial procedures</li> </ul>

#### Table 20: Primary Care Internal Operations: Strengths and Weaknesses



## Patient-Centered Medical Home accreditation and quality

#### Patient-Centered Medical Home Accreditation

Patient-Centered Medical Home (PCMH) transformation requires attention to a range of factors that dramatically impact the quality, efficiency, safety, and effectiveness of care. Specifically, PCMH requires attention to clinical protocols, patient/provider workflows, scheduling systems, staffing approaches, how care teams are structured, among many other factors. PCMH also mandates that practice sites develop a robust quality improvement infrastructure that is used to guide quality and performance improvement. As such, the extent to which a system commits to and is able to transform its primary care practice network by accrediting practice sites as PCMH practices is an important indicator of quality. There is certainly room for improvement and growth but there are a large number of practice sites in the CNYCC' service area that have achieved PCMH accreditation. In fact, in the 6 counties that make up the CNY Care Collaboratives service area there are 215 PCMH practice sites (Table 21). Information on Level 3 PCMHs specifically was not available.

County	# PCMHC Providers, September 2012			
Cayuga	7			
Lewis	20			
Madison	4			
Oneida	16			
Onondaga	151			
Oswego	17			
Total	215			
Source: "The Evolution of Patient-Centered Medical Homes in New York State: Current Status and Trends as of September 2012." United Hospital Fund. 2012. page 38. http://www.chhs.ca.gov/PRI/Burke-PCMH%20in%20NYS%20- %20Status%20and%20Trajectory%20-%202012.pdf				

#### Table 21. Number of NCQA-Certified PCMHs by County

Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set. Another important measure of quality is the Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set (HEDIS). HEDIS is a tool used by more than 90 percent of America's health plans to measure performance on important dimensions of care and service. While HEDIS is not strictly a tool to measure quality of primary care services, most of the measures are either directly or indirectly related to the level of quality of services in the primary care setting. Altogether, HEDIS consists of 81 measures across 5 domains of care. Because so many plans collect HEDIS data, and because the measures are so specifically defined, HEDIS makes it possible to compare the performance of health plans and service delivery performance on an "apples-to-apples" basis.

According to HEDIS data drawn from the revised DSRIP Clinical Process of Quality Measures Chartbooks, 42% (30 out of 70) of the indicators across all 16 HEDIS metrics and across all six of the CNYCC counties were worse off compared to the upstate rates (see Table 22). This calculation excludes the data points



where the data is unreportable due to the number of recipients included in the metric being less than 30.

	Cayuga	Lewis	Madison	Oneida	nondaga	Oswego	state New York	lew York State
			~		0		ЧD	Z
A. Behavioral Health								
Adherence to Antipsychotic Medications for People Living with	76	I п	п	60*	50*	62*	65	63
Schizophrenia	70	Ŭ	U	00	50	02	05	05
Antidepressant Medication Management - Effective Treatment	57	l		46*	/15*	1Q*	51	49
for Acute Phase	57	Ŭ	U	40	τJ	45	51	45
Diabetes Monitoring for People with Diabetes and	п	I п	п	75	65*	П	66	68
Schizophrenia	Ŭ	Ŭ	Ŭ	,,,	05	Ŭ		00
Diabetes Screening for People with Schizophrenia/BPD Who are	78	l п	U	74*	84	80	77	79
Using Antipsychotic Med.		Ŭ	Ŭ		0.			
Follow-up after hospitalization for Mental Illness within 30 days	70	58*	68	51*	48*	72	59	55
Follow-up care for Children Prescribed ADHD Medications -	57	υ	55	57	53	59	51	57
Initiation Phase	57	Ű	33	57	55	55	51	37
Initiation of Alcohol and Other Drug Dependence Treatment	83	77*	75*	77*	72*	84	78	78
C. Diabetes Mellitus								
Comprehensive Diabetes Care HbA1c Testing	78	85	74*	81	76	78	76	80
E. HIV/AIDS								
Cervical Cancer Screening	66	59*	64	73	66	66	63	67
Chlamydia Screening Among Young Women	54*	38*	57*	65	68	28*	58	66
Comprehensive Care for People Living with HIV or AIDS -		NIA		01	02		00	80
Engagement in Care	0	INA	0	91	95	0	90	69
Comprehensive Care for People Living with HIV or AIDS - Syphilis		NA		60	56*		E0	60
Screening	0	INA	0	09	50	0	33	09
Comprehensive Care for People Living with HIV or AIDS - Viral		NA		60	70		64	66
Load Monitoring	0	INA	0	00	70	0	04	00
F. Perinatal Care								
Well-Child Visits in the First 15 Months of Life	88	83*	87	92	89	83*	87	85
Breast Cancer Screening Among Women	50*	49*	54*	64	61	55	55	63
Colorectal Cancer Screening	36*	39*	43	45	39*	40*	41	49
(*) Worse than upstate value								
(U) Unreportable due to number of recipients in these data being	<30							
(NA) Data not available Data Source: Revised DSRIP Clinical Process of Quality Measures C	harthor	nks						
<ul> <li>(*) Worse than upstate value</li> <li>(U) Unreportable due to number of recipients in these data being &lt;30</li> <li>(NA) Data not available</li> <li>Data Source: Revised DSRIP Clinical Process of Quality Measures Chartbooks</li> </ul>								

#### Table 22: HEDIS Measures from DSRIP Clinical Process of Quality Measures Chartbooks

## Uniform Data System Clinical Measures of FQHCs

Another measure of quality is how well the region's FQHCs perform with respect to their standard set of clinical measures that are reported on their annual FQHC Uniform Data System (UDS) report. All FQHCs are required to track and report approximately 15 clinical measures drawn from the Centers for



Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) list of Meaningful Use measures. These measures track measures related to maternal and child health, preventive services, and chronic disease management. Overall, the FQHCs in Central New York fared better than the State averages. Table 23 provides specific detail on how well the FQHCs fared against New York State averages across a selection of relevant clinical measures that are part of the FQHCs UDS Report.

#### Table 23: Federal Qualified Health Center (FQHC), Uniform Data System (UDS), Selected Clinical Measure Rates for each of the FQHCs in the CNY Service Area – 2013

		Northern		Finger			North			
		Oswego	East Hill	Lakes	Family	Rochester	Country	United		All
		Community	Family	Migrant	Health	Primary	Family	Cerebral	All NY	National
	Syracuse	Health	Medical,	Health	Network	Care	Health	Palsy	Health	Health
Categories	СНС	Services	Inc.	Project	of CNY	Network	Center	Association	Centers	Centers
Dental Services Provided	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes		
Hypertension	25.0%	21.0%	24.8%	9.7%	23.1%	21.2%	29.6%	31.3%	19.5%	23.6%
Diabetes	9.1%	22.0%	13.4%	5.6%	10.0%	10.2%	16.0%	16.9%	10.0%	12.6%
Asthma	9.7%	9.0%	3.9%	2.5%	5.0%	6.6%	12.7%	6.9%	8.3%	5.9%
HIV	0.3%	0.0%	0.0%	0.1%	0.0%	0.1%	0.0%	0.0%	1.3%	0.6%
Prenatal Patients	1042	n/a	7	n/a	155	1560	n/a	n/a	38,935	494,869
Prenatal patients who delivered	526	n/a	1	n/a	93	994	n/a	n/a	21,065	263,927
Access to Prenatal Care (First Prenatal Visit in 1 <sup>st</sup> Trimester)	80.3%	n/a	14.3%	n/a	93.5%	70.3%	n/a	n/a	77%	72%
Low Birth Weight	7.3%	n/a	n/a	n/a	4.3%	8.8%	n/a	n/a	6.7%	7.3%
Cervical Cancer Screening	71.4%	30.0%	78.6%	33.7%	47.4%	61.5%	78.6%	51.3%	61.8%	57.8%
Adolescent Weight Screening and Follow Up	87.1%	49.7%	34.3%	53.0%	63.9%	82.6%	52.9%	3.0%	55.7%	51.8%
Adult Weight Screening and Follow Up	31.4%	24.6%	91.4%	43.5%	33.2%	44.5%	50.0%	31.7%	53.3%	53.3%
Tobacco Use Screening	100.0%	94.0%	92.9%	70.9%	89.0%	95.3%	100.0%	97.9%	90.4%	91.5%
Tobacco Cessation Counseling for Tobacco Users	100.0%	30.6%	62.9%	81.3%	88.4%	57.7%	91.8%	61.9%	68.6%	63.7%
Colorectal Cancer Screening	57.1%	25.7%	40.0%	24.5%	40.7%	13.7%	40.0%	32.0%	35.6%	32.6%
Childhood Immunization	91.4%	47.1%	84.3%	72.0%	43.2%	84.0%	87.1%	63.6%	76.2%	76.4%



#### **Behavioral health services**

## Summary Description of Available Resources and Resource Capacity

According to the New York Office of Mental Health<sup>18</sup> there are 280 providers of mental and behavioral health services in the CNYCC service area. This includes 13 inpatient mental health programs, 35 outpatient mental health programs, 9 emergency mental health programs, 59 residential mental health programs, and 164 supportive mental health programs. Support programs include care coordination, vocation, forensics, general support, self-help, and education services. Appendix B includes tables with inpatient, outpatient, emergency, and residential mental health programs. These resources were compiled through data provided by the CNA's key informants, from lists provided by the CNYCC's major partners, and through resources provided by the New York State DOH website.<sup>19</sup>

The breadth of expertise that exists across the region seems considerable even in the more rural areas of the region. Forty-four of the 173 organizations that responded to the CNA's PPS Partner Survey stated that they provided behavioral health services. Across these forty-four organizations, 56% reported expertise with homeless populations, 66% with women, infants, and children, 52% with children with special health care needs, 9% with migrant/seasonal farm workers, 30% with refugees, and 66% with uninsured populations. These organizations also serve large proportions of Medicaid insured patients/consumers. In fact, most of the organizations surveyed (30 out of 44) reported having a patient/consumer population that was made up of at least 50% Medicaid beneficiaries. For 14 facilities, Medicaid beneficiaries constituted 75% of the patient population.

County	Psychiatrists			
	#	Rate		
Cayuga	1	1.3		
Lewis	0	0		
Madison	5	6.9		
Oneida	28	12.0		
Onondaga	71	15.2		
Oswego	1	0.8		
NY State	3,586	18.3		
USA	29,521	9.4		
*Rate per 100,000 population				
Data source: AHRF 2012				

#### Table 24. Number of FTE Psychiatrists per 100,000 Population

These organizations were well distributed throughout the region but quantitative and qualitative findings from the CNA strongly indicate that there are major shortages and capacity gaps with respect to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Mental health programs in the state are available at: http://bi.omh.ny.gov/bridges/directory?region=&prog\_selection=
<sup>19</sup> Mental health programs in the state are available at: http://bi.omh.ny.gov/bridges/directory?region=&prog\_selection=



behavioral health care services, particularly for those with substance abuse issues and those with severe mental illness. It is fair to say that the leading finding from our key informant interviews was the dramatic impact of behavioral health issues on Central New York's population and the burden that this has on its health, social service, and public health providers. Morbidity and mortality rates are high, services are limited, and the lack of community supports including case management, housing, and transportation present major barriers to care.

The Health Resources Services Administration Health Resources files also compile data on the number of psychiatrists per 100,000 population, which strongly corroborates the perceptions of our key informants. A review of this data shows that in each of the six counties the number of full-time-equivalent psychiatrists per 100,000 population is dramatically lower than the New York State overall figure. Table 24 shows the rates for each county. In some cases this rate is a small fraction of the overall New York State rate.

Care coordination is somewhat common across behavioral health providers. Twenty eight of the 44 organizations surveyed reported that they have care coordination or case management services. However, key informant interviews highlighted the fact that care is extremely fragmented for those with behavioral health issues. This is largely due to the fact that the service systems for medical and behavioral health are distinct and very silo-ed. It is extremely difficult to navigate the administrative, billing, and funding landscape when it comes to operating and coordinating care, particularly for those with co-morbid medical and behavioral health issues.

## **Dental services**

## Summary Description of Available Resources and Resource Capacity

According to the New York State Department of Health list of Article 28 Dental Health Facilities, there are 14 organizations that provide dental services at 18 distinct sites across the CNYCC Service area. These 16 organizations include: Bassett Health Care Dental Department; Community Memorial Hospital; East Hill; Faxton-St Luke's Healthcare; Finger Lakes Migrant Health; Loretto Geriatric Center; Pulaski Health Center Dental; Sitrin Dental Clinic; Sitrin Medical Rehab Center; St Joseph's Hospital Health Center; Syracuse Community Health Center Inc.; UCP of Utica Area; and University Hospital SUNY Health Science.

Many key informants identified a shortage of dental care as a challenge in the community. This lack of primary care providers is evidenced by Health Professional Shortage Area (HPSA) designations, of which there are many in the CNYCC service area. Designated dental HPSAs in the region include the entire county of Lewis, and individuals eligible for Medicaid in Oswego County, the tribal population of the Oneida Nation in Madison County, and the City of Syracuse in Onondaga.<sup>20</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Designated HPSAs can be found at: http://hpsafind.hrsa.gov/HPSASearch.aspx



County	Dentists				
	#	Rate			
Cayuga	30	37.5			
Lewis	5	18.5			
Madison	23	31.3			
Oneida	127	54.1			
Onondaga	338	72.4			
Oswego	28	22.9			
NY State	14,035	72.4			
USA	183,286	59.4			
*Rate per 100,000 population					
Data source: AHRF 2012					

#### Table 25. Number of FTE Dentists per 100,000 Population -2012

Once again, according to the Health Resources Services Administration, Health Resources Files only Onondaga County has a dental provider to population rate that is higher than the State average. In most counties the rate is less than or equal to one-half of the State average. Table 25 shows the rates for each county.

Twenty-two of the 173 organizations that responded to the CNA's survey reported providing dental services. Dental providers were among the least represented among survey respondents. This fact supported a common theme among key informant interviews, that there is a significant shortage of dental providers, especially providers that take Medicaid, in the region.

#### Post-acute and long-term care services

#### Summary Description of Available Resources and Resource Capacity

**Nursing Homes.** According to data available from the New York State DOH, there are 45 nursing homes in the CNYCC service area.<sup>21</sup> A listing of these nursing home facilities by County is included in Appendix B. All of the 45 nursing homes that have 2012 data available from the Nursing Home Quality Initiative<sup>22</sup> are certified by both Medicare and Medicaid. Across these sites, there are 7,229 beds (approximately 160 beds per site) and an average self-reported occupancy rate of 94%. The lowest occupancy reported was 71% of beds.<sup>23</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Nursing Home Quality Initiative Data is available at: https://health.data.ny.gov/Health/Nursing-Home-Quality-Initiative-Beginning-2012/aruj-fgbm



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> A directory of nursing homes, by county, is available at: http://nursinghomes.nyhealth.gov/searches/region

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Nursing Home Quality Initiative Data is available at: https://health.data.ny.gov/Health/Nursing-Home-Quality-Initiative-Beginning-2012/aruj-fgbm

According to the NYS DOH, there will be a need for 6,435 residential health care facility (RHCF) beds in 2016.<sup>24</sup> Currently, there are 7,279 beds across the CNYCC service area, which means that there is a surplus of 844 nursing home beds. Overall, this is not dramatic surplus but the reality is that the beds are not well distributed, which means that some communities experience a large surplus, while others experience a shortage. The more urbanized areas in Oneida County (Utica) and Onondaga County (Syracuse) face large surpluses of beds compared to 2016 need, while Lewis, Madison, and Oswego have significant unmet need. As the "baby boomers" age over the next 10-15 years the proportion of older adults will increase and the gaps in long-term care that are experienced in some of the more rural areas will increase and become more problematic.

**Health Homes.** The Affordable Care Act created an optional Medicaid State Plan benefit for states to create Health Homes. Health Homes are designed to coordinate care for Medicaid beneficiaries with two or more chronic conditions, or one chronic condition and a risk of another condition, or one serious and persistent mental health condition. There are three designated Health Homes in the CNYCC region: Central New York Health Home Network (CNYHHN), Inc., Onondaga Case Management Services Inc., and St. Joseph's Hospital Health Center. These three Health Homes networks cover all counties in the CNYCC service area, except for St. Lawrence County.<sup>25</sup>

Medicaid Health Homes in CNYCC region	Health Home Service Area (Among CNYCC Counties)
CNYHHN (Central New York Health Home Network)	Cayuga, Lewis, Madison, Oneida
Onondaga Case Management Services Inc.	Cayuga, Madison, Onondaga, Oswego
St. Joseph's Hospital Health Center	Cayuga, Lewis, Madison, Onondaga, Oswego

Assisted Living Facilities. In addition to the list of Nursing Homes, the New York State Department of Health also keeps a directory of licensed assisted living programs. There are 12 such programs in the CNYCC service area. These programs include: North Brook Heights Home for Adults; Adirondack Manor HFA D.B.A. Willow Park HFA; Cedarbrook Village, Incorporated; Loretto Utica Center Enriched Housing Program; Presbyterian Residential Community; The Terrace at Woodland; Buckley Landing Enriched Housing Site #6; Loretto EHP #1 Bernardine Apartments; Loretto Village Apts. Enriched Housing Site #5; Manlius Home for Adults; Park Terrace at Radisson; and Sedgwick Heights.

## Quality of Care

In terms of quality in the nursing home setting, the average number of deficiencies, according to the last three certification years and last three years of complaint surveys, is 36 with a range of deficiencies

<sup>25</sup> Information on Medicaid Health Homes can be found at:

https://www.health.ny.gov/health\_care/medicaid/program/medicaid\_health\_homes/



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Estimates of Residential Health Care Facility Need and Capacity is available at:

https://www.health.ny.gov/facilities/nursing/rhcf\_bed\_need\_by\_county.htm

between 10 and 139.<sup>26</sup> On average, 58% of staff at the nursing homes had a flu vaccine, but this ranged dramatically from 14% to 96% of staff. Among the 43 sites with composite quality scores from 2012, the average score was 53 points out of 100. Six sites were in the top quintile (score of over 90.6 points), while 12, 10, 10, and 5 sites were in the second, third, fourth, and last quintiles respectively. Quintile performance is based on all nursing homes in the state.

## Public health and community based resources/services

#### Summary Description of Available Resources and Resource Capacity

The region' s county and municipal public health departments have been active participants in this assessment and are committed to be active as part of the region's DSRIP projects. The public health departments serve many functions from surveillance to assessment and planning to service delivery to screening, health education, and health promotion.

The public health departments are also often the conveners of community health organizations and many of the community health organizations detailed in this assessment already participate in regional community health coalitions. These coalitions are established mechanisms that share information and resources, set priorities, and work to coordinate activities across the spectrum of stakeholders to achieve common goals. In this way, the coalitions of existing organizations are an established resource that can be leveraged to implement DSRIP project goals. There are 8 coalitions in the CNYCC region. This includes Comprehensive Adolescent Pregnancy Prevention Projects, which operates in three separate counties, and Tobacco Free coalitions in Oswego and Onondaga. A list of these existing coalitions, including the service area and contact agency, is provided in Appendix B.

A key goal of the DSRIP program is to identify community-based resources and ensure linkages between health care-focused and community resources. Community resources were identified in the survey. A total of 44 organizations reported that they provide community-based, non-medical services. These organizations have expertise serving homeless (57%); women, infants and children (57%); children with special health care needs (41%); migrants/seasonal farm workers (16%); refugees (20%); the uninsured (68%); and other populations (59%).

Compared to health care organizations, respondent non-medical organizations serve a more urban population, with an average of 43% of clients living in rural areas. On average, non-medical service organizations have a population that is 15% non-White, 4% Hispanic, 27% less than 18 years of age and 57% adult between 18 and 64 years.

The 44 PPS Survey respondent organizations that reported providing non-medical services include organizations that provide food bank services (6), housing (14), refugee assistance (2), transportation (7), advocacy (16), peer support (17), and community health education (15). The organizations include one YMCA, and six health departments not offering medical services. The organizations represent 158

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Nursing Home Quality Initiative Data is available at: https://health.data.ny.gov/Health/Nursing-Home-Quality-Initiative-Beginning-2012/aruj-fgbm



distinct sites that serve an estimated 280,218 patients annually. However, not all of these sites are located in the six counties in the PPS service area; some service sites are located in the original set of eleven counties.

**Transportation Service Providers.** Across the 44 organizations that provide non-medical services, 37 reported barriers to serving their consumers. Of those 37, 24 (65%) identified transportation as a major barrier to serving low-income consumers. While transportation services are available - seven out of 173 respondent organizations reported providing transportation in the PPS partner survey, including three organizations that provide food bank services, five that offer housing, one YMCA, two health departments, and four advocacy organizations (not mutually exclusive) – it is evident by the agreement across respondents that the current availability of transportation is insufficient. The lack of bus transportation options and limited transportation to rural areas in particular were specifically noted as transportation gaps.

**Food Banks.** There were six respondent organizations that provide food bank services, in addition to other services: Rescue Mission in Utica, Rescue Mission in Syracuse, Cayuga/Seneca Community Action Agency, Catholic Charities of Onondaga, Catholic Charities of Herkimer, and Catholic Charities of Oswego. These six organizations provide key services in urban centers with concentrated poverty: Syracuse, Auburn, Fulton, and Utica. Beyond these urban centers, the reported service areas include all of Cayuga, Herkimer, Oneida, Onondaga, and Oswego Counties. All six organizations have expertise providing services to homeless individuals, and there is also expertise providing services to the uninsured (3), women, infants, and children (4), children with special health care needs (2), individuals with mental health needs (2), and one each to migrants, elderly, and refugees. While all six food bank organizations indicated that they offer care coordination services (primarily focused on connecting homeless individuals to housing, jobs, treatment etc.), all six also indicated that transportation is the major barrier that prevents them from being able to provide services to consumers. Three of the six food bank organizations also offer transportation services.

In addition to the organizations that completed the PPS Partner Survey, the Food Bank of Central New York is located in Syracuse. Food Bank of Central New York is a non-profit that partners with 252 emergency food programs in Cayuga, Chenango, Cortland, Herkimer, Jefferson, Lewis, Madison, Oneida, Onondaga, Oswego, and St. Lawrence counties. The Food Bank's initiatives include Food \$en\$s, a food buying club designed to help consumers stretch their food dollars, and investments in local farmers, container gardens for low-income individuals, and connecting families to Farmers' Markets to improve access to fresh fruits and vegetables.

**Housing.** Thirteen organizations that responded to the survey indicated that they provide housing services: Kids Oneida, Rescue Mission in Utica and Syracuse, Cayuga/Seneca Community Action Agency, Herkimer ARC, Syracuse Brick House, d/b/a Syracuse Behavioral Healthcare, Loretto, Oswego County Department of Social Services Division of Mental Hygiene, Catholic Charities of Onondaga County, Catholic Charities of Herkimer County, Central New York Services, Inc., Liberty Resources, Inc., United Helpers / Northern Lights, Catholic Charities Of Oswego. These housing organizations are generally located in urban areas with concentrated poverty and homelessness: Utica, Syracuse, Auburn, Oswego,



Ogdensburg, Rome, Oneida, and Fulton. Their reported service areas also include Cayuga, Madison, Oneida, Onondaga, and Oswego counties.

Thirteen of fourteen organizations have expertise providing services to homeless individuals, and there is also expertise providing services to the uninsured (9), women, infants, and children (9), children with special health care needs (5), individuals with mental health needs (6), refugees (2), migrants (1), and the elderly (1). Six housing providers offer advocacy and six offer peer support, while five offer transportation services. Nine organizations also identified lack of transportation as a primary barrier to providing services. In addition to transportation, the lack of available beds/long waiting lists was a significant barrier to providing services to consumers in need. In addition to the partners that completed the PPS Partner Survey, a number of other housing resources exist, including Housing Authorities in Oneida, Rome, Syracuse, and Utica.

**YMCA.** There are 14 YMCAs in the CNY PPS region, covering all but Lewis County. None of the YMCAs in the PPS service area completed the PPS Partner Survey (there was one YMCA respondent from outside the service area). Services and programs offered by the YMCAs are available publically on their websites. Some of the services offered by YMCAs in the region include: domestic and sexual violence crisis services, emergency transitional housing for domestic violence victims, housing and support for runaway and homeless girls, violence prevention education (YWCA Mohawk Valley), flu shots (Auburn), child care (Auburn, YMCA of the Greater Tri-Valley), academic support, SAT/ACT preparation classes, tutoring, leadership development, health screenings, diabetes prevention services (Greater Syracuse), and women empowerment activities (YWCA of Syracuse and Onondaga), among many other services.

## Summary of Resources Available Across the Region

Table 26 provides a summary of the resources available at the regional level, based on publically available data.



Type of	Known resources available in the region	Known gaps in resources
service		
Hospitals	<ul> <li>13 hospitals including (2,827 beds total)</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>6 community hospitals (688 beds)</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>4 regional medical centers (2002 beds)</li> </ul>	
	4 hospitals with 187 psychiatric beds	
	• 1Veterans Admin. hospital with 106 beds	
Outpatient	8 Federally Qualified Health Center	HPSA designations:
primary	organizations	Low income Individuals eligible for
care	215 NCQA-certified PCMHs	Medicaid in various areas of Cayuga,
	96 hospital-based/extension clinics	Madison, Oneida (Utica), and Onondaga
	37 Diagnostic and treatment centers	(Syracuse)
Behavioral	280 Mental/behavioral health programs	HPSA designations:
health	including	Entire counties of Lewis, Madison, and
	• 13 inpatient	Oswego
	35 outpatient	Individuals eligible for Medicaid in
	• 9 emergency	Oneida
	• 59 residential	Tribal population Oneida Nation in
	• 164 supportive (e.g., care coordination,	Madison County
	vocation, self-help, and education)	
Dental	14 Article 28 dental organizations (18 sites)	HPSA designations:
		Entire county of Lewis
		Low income pops. in Oswego County
		Tribal population Oneida Nation in
		Madison County
		<ul> <li>Syracuse city in Onondaga</li> </ul>
Long-term	45 Nursing Homes	Residential health care facility need in 2016:
care	12 Licensed assisted living programs	6,435. There is a surplus of 844 beds
		compared to expected need of 7,279 beds.
		But distribution is uneven and there are
		shortages in more rural areas. Gaps
		expected by 2020 as "Baby Boomers" age.
Non-	8 community coalitions	
medical	6 CAAs	
services	5 ARCs	
	14 YMCAs	

## Table 26. Summary of Regionally Available Resources


# **IV. RECOMMENDED PROGRAMMATIC STRATEGIES**

# Strategy 1: Strengthen and expand ambulatory care operations, including primary care, behavioral health, and oral health care services

Ambulatory care services, including primary care, behavioral health, and oral health care services, must be strengthened and capacity expanded if the overall health system is to improve the communities' overall health status, increase overall quality of services, and reduce costs, including inappropriate hospital utilization. The Community Needs Assessment findings identified very high rates of Prevention Quality Indicators (PQIs) (hospital inpatient utilization), Potentially Preventable Visits (PPVs) (hospital emergency department utilization), and proportions of Medicaid beneficiaries using hospital emergency departments in the past 12 months when compared to Upstate New York and New York State averages. These rates were particularly high and pervasive in the more rural areas in the northern portion of the CNYCC service as well as in the eastern portion. Key informant interviews also consistently highlighted shortages in primary medical, behavioral health, and oral health care services as one of the leading health care challenges, particularly in more rural areas, as well as the need for strengthening operations with respect to PCMH, care coordination, services integration, and the use of evidence-based practice. Finally, there were very high levels of morbidity and mortality, particularly with respect to chronic medical and behavioral health conditions, which is suggestive of the need for more intense chronic disease management activities. For many of the recommendations provided here, refer to Table 20 on page 54, Primary Care Internal Operations Strengths and Weaknesses for more information.

### a. Strengthen ambulatory care operations with an eye towards the Triple Aim

Initially, ambulatory care strengthening efforts should focus on enhancing internal clinical and administrative operations and systems. Specifically, these efforts should be geared to achieving the Triple Aim of: 1) improving quality of care and the overall health of the population; 2) enhancing the patient experience; and 3) creating efficient, cost-effective operations. The range of possible operational advancements in this regard is broad in nature and includes activities to enhance internal operations and external provider partnerships. The goal of these efforts is to create patient-centered, coordinated, integrated, service delivery approaches that focus on quality, safety, and access.



Figure 14: Triple Aim

## b. Expand primary care capacity

Despite the recent growth in primary care capacity, specifically the growth in FQHC and hospital-based provider capacity, targeted efforts still need to be made to build primary care capacity to fill geographic gaps, meet the needs of specific demographic/socio-economic population segments, and address specific health status issues. It is particularly important to expand primary care safety net capacity to



ensure that those who are Medicaid insured or uninsured have access to care. This should be accomplished through a multi-pronged strategy that focuses first on maximizing existing primary care capacity then on adding additional providers or practice sites, as appropriate.

Existing practice sites should first explore whether an unmet need can be addressed by decreasing patient no-shows, improving provider and patient scheduling, refining patient flow, developing primary care pods, creating interdisciplinary teams, or other ways that increase productivity and maximize existing capacity.<sup>27</sup> The Community Health Care Association of New York State (CHCANYS) developed a statewide plan in 2013 that details how community health centers should expand capacity. This document contains valuable information for primary care practices everywhere.

Additional primary care capacity should be attained, as needed, by filling provider vacancies, promoting broader participation in the State's Medicaid program among private practitioners, adding providers at existing clinic practices, and when feasible developing new primary care practices. Inevitably, expansion efforts will occur through the actions of individual practice sites. However, these actions should be considered in collaboration with the full health care system. Ideally, efforts will be based on a community or market-level plan in the context of developing a strong, collaborative, integrated delivery system that coordinates the full spectrum of required public health, health care, and social services for all who need them.

Communities must ensure that there is a thriving safety-net practice or group of practices that are geographically focused on serving all-comers and that are committed to and capable of serving all residents regardless of their ability to pay. These core providers are an important asset and must be supported by the community at-large. However, in order to develop a system of care that is able to provide access to all in need, most communities in Central New York will need to apply a multi-pronged approach that not only focuses on the expanding FQHCs and other safety net practices but also supports the development of a broad range of providers. In many markets, the core safety-net providers are left to serve a disproportionate number of the uninsured, which often makes it challenging for them to survive. Providers must develop systems and partnerships to share this burden. Specific efforts must be made to support the free clinics in Onondaga County because they are critical to the county's safety-net.

### c. Expand behavioral health care capacity

The National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH) stated in a 2008 report that an estimated 26.2 percent of Americans ages eighteen and older—about one in four adults—suffer from a diagnosable mental disorder in a given year, which translates into 57.7 million people.<sup>28</sup> Data from the CNY CNA fully corroborates these findings and details the substantial impact that behavioral health issues have on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> http://www.milbank.org/uploads/documents/10430EvolvingCare/EvolvingCare.pdf



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> The Community Health Care Association of New York State (CHCANYS), with support from the New York State Health Foundation, has developed a <u>statewide plan for community health centers</u> to increase their ability to serve more patients. Based on extensive quantitative and qualitative analyses, the plan identifies geographic areas that have the greatest need and potential for sustainable growth, estimates potential increases in capacity within the existing system, and highlights strategies for creating more capacity.

health status and inappropriate hospital utilization in the CNYCC service area. As discussed above, steps need to be taken to strengthen operational capacity (e.g., no-show rates, application of evidencedbased practice, screening/assessment, patient flow, etc.) across all ambulatory care settings, including behavioral health care settings. In addition, one of the most consistent themes across the provider/consumer interviews and focus groups and the quantitative data was the need to expand access to mental health and substance abuse services across the region. Virtually no community was left untouched in this regard.

As with primary care, it is particularly important to ensure that behavioral health service capacity is available for those who are Medicaid insured or uninsured. This should be accomplished through a multi-pronged strategy that focuses first on maximizing existing capacity then on adding additional providers or practice sites, as appropriate. Additional capacity should be attained by filling provider vacancies, promoting broader participation in the State's Medicaid program among private practitioners, promoting telemedicine and other consultation models, promoting behavioral health/primary care integration, adding providers at existing clinic practices, and when appropriate and feasible developing new behavioral health ambulatory care practices.

Specific steps should be taken to integrate mental health and substance abuse screening, referral, and treatment services within the primary care setting. This type of primary care integration is particularly effective for those with mild to moderate conditions. It is equally important that steps be taken to expand access to primary care medical services within outpatient behavioral health settings, particularly for those with moderate to serious conditions. A range of models or integration strategies have proven in the literature to be effective including: 1) co-location of primary care and behavioral services with either the primary care setting as the locus or the behavioral health care setting as the locus; 2) enhanced referral relationships that promote provider/patient communication and ensure that patient care is well coordinated, even if care is not co-located, 3) primary care provider training models that promote greater primary care provider involvement in counseling and medication management, and 4) telemedicine initiatives that address shortages in psychiatric services.

Efforts to expand service capacity need to go hand-in-hand with efforts to promote screening and assessment so that the CNYCC capacity can match demand and need for services. The following are a range of strategies drawn from the assessment's findings that will address unmet need, fill gaps in capacity, improve health status, and ultimately reduce inappropriate utilization.

## d. Expand oral health care capacity

Another consistent theme from the assessment's provider/consumer interviews and focus groups, the consumer survey, and the quantitative data was the need to expand oral health service capacity. While there is ample capacity in many communities for those who are commercially insured there is extremely limited capacity for oral health services for those who are Medicaid insured or uninsured. As with behavioral health care services, efforts need to be made to expand access and capacity in this area as well. Once again, a multi-pronged strategy is appropriate that focuses on filling vacancies in dental providers, integrating oral health services within existing safety net clinic operations, promoting broader



participation in the State's Medicaid program among private practitioners, and developing new dental safety net practices when appropriate and feasible.

#### e. Promote primary care engagement in a patient-centered medical home

Communities and primary care practice sites need to collaborate in an effort to reach out to the community at-large to promote healthy behaviors, provide health education, and promote primary care engagement. As mentioned, a portion of the unmet need in communities throughout the region is due to limited primary care capacity and/or lack of after-hours care. However, according to information from JSI's interviews and site visits, a significant portion of the unmet need is associated with a lack of consumer engagement in care and a lack of appreciation for regular primary care services. Promoting appropriate engagement in primary care is particularly important for people with health risk factors and/or chronic health conditions. For people with chronic conditions or specific risk factors, it is important that the education be augmented with counseling on disease management, behavior change, and self-management.

There are numerous evidence-based outreach and engagement programs that target the community atlarge as well as those with chronic illness or certain risk factors. See evidence provided in recommendation Section 1a.

#### f. Support initiatives that promote primary care provider recruitment and retention

Recruitment and retention would benefit from a regional approach drawing on the expertise of state and national agencies and organizations that are closely involved in provider training and development (e.g. CHCANYS, Area Health Education Centers (AHEC), NYS Primary Care Office, Association of Clinicians for the Underserved, and National Health Service Corps). Recruiting and retaining clinical staff is an essential prerequisite to stabilizing and enhancing the primary care system. Most hospitals, health care systems, and group practice settings in the region struggle to recruit physicians and fill gaps in their clinical staffing. This issue is not unique to central New York; it is an issue that providers in largely rural areas face throughout the nation. Additionally, providers could share resources and/or develop a tool kit to guide the recruitment and retention process and help practices be more prepared and involved in this process. Finally, regional stakeholders could develop a resource center that would work collectively on behalf of the region's practices to support the recruitment process, as occurred in Minnesota through a RWJF grant.

# Strategy 2: Develop care management and care coordination initiatives focused on those with chronic illness and/or those who are high utilizers of services

Care coordination as well as evidence-based care management and palliative care activities focused on those with emerging or already complex chronic conditions as well as those who are otherwise high utilizers of services are critical to improving overall health status, reducing costs, and addressing DSRIP goals. Findings above highlight the high rates of chronic conditions and the fact that hospital emergency department and inpatient utilization is dominated by patients with chronic medical and behavioral health conditions. According to the literature and information collected from our community needs



assessment, the most significant contributors to poor health status and high costs, including inappropriate utilization are: lack of evidenced-based care, poor communication among health and social service providers, lack of early detection and screening, failure to address behavioral health issues, fragmentation of care/lack of coordination, and ineffective transitional services from hospital and post-acute settings. A multi-pronged strategy that: 1) addresses the range of care management and care coordination issues across the ambulatory, hospital, and post-acute settings, 2) involves a broad range of other community-based agencies, and 3) works over time to address the underlying social and environmental determinants of poor health that are barriers to improving health status and reducing costs.

# a. Develop care management and care coordination initiatives in ambulatory care settings, particularly in primary care and behavioral health service settings

Care coordination, care management, and palliative care programs in the ambulatory care settings, including primary care practice settings, involve the identification of high-utilizers, proactive management of patient care, and sharing of information between the patient and all the providers involved. Ultimately the goal is to encourage self-management and promote more coordinated, efficient, patient-centered care. Many care management and care coordination programs focus on identifying and managing the care of high-cost, frequent utilizers (e.g., diabetics, asthmatics, those with depression and substance abuse issues) that too often end up in hospital emergency departments or inpatient settings. Care management goals, linking patients to community resources, monitoring follow-up, and helping with care transitions. These programs can be and are often imbedded within PCMH programs.

## b. Develop emergency department initiatives targeted at super utilizers.

One of the core findings of the CNA is the fact that large proportions of the population use the hospital emergency department as their regular source of primary or lack an understanding of the importance of regular primary care and preventive services. Care management and care coordination initiatives in the emergency department setting are often designed to identify high utilizers who are uninsured, not linked to primary care services at all, and/or are infrequent utilizers of primary care services. Such programs are particularly effective if they implemented in conjunction with case management based out of the primary care setting. In this way, the ED is used to triage super-utilizers to the case management program and community-based primary care settings.

## c. Improve care-transitions/discharge planning for all patients.

Across the region, poor discharge planning was identified as a barrier to preventing avoidable readmissions. In addition, high rates of PPRs, PQIs and PPVs are also indicative of the need to focus on transitions. Activities that support smooth transitions include conducting a whole-person assessment, arranging for and promoting timely follow-up visits and services, providing evidence-based palliative care, communicating with receiving providers, better managing medications, using a checklist to ensure delivery of all services, and engaging the patient and family/caregivers in developing a care plan. The



data also highlights the importance of screening for behavioral health issues and making sure that behavioral health specialists are involved in the discharge process. Improved data sharing capacity will also result in improved care transitions.

# Strategy 3: Promote population-based approaches to community health and primary care engagement in a patient-centered medical home

The findings also highlight the importance of developing broad collaborative activities involving health care providers (including primary care), state/local public health officials, social service organizations, educators, business leaders, and philanthropic organizations that are focused on improving population-based health outcomes and engaging individuals and families in appropriate primary care. There is growing appreciation in the health care field of the need for communities to address health care disparities, improve its overall health status, and reduce health care costs, including inappropriate hospital utilization. To do so, communities need to develop a shared agenda and implement targeted, integrated efforts that build on existing programs and assets. There also needs to be evaluative metrics and a community-based infrastructure that guides and monitors these activities.<sup>29</sup>

### a. Promote population-based approaches to community health

Figure 15, developed by the University of Wisconsin's Population Health Institute, illustrates the importance of taking action at the community-level to improve health status, reduce mortality, and

reduce inappropriate utilization. Increasingly, the literature shows that clinical care has a limited impact on improving health outcomes and keeping people healthy. As a result, new service delivery and payment reform efforts, like DSRIP, are being designed to entice providers to keep patients well and improve health outcomes rather than provide specific clinical care or treatment services. Certainly, a well-integrated system of care is essential to keeping communities healthy. However, the greatest impact comes from addressing the physical environment and social/economic factors as well as changing risky health-related behaviors.

Communities that have showed the most

promising results are taking a two-fold approach.



Figure 15: Social Determinants of Health and Primary Care

First, they are working to ensure that residents have access to a well-integrated system of care that:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Hanleybrown, F., Kania, J., Kramer, M. Channeling Change: Making Collective Impact Work. Stanford Social Innovation Review. 2012



- Gives residents access to appropriate primary care, behavioral health, and oral health services.
- Integrates a broad range of specialty care, inpatient, long-term care, and home-based services that individuals and families need throughout the life-cycle.
- Promotes care coordination, care management, and patient/family self-management, particularly for children, frail elders, and people with complex or chronic conditions.
- Delivers services across the full spectrum in a patient-centered manner.

Second, communities and integrated delivery systems that include primary care are working to improve physical environments, address social/economic factors, and implement targeted community health programs that:

- Educate residents and raise awareness about key health issues.
- Identify people at risk, particular those who have chronic disease or the leading chronic disease risk factors.
- Provide evidence-based support for behavior change and disease management.
- Link all community residents, especially those most at risk, to regular, appropriate primary care services in a patient-centered medical home.

b. Develop programs and evidencebased interventions geared to addressing HIV/AIDS and other sexually transmitted infections as well as maternal and child health outcomes



Figure 16: Approaches to Community Health

County Health Rankings model ©2012 UWPHI

As discussed above, the prevalence of chronic medical and behavioral health conditions, along with the health and behavioral risk factors that are associated with these conditions, are disproportionately higher in the CNY Care Collaborative's service areas when compared to Upstate New York and New York



State averages. A broad strategy of health education and health promotion combined with efforts to promote appropriate engagement in preventive and primary care services is recommended. A review of the data reveals that maternal and child health indicators related to pre-term birth, infant mortality and appropriate prenatal care need special attention as the rates in many of the region's counties are substantially worse than the Upstate end New York rates. Likewise, the rates of HIV/AIDS and other sexually transmitted infections, particularly in Syracuse and Utica are much higher than rates in Upstate New York and New York State overall. There are dedicated organizations to provide HIV/AIDS services and support people living with HIV/AIDS. AIDS Community Resources is one key resource, providing case management, care management, risk reduction/education, linguistic support, transportation, psychosocial support services, supportive housing, and treatment education in several counties in the PPS service area. Other medical and non-medical service providers are included in the list of county resources available in Appendix B.

# c. Support the development of registries and other HIT tools to identify and promote primary care engagement, care coordination and chronic disease management

Safety-net practices in the region would benefit from support that would allow them to share information between practice sites and explore how to use their EHRs to ensure that patients are fully engaged in their care, receive tailored follow-up, and the most appropriate case/care management services. Based on a recent issue brief published by the Center for Health Care Strategies (CHCS)<sup>30</sup>, approximately 60 percent of physicians work in practices with four or fewer providers, and roughly 65 percent of all physician office visits occur in practices of this size. These national statistics reflect the characteristics of central New York's primary care safety-net. Smaller practices of this type usually don't have the staff to research and support the implementation of registries and use of all of the functionalities of their EHRs. Information gathered by JSI corroborates these findings. Key stakeholders interviews and consumer discussions emphasized the lack of coordinated care between inpatient and outpatient providers as well as between primary care and behavioral health services.

Practice sites would also benefit from the formal implementation of primary care engagement, care management, and palliative care protocols/interventions that leverage their EHRs to identify and manage their chronic disease patients. Another issue brief developed by CHCS highlights the lessons and best practice programs from a national pilot.<sup>31</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Key Factors for Improving Care Delivery in Small Primary Care Practices with High Medicaid Volume, <u>http://www.chcs.org/usr\_doc/Key\_Factors\_for\_Improving\_Care\_in\_Small\_Primary\_Care\_Practices.pdf</u>



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> http://www.chcs.org/usr\_doc/Supporting\_Meaningful\_Use\_Brief.pdf

## Strategy 4: Enhance transportation services for high-need populations.

There is a marked lack of public transportation across the region, particularly outside of Syracuse. This fact combined with the reality that poverty rates are high for large proportions of the population means that many people have limited transportation options and face substantial barriers to accessing care. It is important to note, however, that this is not merely an issue for those who need to get to health care appointments but also has a major impact with respect to following through on treatment regimens, getting to follow-up appointments with specialists, filling drug prescriptions, going to the grocery store for healthy foods, and doing other regular activities of daily living. Key informants also mentioned the challenges that providers experienced getting to practice sites or getting to home health settings. Investment in systems or partnerships that address transportation barriers, particularly for those with chronic conditions, would increase the proportion of patients whose conditions are properly identified and controlled. These systems could reduce inappropriate transfers.

# Strategy 5: Develop care management programs within public, low income or transitional housing settings for low income or homeless populations.

A key finding from the CNA's key informant interviews and focus groups highlighted the need for care management programs designed specifically for those who are homeless or live in unstable housing situations. These programs are designed specifically for a high utilizing cohort and are focused on ensuring that homeless patients are provided with stable housing as an integral part of their care transition plans. Housing is relatively inexpensive compared to providing inappropriate care in the emergency department or unnecessary inpatient admissions. Thus, investing in housing as a means to prevent readmissions is a cost-effective solution. The Housing First model, implemented in Seattle and Chicago, has proven that providing transitional housing services can improve health outcomes and reduce health care costs.



## **V. METHODOLOGY**

## A. DSRIP Performance Data Methods

#### **Abstracted Data**

Data matrices were organized in accordance to the domains specified by the New York State Department of Health's *Guidance for Conducting Community Needs Assessment Required for DSRIP Planning Grants and Final Project Plan Applications.* "System Transformation Metrics" were contained in Domain 2, "Clinical Improvement Metrics" in Domain 3, and prevention-related metrics in Domain 4.

Population demographics and population health status were detailed in Domain 2 subdomains, 2Bi and 2Bii respectively. Domain 2Bii was further divided into nine subdomains (2Bii1-2Bii9).

All data that were included in the matrices were collected at the county level, with some additional analyses conducted at the Zip Code level when specified. As available, matrices included 5-year longitudinal (2008-2012), state, upstate (state not including NYC), and best performing county data. Matrices were conditionally formatted to highlight counties performing worse than the state and/or worse than upstate. Red cells designate a county value worse than both NY State and NY Upstate values; blue cells designate a county value worse than the Upstate value; yellow cells designate a county value worse than the NY State value; bold lettering within a cell indicates that both upstate and state comparison values were not available; and underline lettering within a cell indicates that either upstate or state comparison values were not available. Conditional formatting was only applied to most recent data—in most cases, this is 2012.

When data was not available from the source, it was labeled as not available with an "NA." Data sources also designated whether the value was unstable with a "\*" or if collected data did not meet reporting criteria with an "s." Metadata was appended in the notes column as available.

Between 20% and 100% of all data values, including NA values, were checked for accuracy by an analyst different than the data entry analyst. Data checks were selected randomly on a by-column basis.

#### Methods for Tables 1-5 of County Narrative Reports

Table 1, Demographic Information, corresponds to the guidance's domain 2Bi. The data source is the U.S. Census Bureau's American Community Survey, 5-Year Estimates for the years 2008-2012.

Table 2, Leading Causes of Premature Death, corresponds to the guidance's domain 2Bii1. The data source is Vital Statistics Data as of March, 2014, located within the Leading Causes of Death by County, New York State, 2012 spreadsheet on the New York State Department of Health's County Health Statistics webpage. County rates were compared to the Upstate NY rate value for each condition.



Table 3, Leading Causes of Hospitalization, corresponds to the guidance's domain 2Bii2. The data source is 2010-2012 SPARCS Data, located on spreadsheets accessible through the New York State Community Health Indicator Reports (CHIRS) webpage. Data from these spreadsheets was compiled longitudinally and sorted by rate in 2011. County rates were compared to the Upstate NY rate value for each cause of hospitalization.

Table 4, Population Health Indicators and Major Health Risk Factors, corresponds to the guidance's domains 2Bii6 and 2Bii7. The data sources included are: Pregnancy Nutrition Surveillance System WIC Program data (as of July, 2012) and 2009-2011 Vital Statistics Data (as of February, 2013), 2009-2011 NYS Department of Motor Vehicles Data (as of July, 2013), 2009-2011 SPARCS Data (as of February, 2013), and 2010-2012 Student Weight Status Category Reporting System Data (as of July, 2013)—all located on spreadsheets accessible through the New York State Community Health Indicator Reports (CHIRS) that report Community Health Assessment Indicators (CHAI) webpage. Table 4 also contains Expanded BRFSS data July 2008 – June 2009, accessible through the County-Specific Prevention Agenda Reports and County-Specific Report - Expanded BRFSS July 2008 - June 2009 webpages.

Table 5, Access to Health Care, corresponds to the guidance's domains 2Bii8. The data source is Expanded BRFSS data July 2008 – June 2009, accessible through the County-Specific Prevention Agenda Reports and County-Specific Report - Expanded BRFSS July 2008 - June 2009 webpages.

## Methods for Tables 6-11 of County Narrative Reports

Data on service utilization, prevalence of chronic conditions, leading causes of ER visits and inpatient admissions, as well as adult and pediatric Prevention Quality Indicators (PQIs/PDIs), potentially preventable readmission (PPR) and potentially preventable emergency room visits (PPV) rates for the Medicaid population were obtained from Health Data NY. Other data sources included the Salient New York State Medicaid DSRIP Dashboards and DSRIP Performance Chartbooks. Data were available at the county and/or zip-code level. Data pertaining to the PPS counties, overall New York State and upstate NY were selected and included in the analyses.

For the service utilization data (Table 6), the 2013 primary care data from the NYS DSRIP Dashboard #8 and 2012 Emergency Room and Inpatient Admissions data from Health Data NY (file name, "Medicaid Beneficiaries, Inpatient Admissions and Emergency Room Visits by Zip Code: Beginning 2012") were used. Data were aggregated from the zip code level to the county level for the number of unique members served and total number of visits indicators. The percent of county members with a visit was calculated as the number of unique members with a visit divided by the total number of members in the county and multiplied by 100. The number of visits per member was calculated by dividing the total number of visits by the total number of members in the county. Calculated variables were benchmarked against state-wide data.



For chronic conditions and leading causes of ER visits and inpatient admissions (Tables 7-9), one data set from Health Data NY was used (file name, "Medicaid Chronic Conditions, Inpatient Admissions and Emergency Room Visits by Zip Code: Beginning 2012"). The data were limited to the counties of interest and aggregated up to the county level. Additionally, the Episode Disease Categories were categorized into Condition Categories in order to group similar diagnoses (see Appendix B for details). For Table 7, the percent of members with the condition was calculated as the number of members in the county with the condition divided by the number of members in the county multiplied by 100. In tables 8 and 9 the visits/admissions per member was calculated as the total number of visits/admission by condition divided by the number of members in the condition. For tables 7-9 the table was ranked in descending order by the calculated variable, which was benchmarked against state-wide data.

For the adult and pediatric PQIs and PDIs (Table 10), the Medicaid Inpatient Prevention Quality Indicators for Adult Discharges: Beginning 2011 by Patient County & by Patient Zip Code files from Health Data NY were used. For the potentially preventable emergency room visits data, the files Medicaid Potentially Preventable Emergency Visits (PPV): Beginning 2011 by Patient County & Patient Zip Code from Health Data NY were used. The 2012 risk-adjusted rate per 100,000 people for each PQI/PDI measure and the risk-adjusted PPV rate per 100 people for the selected counties were compared to the overall NYS and upstate NY rates. A rank order of the 11 counties by the composite PQIs and PDIs and PPV rates were done for cross-county comparisons.

For potentially preventable readmissions (Table 11), the Medicaid Hospital Inpatient Potentially Preventable Readmission Rates by Hospital: Beginning 2011 file from Health Data NY was used. The 2012 PPR rates for hospitals that were identified within the PPS counties were selected and compared to the statewide PPR rate. For counties with multiple hospitals, hospitals were ranked by their PPR rate from highest to lowest.

For all measures and indicators, where available, zip code level analyses and GIS mapping were used to identify areas within counties with higher rates or lower performance than the county average.

All data used were publicly available and de-identified. Statistical analyses were conducted in SAS 9.3 (Cary, NC).

# **B. Condition Categorization of Episode Disease Categories**

The Episode Disease Categories were categorized into Condition Categories in order to group similar diagnoses using the following categories.



Angina and Ischemic Heart Disease

- Angina and Ischemic Heart Disease
- Unstable Angina

## Asthma

- Asthma
- Status Asthmaticus

Atrial Fibrillation, Cardiac Dysrhythmia, and Conduction Disorders

- Atrial Fibrillation
- Cardiac Dysrhythmia and Conduction Disorders

Bi-polar Disorder

- Bi-Polar Disorder
- Bi-Polar Disorder Severe

Cardiomyopathy, Congestive Heart Failure and Other Cardiovascular Major Diagnoses

- Cardiomyopathy
- Congestive Heart Failure
- Other Cardiovascular Diagnoses Major

Chronic Alcohol Abuse

- Chronic Alcohol Abuse
- Delirium Tremens

Chronic Bronchitis and other Chronic Pulmonary Diagnoses

- Chronic Bronchitis
- Other Chronic Pulmonary Diagnoses

## Chronic Mental Health Diagnoses

- Chronic Mental Health Diagnoses -Minor
- Chronic Mental Health Diagnoses -Moderate

COPD and Other Major Chronic Pulmonary Diagnoses

- Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease and Bronchiectasis
- Other Major Chronic Pulmonary Diagnoses

## Drug Abuse

- Cocaine Abuse
- Cocaine Abuse Continuous
- Drug Abuse Cannabis/NOS/NEC
- Drug Abuse Related Diagnoses
- Other Significant Drug Abuse
- Other Significant Drug Abuse -Continuous
- Opioid Abuse
- Opioid Abuse Continuous

## Congenital and Cardiac Defects/Anomalies

- Complex Cyanotic and Major Cardiac Septal Anomalies
- Other Major Congenital Heart Diagnoses Except Valvular
- Valvular Disorders
- Ventricular and Atrial Septal Defects

Conduct, Impulse Control, and Other Disruptive Behavior Disorders

- Conduct, Impulse Control, and Other Disruptive
- Behavior Disorders Conduct Disorder Severe

## Coronary Atherosclerosis

- Coronary Atherosclerosis
- Coronary Graft Atherosclerosis



Depression

- Depression
- Depressive Psychosis Severe
- Depressive and Other Psychoses

#### Diabetes

- Diabetes Diabetes Juvenile Onset
- Diabetes with Circulatory Complication
- Diabetic Coma
- Diabetic Ketoacidosis
- Diabetic Nephropathy
- Diabetic Neuropathy
- Diabetic Retinopathy
- Other Diabetic Complications

### Hypertension

- Hypertension
- Malignant and Other Significant Hypertension
- Pulmonary Hypertension

### Premature Birth

- Prematurity Birthweight 750 999 Grams
- Prematurity Birthweight < 1000 Grams
- Prematurity Birthweight < 750 Grams

### Schizophrenia

- Schizophrenia
- Schizophrenia Catatonia
- Schizophrenia Exacerbation

# **C.** Qualitative Methods

Qualitative data collection for the DSRIP program CNA project consisted of a two-part process, beginning with the creation and dissemination of a survey to assess organizational capacity, service areas, patient/consumer demographics, particular areas of expertise, and barriers. The second part of qualitative data collection involved a series of key informant interviews. Building on these two data sources, JSI also incorporated findings from past needs assessments during the review and analysis.

### **PPS Partner survey**

The purpose of the survey was to cast a wide net of potential partners and resources in the region. The audience for the PPS Partner Survey was identified as those organizations that the PPS had included as partners in their DSRIP planning application to NYS DOH. This original list, included in the application to NYS DOH, was used to create a list of PPS Partner Survey recipients. The list of partners included general partnering organizations, other partnering organizations, a list of physicians, and a list of pharmacy partners. Over 200 contacts received the survey.

The survey of key providers in the region assessed a number of service and capacity indicators. The survey was organized by service type, including inpatient, outpatient primary care, behavioral health (including outpatient, residential, and day treatment), dental, long-term care, and non-medical/community services. For each service type, the survey assessed patient population (in terms of payor mix and demographics), estimated full-time equivalent (FTE) capacity for medical and behavioral health providers, facility capacity in terms of number of distinct service sites and number of



unduplicated patients, progress in implementing health information technology, and current and expected capacity to serve both children and adults.

The survey was administered online and distributed via email to individuals identified by the PPS as key providers in the region. Contacts were organized according to the county in which they provided service. Organizations were contacted with an initial email and follow-up request three days later to complete the survey. Non-respondents and respondents with missing data were then contacted a third time by phone. This online survey also collected address information that was used to map partners, and capacity and services information to provide an understanding of available resources and remaining gaps.

A total of 173 organizations completed the survey between August 21 and September 30, 2014. This included 44 organizations that provide inpatient services, 37 organizations that provide outpatient primary care, 39 organizations that provide behavioral health outpatient services, 11 organizations that provide residential behavioral health services, 11 organizations that provide day treatment behavioral health services, 23 organizations that provide dental services, 43 organizations that provide long-term care services, and 47 organizations that provide non-medical services in the community. Many organizations provided multiple services.

### **Key Informant Interviews**

In follow up to the survey, a number of individuals were selected for key informant interviews. These interviews provided context for the data by focusing on perceived priority issues and root causes of hospital readmissions. Key informants included individuals representing hospital providers, other health providers, and community-based organizations. Interview guides were designed for each type of respondents, but in general the interview focused on an overview of the organization, perceived significant issues that influence health status, existing relationships between providers in the region to be leveraged, and recommendations for systems-level changes to improve access to and quality of health care services for clients in the region.

The PPS identified an initial list of key informant recommendations. These names were selected by the PPS because the organization was identified as a key partner for the DSRIP project (i.e., a key county provider identified in Table 15 of this report) and their insight was seen as key to developing the picture of needs and resources in the service area. Original contact lists consisted of the contact name, agency name, position title within their agency, phone number, and email address. The number of contacts included on each list varied by county, and included a mix of community based resource providers, other healthcare providers, or hospital providers. This contact information data was cross referenced with survey data, when relevant.

Key informant interviews were led by a lead interviewer based on the interview guide, which was provided in advance to the interviewees. Responses were uploaded to a database with all interview responses. The qualitative data analysis team maintained detailed records about recurring themes visible in each interview. Upon the identification of a new theme, the interviewers proceeded to explore



Central New York Care Collaborative (CNYCC) Community Needs Assessment the validity of said new theme in subsequent interviews. Each interviewee was asked to recommend other interviewees, thus expanding upon the initial contact list.

Throughout the KII process, the full team of interviewers routinely convened to provide progress updates and discuss any newly-identified themes. This full group also reported any identified gaps in interviewee type within each county. For example, some counties had an excess of other healthcare providers, but a noticeable lack of community based resource providers. Once the gap was identified, individual team members conducted further research in an attempt to identify possible contacts that could fill the existing information vacancy within their respective county teams. Finally, before producing a summary analysis report of findings taken from the interviews, the complete team of interviewers met to confirm the list of identified themes, overlapping and contrasting survey data with that collected through the KII process.

Key informant interviews were conducted in the month of September. In total, 77 key informant interviews were completed, including some from the original set of counties in the PPS service area. A total of 56 interviews were conducted within the final service area of six counties. These interviewees were diverse on a number of indicators. Interviews were conducted in several counties, including Cayuga (7), Cortland (9), Herkimer (7), Lewis (4), Madison (8), Oneida (14), Onondaga (14), Oswego (9), and St. Lawrence (5). Additionally, the interviewees were diverse in the type of organization they represented. Interviewees included 10 hospitals located in six different counties. The hospitals represented by interviewees were Lewis County General, Community Memorial, Crouse, St. Joseph's, Oswego (4 interviews), and Canton-Potsdam Hospitals. There were 37 interviews with other health care providers. These other health care providers included county agencies (health, aging, and mental health departments), federally-qualified health centers, Health Home agencies, case management organizations, and hospice providers, among others. Finally, there were 30 interviews with communitybased resources. These community based resources included ARC agencies, housing authorities, community action partnerships, community coalitions, rural health councils, the Salvation Army, and Catholic charities, among others. A list of interviewees, including name, organization, organization type, and county of location, can be found in Appendix I. The diversity in geography and organization type resulted in a saturation of themes surrounding resources and gaps in the service area.

### **Consumer Engagement Activities**

Input from consumers is a critical part of the CNY PPS. In-person consumer engagement activities were conducted in each of the CNY counties. These activities ranged from structured focus groups to guided listening sessions to individual interviews. Both JSI and Eric Mower and Associates (EMA) conducted consumer engagement activities. Discussions with consumers were guided by an interview protocol. The protocol encouraged discussion on access barriers including provider communication, care coordination, and experience locating services.

Participants were recruited by partnership agencies in each County. Agencies included community organizations and mental health providers, among others. Participating agencies included: Central New York Adult Homes Inc., Cayuga County Mental Health Center, Liberty Resources, CazCares, Catholic



Central New York Care Collaborative (CNYCC) Community Needs Assessment Charities, Hutchings Member Support Center, Sunrise Recovery Center, Faxton-St. Lukes Hospital and their Partner Advisory Committee members, Oswego Health, Lewis County Health department, North Regional Center for Independent Living, and the Human Services Center. These agencies were geographically spread to increase access to participants and ensure diverse perspectives. Agencies recruited participants either by asking patients who were attending the site for a visit to participate in a group or individual interview, or by active outreach to agency participants. In all over 100 individuals provided input on their experiences with the health care system. Participants in these activities were predominantly Medicaid recipients with a significant number also being covered by Medicare. The latter group of dually eligible was a combination of seniors and persons with developmental disabilities.

Several common themes emerged from the consumer input. These themes have been discussed and incorporated throughout the report, but are reiterated here as those that were of particular importance to consumers.

- Transportation is a significant problem with long wait times and inconsistent service from the "Medicaid taxis"
- Persons with mental health issues related feeling uncomfortable and made to feel "strange" when accessing primary care and other non-mental health services
- There is little communication between the various health care providers lack of discharge planning and primary care knowing what behavioral health providers are doing
- Finding providers who take Medicaid is often difficult. This is particularly true for oral health care.
- Eye care is hard to access Medicare does not pay for glasses
- There is a lack of knowledge about what resources are available in the community

## Western and Central New York Low Income Consumer Survey (2013)

In 2013, JSI developed and implemented a Central New York Consumer Access Survey (CNYCSS). The 2013 Central New York Consumer Access Survey (CNYCS) was developed to understand consumer experience related to using primary care services in the region. The primary objective is to understand gaps in services encountered by adults accessing care for themselves and/or children. The survey questions, which were designed to mirror and complement the qualitative interviews with providers and other key informants, assesses consumers' experience scheduling appointments, reaching providers by phone, and ability to communicate with providers to access care and a medical home. The survey covered general health access barriers such as insurance status and communication as well as specific barriers to different types of medical services. The survey was designed based on the 2007 Western New York Consumer Access Survey (WNYCAS), which was developed primarily by drawing questions from existing state and national health surveys. Where questions were not available to address specific issues of interest to HFWCNY, JSI adapted similar questions from previous JSI surveys.

The goal of survey distribution was to capture families in two distinct groups: 1) those waiting for services and affiliated with one of the community health centers or other pediatric providers that serve



low-income families; and 2) families in the community whose status related to the safety-net utilization were unknown. The survey was distributed face-to-face to parents at community agencies, events, and provider offices with the cooperation of numerous organizations and individuals across the central New York region. A total of 531 surveys were collected from September through October 2013.

The findings of this survey were used to inform the data collection for the DSRIP application. The results of the survey were discussed thoroughly in the 2013, and the executive summary of the findings of this report are included as Appendix D. The detailed review of the results of the CNY Consumer Access Survey is included in Appendix E.

## Central New York Safety Net Assessment (2013)

In 2013, JSI with the support of the Health Foundation of Western and Central New York, conducted a primary care and safety net assessment in Central New York that focused on eight counties in Central New York including all of the counties that are part of the CNYCC's service area. This assessment involved the following eight counties: Cayuga, Cortland, Herkimer, Madison, Oneida, Onondaga, and Oswego. JSI used both quantitative and qualitative methods to identify key gaps in the safety net in this region at the zip code level. The analysis included characterizing safety net providers, the Medicaid population, health status and indicators of inappropriate care, rates of admission and rates of discharge across the eight included counties. The key findings of this report also served as the foundation for this needs assessment for the DSRIP application. The executive summary of the findings of this past needs assessment are included in Appendix F.

Quantitative and qualitative data was first reviewed on the county-level, and county profile reports of the data were created. These profiles should be reviewed for a more in-depth understanding of county-specific issues. This report summarizes issues across the participating counties.

## New York State Prevention Agenda Needs Assessments

The qualitative assessment that was conducted as part of the CNYCC CNA also involved a review of prior needs assessments conducted by local health departments and hospitals in conjunction with the New York State Prevention Agenda. The purpose of this step was to explore whether the findings of the CHA aligned with past assessments.

# D. Synthesis and Analysis of Data

The quantitative and qualitative data was assessed at the county level. These data were used to develop profiles of counties participating in the PPS. For a more in-depth understanding of county-specific issues, these reports should be reviewed. After finalizing the county profiles, this summary report was created. This summary report draws on themes and findings across counties for challenges and resources that are available at the regional level.



# **Appendices – Table of Contents**

**A. Combined Data Tables:** Data tables for all counties in the PPS service area. These tables are also available for each county in the County Profiles.

**B.** Inventory of Resources by County: A list of health care and non-medical services in each county.

**C.** Quality Data (Hospitals, FQHCs, and HEDIS): Tables of quality data for hospitals, health centers, and HEDIS measures for all counties in the PPS service area.

**D. Executive Summary of CNY Report:** This primary care needs assessment was conducted in early 2014 by John Snow Inc.

**E. Findings of 2013 CNY Consumer Access Survey:** This survey was conducted as part of the Central New York Needs Assessment.

**F. CNY Safety Net Assessment:** This executive summary provides an overview of findings from the Central New York Safety Net Assessment for eight counties: Cayuga, Cortland, Herkimer, Madison, Oneida, Onondaga, and Oswego. The focus of the needs assessment was on Medicaid and Self Pay populations. The needs assessment was conducted in 2013 by JSI.

**G. Mapping Applications:** Links to the four mapping applications, as well as an overview of the level of analysis and layers available.

**H. Key Informant Interview Guide:** This served as the guide for key informant interviews with four types of interviewees: community based resources, other health care providers, hospitals, and individuals involved with policy development.

**I. List of Key Informant Interviews by County:** This list includes the name, organization of affiliation, and interview type for all key informant interviews conducted.



## Appendix A. Data Tables

## Table 1: Demographic, Socio-Economic, and Insurance Information

	Cayuga	Lewis	Madison	Oneida	Onondaga	Oswego	CNYCC Region	Upstate New York	New York State
Total population size	79,996	27,062	72,977	234,336	466,179	122,055	1,002,605	11,198,904	19,398,125
Gender									
Male	51%	50%	49%	50%	48%	50%	49%	49.1%	48.4%
Female	49%	50%	51%	50%	52%	50%	51%	50.9%	51.6%
Race/Ethnicity									
White	92.6%	97.7%	95.0%	87.0%	81.6%	96.2%	86.9%	81.8%	66%
Black	4.3%	0.9%	1.9%	5.6%	10.8%	0.9%	7.0%	8.7%	15.7%
Asian	0.6%	0.2%	0.7%	3%	3.2%	0.6%	2.45	3.5%	7.5%
Hispanic	2.4%	1.3%	1.8%	4.6%	4.0%	2.1%	3.65	9.7%	17.7%
Foreign-born population	2.4%	1.5%	2.0%	7.2%	7.2%	2.0%	5.6%	11.1%	22%
Education									
Percent with less than high school education	14.4%	13.2%	9.8%	13.6%	10.6%	13.3%	11.9%	11.1%	15.1%
Employment and Income									
Median household income	\$50,950	\$45,187	\$52,293	\$49,148	\$53,593	\$47,288	\$51,254**	\$54,125*	\$57,683
Unemployed	8.2%	6.9%	6.0%	7.7%	7.2%	10.0%	7.6%	7.7%	8.7%
In poverty (below 100% FPL)	12.2%	13.5%	10.8%	15.6%	14.3%	16.4%	14.4%	11.2%	14.9%
Below 138% FPL	18.5%	20.0%	17.3%	22.5%	20.4%	23.8%	20.9%	16.6%	21.5%
Below 200% FPL	30.9%	34.7%	28.9%	34.0%	29.6%	36.3%	31.6%	25.7%	31.6%
200% FPL-400% FPL	35.9%	40%	36.2%	32.3%	30.5%	34.6%	32.5%	29%	27.9%
Above 400% FPL	33.2%	25.3%	34.9%	33.7%	39.9%	29.1%	35.9%	45.3%	40.5%
Insurance									
Uninsured	10.8%	10.8%	8.5%	7.7%	8.7%	8.3%	8.7%	9.1%	11.3%
Medicaid	18.0%	17.3%	14.3%	21.9%	17.0%	22.5%	18.6%	14.9%	20.9%
Urban/Rural									
Urban	44.2%	13.2%	41%	67%	87.4%	38.2%	67.8%	79%	87.9%
Rural	55.8%	86.8%	59%	33%	12.6%	61.8%	32.2%	21%	12.1%
Data source: American Commu	unity Survey, 5- Lincomes in Ur	Year Estimate 3	2008-2012 k counties						

\*Average of median household incomes in Upstate New York counties. \*\* Average of median household incomes in PPS target counties

## Table 2: Leading Causes of Premature Death in General County Population

Rank	CNYCC	Region		Upstate	New York		Сау	uga		Le	wis	
	LEADING CAUSE	#	RATE	LEADING CAUSE	#	RATE	LEADING CAUSE	#	RATE	LEADING CAUSE	#	RATE
1	Cancer	3,470	NA	Heart Disease	35,661	295	Cancer	294	333*	Cancer	101	428*
2	Heart Disease	1,917	NA	Unintentional Injury	21,461	178	Heart Disease	133	205*	Heart Disease	47	212*
3	Unintentional Injury	668	NA	Chronic Lower Respiratory Diseases	7,254	72	Unintentional Injury	65	97*	Unintentional Injury	20	90*
4	Chronic Lower Respiratory Diseases	552	NA	Diabetes	4,998	38	Chronic Lower Respiratory Diseases	56	98*	Suicide	12	55 <sup>ª,</sup> *
5	Stroke	253	NA	Cancer	3,112	26	Diabetes	26	40*	Chronic Lower Respiratory Diseases	10	46 <sup>a,</sup> *
Rank	Mac	lison		On	eida		Onon	daga		Ost	Jswego	
	LEADING CAUSE	#	RATE	LEADING CAUSE	#	RATE	LEADING CAUSE	#	RATE	LEADING CAUSE	#	RATE
1	Cancer	257	397*	Cancer	814	330*	Cancer	1564	331*	Cancer	440	395*
2	Heart Disease	122	192*	Heart Disease	554	266*	Heart Disease	785	166	Heart Disease	276	272*
3	Unintentional Injury	51	87*	Chronic Lower Respiratory Diseases	132	65*	Unintentional Injury	291	70	Unintentional Injury	111	100*
4	Chronic Lower Respiratory Diseases	38	53*	Unintentional Injury	130	66	Chronic Lower Respiratory Diseases	223	53*	Chronic Lower Respiratory Diseases	93	96*
5	Suicide	28	47*	Stroke	95	49*	Stroke	158	38*	Suicide	47	45*
*Rate higher than Upstate NY												
Data S	ources: Vital Sta	atistics I	Data as o	f March, 2014								
Notes	: Premature dea	ith data	by coun	ty includes data	from 2010	)-2012.						
Rate is the age-adjusted rate per 100,000.												

## Table 3: Population Health Indicators and Major Health Risk Factors

Major Health Risk Factors	Cayuga	Lewis	Madison	Oneida	Onondaga	Oswego	Upstate New York
Maternal and Infant Health**			•			I.	
Births with late or no prenatal care (%)	3.1	5.8	3.6	4.4	3.5	4.0	3.9
Exclusive breastfeeding (%)	60.8	64.8	69.0	48.9	55.4	54.7	48.1
Cesarean section delivery (%)	31.8	33.7	32.5	37.3	32.2	32.3	35.8
Infant mortality (per 1,000 live births)	6.2	5.9	4.3	4.8	5.5	5.9	5.6
Preterm births (%)	9.6	10	10.9	12.2	10.7	9.6	11.0
Low birth weight births (%)	7.3	5.1	6.0	8.1	8.1	7.1	7.8
Tobacco, Alcohol, and Substance Use							
Adults who are current smokers (%)*	22.9	19.3	25.4	25.1	20.0	24.7	18.9
Adults with heavy drinking in the past month (Age- adjusted, %)*	23.3	22.7	19.9	21.3	18.7	22.5	19.8
Alcohol related motor vehicle injuries and deaths (per 100,000)**	46.4	40.6	35.4	42.3	37.3	42.5	45.3
Drug-related hospitalizations (Age-adjusted, per 10,000)**	11.8	11.6	11.3	14.1	21.2	14.4	21.3
Mental Health							
Percent of adults with poor mental health for 14 or more days in past month*	14.8	8.9	8.8	13.0	12.0	12.7	10.9
Obesity and Related Indicators		•		•		•	
Percent of children and adolescents (students) who are overweight or obese(%)***	38.0	37.8	37.5	36.5	32.1	41.4	33.7
Adults who are obese (%)*	27.6	27.8	26.2	25.7	21.1	32.0	24.3
Adults who are overweight or obese (%)*	63.6	66.5	59.3	56.5	55.5	67.9	NA
Adults with diabetes (%)*	9.5	10.4	7.4	8.8	7.6	9.9	8.5
Adults consuming 5 fruits or vegetables per day (Age- adjusted %)*	27.0	20.2	22.6	26.0	33.7	27.1	27.7
Adults with no leisure-time physical activity (Age- adjusted, %)*	22.9	24.1	22.9	24.6	20.3	23.0	21.1
Safety							
Age-adjusted rate of motor-vehicle mortalities per 100,000**	11.4	8.9	8.9	8.2	7.0	14.4	8.2
Data sources: *BRFSS 2009, **CHAI 2011, *** CHAI 2012							

Note: Other variables are available in complete data set.

## Table 4: Access to Health Care

Service Utilization	Cayuga	Lewis	Madison	Oneida	Onondaga	Oswego	Upstate New York
Adults with health insurance (%)	89.7	83.4	86.1	90.1	91.0	86.2	89.9
Adults with regular health care providers (%)	89.8	83.1	89.2	86.1	85.9	82.0	87.1
Adults with dental visits in past year (%)	71.7	67.8	69.0	71.9	73.9	67.4	72.7
Women aged 40 and older who had mammograms in the past two years (%)	78.7	77.7	84.9	80.7	87.5	79.1	81.9
Women who had pap tests in the past three years (%)	83.0	78.9	82.1	77.4	89.4	82.0	82.6
Adults aged 50 and older who ever had sigmoidoscopies or colonoscopies (%)	71.3	50.1	71.3	68.2	73.2	65.3	68.4
Adults age 65 and older who had flu shots in the past year (%)	76.7	75.3	73.9	69.3	82.4	67.4	76.0
Adults age 65 and older who ever had pneumonia vaccinations (%)	70.1	70.1	77.7	65.3	83.0	69.8	71.2
Data source: BRFSS County-Specific Prevention Agenda Highlights 2009 Note: Other variables are available in complete data set.							

## **Table 5: Service Utilization**

Service Utilization		Cayuga			Lewis		Madison				
	PRIMARY CARE	EMERGENCY ROOM	INPATIENT ADMISSION	PRIMARY CARE	EMERGENCY ROOM	INPATIENT ADMISSION	PRIMARY CARE	EMERGENCY ROOM	INPATIENT ADMISSION		
Percent of County Beneficiaries With a Visit	63.15	28.02*	11.21	58.2	25.76*	10.89*	61.7	28.95*	10.4		
Total Number of Visits	50,996	10,192	2,585	14,689	3,117	779	45,362	9,684	2,124		
Visits per Beneficiary	2.69	0.6*	0.15	2.19	0.56*	0.14*	2.68	0.63*	0.14		
Rank		Oneida		(	Onondaga			Oswego			
Service Utilization	PRIAMRY CARE	EMERGENCY ROOM	INPATIENT ADMISSION	PRIAMRY CARE	EMERGENCY ROOM	INPATIENT ADMISSION	PRIAMRY CARE	EMERGENCY ROOM	INPATIENT ADMISSION		
Percent of County Beneficiaries With a Visit	61.92	27.05*	11.87*	62.48	26.24*	11.24	63.76	22.25	10.88		
Total Number of Visits	175,465	36,924	10,964	322,240	62,063	17,004	110,557	14,363	4,771		
Visits per Beneficiary	2.47	0.55*	0.16*	2.73	0.58*	0.16	3.06	0.44	0.15		
'Rate higher than state Data sources: Health Data New York 2013 (Primary Care), Health Data New York 2012 (ER/Inpatient)											

Rank	PF	<b>PS</b>		Сауц	ıga		Cortla	ind		Herkimer			Lewi	s	
	CONDITION	#	%	CONDITION	#	%	CONDITION	#	%	CONDITION	#	%	CONDITION	#	%
1	HTN	38654	12.93	Depression	2129	12.44	HTN	1733	14.11	HTN	1866	12.52	Depression	490	8.79
2	Depression	37307	12.48	HTN	2124	12.41	Depression	1564	12.74	Depression	1818	12.2	HTN	486	8.72
3	Diabetes	18949	6.34	Diabetes	1164	6.8	Diabetes	838	6.83	Asthma	855	5.74	Asthma	194	3.48
4	Asthma	17769	5.95	Asthma	945	5.52	Asthma	773	6.3	Diabetes	831	5.58	Diabetes	143	2.57
5	Chronic Stress and Anxiety Diagnoses	14618	4.89	Chronic Stress and Anxiety Diagnoses	868	5.07	Chronic Stress and Anxiety Diagnoses	516	4.2	Chronic Stress and Anxiety Diagnoses	776	5.21	Chronic Stress and Anxiety Diagnoses	113	2.03
6	Drug Abuse	14195	4.75	Schizophrenia	606	3.54	COPD and Major Other Chronic Pulmonary Diagnoses	417	3.4	Drug Abuse	715	4.8	ADHD	91	1.63
7	Schizophrenia	11017	3.69	ADHD	605	3.54	Chronic Mental Health Diagnoses	414	3.37	ADHD	480	3.22	Chronic Mental Health Diagnoses	71	1.27
8	ADHD	6361	2.13	Chronic Mental Health Diagnoses	420	2.45	ADHD	382	3.11	Schizophrenia	474	3.18	Drug Abuse	52	0.93
9	COPD and Major Other Chronic Pulmonary Diagnoses	4449	1.49	COPD and Major Other Chronic Pulmonary Diagnoses	419	2.45	Schizophrenia	324	2.64	COPD and Major Other Chronic Pulmonary Diagnoses	360	2.42	COPD and Major Other Chronic Pulmonary Diagnoses	51	0.91
10	Chronic Mental Health Diagnoses	3792	1.27	Drug Abuse	388	2.27	Drug Abuse	289	2.35	Chronic Mental Health Diagnoses	297	1.99	Schizophrenia	49	0.88

## Table 6. Frequency of Conditions among County Medicaid Population (Cayuga-Lewis)

Data source: Health Data New York 2012

Column Definitions: # = Number of beneficiaries in County with condition; % = Percent of County beneficiaries with condition

Abbreviations Key: HTN = Hypertension; ADHD = Attention Deficit / Hyperactivity Disorder

Rank	Mac	dison		One	da		Onone	daga		Oswe	ego		St. Lav	vrence	
	CONDITION	#	%	CONDITION	#	%	CONDITION	#	%	CONDITION	#	%	CONDITION	#	%
1	Depression	1605	10.5	Depression	9013	13.52	HTN	13973	13.13	Depression	4477	13.72	HTN	4170	14.89
2	HTN	1539	10.06	HTN	8919	13.38	Depression	12699	11.94	HTN	3844	11.78	Depression	3512	12.54
3	Asthma	748	4.89	Diabetes	4949	7.43	Diabetes	7260	6.82	Chronic Stress and Anxiety Diagnoses	2197	6.73	Asthma	1624	5.8
4	Chronic Stress and Anxiety Diagnoses	654	4.28	Asthma	3983	5.98	Asthma	6668	6.27	Asthma	1979	6.07	Diabetes	1548	5.53
5	Diabetes	501	3.28	Drug Abuse	3722	5.58	Drug Abuse	5949	5.59	Diabetes	1715	5.26	Drug Abuse	1248	4.46
6	Schizophrenia	442	2.89	Chronic Stress and Anxiety Diagnoses	3664	5.5	Chronic Stress and Anxiety Diagnoses	4786	4.5	Drug Abuse	1438	4.41	Chronic Stress and Anxiety Diagnoses	1044	3.73
7	Drug Abuse	394	2.58	Schizophrenia	2875	4.31	Schizophrenia	4368	4.11	Schizophrenia	1095	3.36	COPD and Major Other Chronic Pulmonary Diagnoses	905	3.23
8	ADHD	329	2.15	COPD and Major Other Chronic Pulmonary Diagnoses	2013	3.02	ADHD	2708	2.55	ADHD	912	2.8	ADHD	854	3.05
9	COPD and Major Other Chronic Pulmonary Diagnoses	284	1.86	Chronic Mental Health Diagnoses	1832	2.75	Chronic Alcohol Abuse	2479	2.33	Chronic Mental Health Diagnoses	758	2.32	Schizophrenia	784	2.8
10	Chronic Bronchitis and other Chronic Pulmonary Diagnoses	168	1.1	Cardiomyopathy, Congestive Heart Failure and Other Cardiovascular Major Diagnoses	1690	2.54	Chronic Mental Health Diagnoses	2286	2.15	Conduct, Impulse Control, and Other Disruptive Behavior Disorders	689	2.11	Coronary Atherosclerosis	524	1.87

## Table 6 continued. Frequency of Conditions among County Medicaid Population (Madison-St. Lawrence)

Data source: Health Data New York 2012

Column Definitions: # = Number of beneficiaries in County with condition; % = Percent of County beneficiaries with condition

Abbreviations Key: HTN = Hypertension; ADHD = Attention Deficit / Hyperactivity Disorder

## Table 7. Drivers of ER Utilization

Rank	Cayuga		Lewis		Madiso	'n	Oneida		Onondag	a	Oswego	0
	Condition	ER Visits per Member	Condition	ER Visits per Member	Condition	ER Visits per Member	Condition	ER Visits per Member	Condition	ER Visits per Member	Condition	ER Visits per Member
1	Major Personality Disorders	4.49	Drug Abuse	3.96	Drug Abuse	3.67	Major Personality Disorders	3.17	Major Personality Disorders	5.5	Major Personality Disorders	3.64
2	Drug Abuse	3.71	Bi-Polar Disorder	3.2	PTSD	3.25	Drug Abuse	2.59	History of Myocardial Infarction	3.06	Drug Abuse	2.36
3	Chronic Alcohol Abuse	3.22	Chronic Bronchitis and other Chronic Pulmonary Diagnoses	2.58	Chronic Alcohol Abuse	2.89	Bi-Polar Disorder	2.45	PTSD	3.04	History of Percutaneous Transluminal Coronary Angioplasty	2.33
4	Chronic Mental Health Diagnoses	2.75	Chronic Stress and Anxiety Diagnoses	2.32	Chronic Mental Health Diagnoses	2.84	PTSD	2.31	Drug Abuse	2.93	Bi-Polar Disorder	2.24
5	PTSD	2.73	PTSD	2.24	Bi-Polar Disorder	2.22	Chronic Alcohol Abuse	2.28	Bi-Polar Disorder	2.86	History of Myocardial Infarction	2.07
6	Congenital and Cardiac Defects/Anomalies	2.71	Chronic Alcohol Abuse	2.22	Angina and Ischemic Heart Disease	2.08	History of Myocardial Infarction	2.16	Chronic Alcohol Abuse	2.6	PTSD	1.91
7	Bi-Polar Disorder	2.53	Asthma	2.11	Chronic Stress and Anxiety Diagnoses	2.04	Chronic Mental Health Diagnoses	1.98	Chronic Mental Health Diagnoses	2.53	Chronic Mental Health Diagnoses	1.79
8	Atrial Fibrillation, Cardiac Dysrhythmia, and Conduction Disorders	2.44	Chronic Mental Health Diagnoses	2.06	Depression	1.83	Atrial Fibrillation, Cardiac Dysrhythmia, and Conduction Disorders	1.83	Atrial Fibrillation, Cardiac Dysrhythmia, and Conduction Disorders	2.41	Chronic Bronchitis and other Chronic Pulmonary Diagnoses	1.67
9	Chronic Bronchitis and other Chronic Pulmonary Diagnoses	2.43	Schizophrenia	2	Schizophrenia	1.78	History of Coronary Artery Bypass Graft	1.79	Chronic Bronchitis and other Chronic Pulmonary Diagnoses	2.22	Chronic Alcohol Abuse	1.54
10	Conduct, Impulse Control, and Other Disruptive Behavior Disorders	2.43	Depression	1.99	Chronic Bronchitis and other Chronic Pulmonary Diagnoses	1.67	Chronic Bronchitis and other Chronic Pulmonary Diagnoses	1.74	Angina and Ischemic Heart Disease	2.18	COPD and Major Other Chronic Pulmonary Diagnoses	1.5

Data source: Health Data New York 2012

Column Definitions: ER Visits per Member = ER Visits per Medicaid beneficiary in the County with condition

Abbreviations Key: HTN = Hypertension; ADHD = Attention Deficit / Hyperactivity Disorder; PTSD = Post Traumatic Stress Disorder; CABG = History of Coronary Artery Bypass Graft

## Table 8. Drivers of Hospital Inpatient Admissions

Rank	Cayuga		Lewis		Madisor	n	Oneida		Onondaga	a	Oswego	1
	Condition	Admission per Member	Condition	Admission per Member	Condition	Admission per Member	Condition	Admission per Member	Condition	Admission per Member	Condition	Admission per Member
1	Major Personality Disorders	2.2	Drug Abuse	1.15	Drug Abuse	1.17	Chronic Cardiovascular Diagnoses - Minor	1.83	Major Personality Disorders	2.18	Major Personality Disorders	1.87
2	Drug Abuse	1.62	COPD and Major Other Chronic Pulmonary Diagnoses	1.12	Chronic Alcohol Abuse	1.15	History of Myocardial Infarction	1.79	History of Myocardial Infarction	1.47	History of Percutaneous Transluminal Coronary Angioplasty	1.57
3	Chronic Alcohol Abuse	1.56	Bi-Polar Disorder	1.07	PTSD	1.04	History of Percutaneous Transluminal Coronary Angioplasty	1.72	History of Percutaneous Transluminal Coronary Angioplasty	1.42	History of Myocardial Infarction	1.35
4	History of Myocardial Infarction	1.47	PTSD	0.97	Chronic Mental Health Diagnoses	0.96	Major Personality Disorders	1.61	Atrial Fibrillation, Cardiac Dysrhythmia, and Conduction Disorders	1.34	CABG	1.24
5	CABG	1.4	Chronic Bronchitis and other Chronic Pulmonary Diagnoses	0.95	Bi-Polar Disorder	0.77	CABG	1.3	Cardiomyopathy, Congestive Heart Failure and Other Cardiovascular Major Diagnoses	1.32	Drug Abuse	1.05
6	Cardiomyopathy, Congestive Heart Failure and Other Cardiovascular Major Diagnoses	1.33	Chronic Alcohol Abuse	0.94	Atrial Fibrillation, Cardiac Dysrhythmia, and Conduction Disorders	0.71	Atrial Fibrillation, Cardiac Dysrhythmia, and Conduction Disorders	1.26	Drug Abuse	1.3	Atrial Fibrillation, Cardiac Dysrhythmia, and Conduction Disorders	1.02
7	Atrial Fibrillation, Cardiac Dysrhythmia, and Conduction Disorders	1.25	Chronic Mental Health Diagnoses	0.8	Chronic Bronchitis and other Chronic Pulmonary Diagnoses	0.7	Cardiomyopathy, Congestive Heart Failure and Other Cardiovascular Major Diagnoses	1.26	Congenital and Cardiac Defects/Anomalies	1.27	Congenital and Cardiac Defects/Anomalies	0.95
8	History of Percutaneous Transluminal Coronary Angioplasty	1.2	Conduct, Impulse Control, and Other Disruptive Behavior Disorders	0.7	Coronary Atherosclerosis	0.66	Chronic Alcohol Abuse	1.24	Chronic Alcohol Abuse	1.19	Cardiomyopathy, Congestive Heart Failure and Other Cardiovascular Major Diagnoses	0.9
9	Congenital and Cardiac Defects/Anomalies	1.11	Depression	0.5	COPD and Major Other Chronic Pulmonary Diagnoses	0.63	Drug Abuse	1.24	Angina and Ischemic Heart Disease	1.15	Chronic Bronchitis and other Chronic Pulmonary Diagnoses	0.87
10	Chronic Bronchitis and other Chronic Pulmonary Diagnoses	1.06	Schizophrenia	0.49	Schizophrenia	0.48`	Angina and Ischemic Heart Disease	1.19	Chronic Bronchitis and other Chronic Pulmonary Diagnoses	1.13	Bi-Polar Disorder	0.86
Data sou	urce: Health Data New V	ork 2012										

Column Definitions: Admission per Member = Hospital Inpatient Admissions per Medicaid beneficiary in the County with condition Abbreviations Key: HTN = Hypertension; ADHD = Attention Deficit / Hyperactivity Disorder; PTSD = Post Traumatic Stress Disorder; CABG = History of Coronary Artery Bypass Graft

## Table 9. Prevention Quality Indicators – 2012

Prevention Quality Indicator	Cayuga	Lewis	Madison	Oneida	Onondaga	Oswego	Upstate New York
Medicaid Inpatient Prevention Quality Indicators (PQIs)							
Diabetes Short-term Complications	67.66	0	32.82	172.49*	158.7*	140.6*	128
Diabetes Long-term Complications	215.94*	77.39	160.59	209.08*	208.51*	189.47*	182
COPD or Asthma in Older Adults	1,107.13*	1,215.7*	1,207.44*	1,102.5*	779.56	613.45	800
Hypertension	48.32	101.09*	96.72*	106.65*	72.14	125.1*	80
Heart Failure	437.27*	33.72	184.1	342.12*	332.01*	166.95	264
Dehydration	142.13*	54.73	127.62*	120.36*	127.91*	94.45	110
Bacterial Pneumonia	392.97*	282.15*	311.52*	391.05*	322.62*	284.44*	276
Urinary Tract Infection	171.49	248.47*	141.72	162.02	203.44*	176.01	179
Angina without Procedure	51.35*	0	0	2.91	12.4	29.01*	22
Uncontrolled Diabetes	42.6*	93.42*	0	28.56	31.29	50.07*	42
Asthma in Younger Adults	56.13	101.23	339.52*	243.69*	49.55	218.73*	110
Lower Extremity Amputation (among those with Diabetes)	54.17*	0	24.88*	12.84	22.86*	25.33*	18
Medicaid Inpatient PQI – Composite Measures							
Overall Composite PQI	2,258.09*	1,650.99	1,885.96*	2,266.93*	1933.49*	1,724.27	1783
Acute Composite PQI	710.3*	591.53*	583.46*	679.34*	654.92*	558.18	566
Chronic Composite PQI	1,535.19*	1,016.78	1,294.1*	1,589*	1272.35*	1,152.31	1213
Diabetes Composite	348.4	145.83	186.3	423.26*	415.1*	398.26*	364
Circulatory Composite	558.34*	111.45	273.71	454.26*	419.42*	313.21	366
Respiratory Composite	631.95*	716.56*	794.29*	703.24*	436.9	425	481
Medicaid Inpatient Pediatric Quality Indicators (PDIs)							
Asthma	115.3	328.31*	56.45	171.01	106.02	74.34	320.6
Diabetes Short-term Complications	79.86*	0	0	36.56*	44.39*	56.02*	32.51
Gastroenteritis	135.81*	92.11	67.26	103.25	72.54	58.74	119.64
Urinary Tract Infection	45.24	74.51*	53.79*	64.06*	34.65	81.98*	47.64
Medicaid Inpatient PDI – Composite Measures							
Overall Composite PDI	273.9	171.16	119.75	198.61	149.81	133.87	322.83
Acute Composite PDI	77.71*	0	92.55*	172.49*	55.46	20.32	74.51
Chronic Composite PDI	192.71	189.06	0	209.08*	96.98	118.38	248.32
*Rate higher than Upstate NY. Note: Rate is risk-adjusted rate per 100,000 admissions	;						

Data sources: Health Data NY 2012 (county data); DSRIP Performance Chartbooks 2011-2012 (Upstate NY data)

## Table 10: Number of Designated Shortage Areas

	Туре	Cayuga	Lewis	Madison	Oneida	Onondaga	Oswego
	Primary Care	25	19	8	44	36	3
носл	Dental	1	1	1	0	3	3
III JA	Mental Health	2	1	2	3	4	2
	TOTAL	28	21	11	47	43	8
MUA/P		17	2	0	15	10	8
Data source: HRSA 8/29/2014							

## Table 11. Specific HPSAs by County

	HF	PSAs		
County	Primary Care	Dental	Mental Health	MUA/P
Сауида	<ul> <li>5 HPSAs: 20 Towns, 1 Health Center Service Area Medicaid Eligible- Oswego: Sterling Town</li> <li>Medicaid Eligible- Auburn Primary Care Service Area: Auburn City, Aurelius Town, Brutus Town, Fleming Town, Mentz Town, Montezuma Town, Owasco Town, Sennett Town, Throop Town</li> <li>Medicaid Eligible- Southern Cayuga Service Area: Locke Town, Moravia Town, Niles Town, Sempronious Town, Summerhill Town.</li> <li>Aurora Service Area: Genoa Town, Ledyard Town, Scipio Town, Springport Town, Venice Town</li> <li>East Hill Family Medical, Inc- Health Center Service area</li> </ul>	1 HPSA: 1 Health Center Service Area -East Hill Family Medical, Inc- Health Center Service area	2 HPSAs : 1 Health Center Service Area, 1 Correctional Facility -East Hill Family Medical, Inc- Health Center Service area -Auburn Correctional Facility	2 MUAs, 1 MUP : 14 Towns MUA: Cato Town Service Area Cato Town, Conquest Town, Ira Town, Victory Town MUA: Fleming Town Service Area Fleming Town, Genoa Town, Ledyard Town, Scipio Town, Springport Town, Venice Town MUP: Low Income- Moravia Pcaa Locke Town, Moravia Town, Sempronius Town, Summerhill Town
Lewis	2 HPSAs: 17 Towns Medicaid Eligible- Lowville Service Area: Croghan Town, Denmark Town, Diana Town, Harrisburg Town, Lowville Town, Martinsburg Town, Montague Town, New Bremen Town, Osceola Town, Pinckney Town, Watson Town Medicaid Eligible- Boonville: Greig Town, Lewis Town, Leyden Town, Lyonsdale Town, Turin Town, West Turin Town	1 HPSA: Full County Lewis County	1 HPSA: Full County Lewis County	1 MUA: 1 Town MUA: Watson Town - County Watson Town
Madison	2 HPSAs: 6 Towns, 1 Native American Tribal Population Medicaid Eligible- Hamilton: Brookfield Town, Eaton Town, Georgetown Town, Hamilton Town, Lebanon Town, Madison Town Oneida Nation of New York	1 HPSA: 1 Native American Tribal Population Oneida Nation of New York	2 HPSAs : Full County, 1 Native American Tribal Population Madison County Oneida Nation of New York	

Oneida	<ul> <li>5 HPSAs: 13 Towns, 26 Census Tracts of Utica</li> <li>Medicaid Eligible- Utica</li> <li>26 Census Tracts</li> <li>Medicaid Eligible- Rome Primary Care Service Area:</li> <li>Floyd Town, Lee Town, Rome City, Verona Town,</li> <li>Western Town</li> <li>Medicaid Eligible- Hamilton</li> <li>Sangerfield Town</li> <li>Camden Service Area</li> <li>Annsville Town, Camden Town, Florence town, Vienna</li> <li>Town</li> <li>Medicaid Eligible- Boonville</li> <li>Ava Town, Boonville Town, Forestport Town</li> </ul>		2 HPSAs : 1 Full County, 1 Correctional Facility -Medicaid Eligible- Oneida County -Mid-State Correctional Facility	3 MUAs: 12 Census Tracts MUA: Oneida Service Area - 02411 10 Census Tracts MUA: Oneida Service Area - 07520 1 Census Tract MUA: Oneida Service Area - 07521 1 Census Tract
Onondaga	3 HPSAs: 33 Census Tracts of Syracuse, 1 Health Center Service Area, 1 Native American Tribal Population Medicaid Eligible- Syracuse 33 Census Tracts Syracuse Community Health Center Service Area Onondaga Nation of New York	2 HPSAs: 1 City, 1 Health Center Service Area -Medicaid Eligible- City of Syracuse -Syracuse Community Health Center Service Area	3 HPSAs : 1 City, 1 Health Center Service Area, 1 State Mental Hospital Service Area -Medicaid Eligible- City of Syracuse -Syracuse Community Health Center Service Area -Hutchings Psychiatric Center Service Area	2 MUAs: 8 Census Tracts MUA: Onondaga Service Area 02412 7 Census Tracts MUA: Onondaga Service Area 02438 1 Census Tract
Oswego	2 HPSAs: 1 Full County, 1 Health Center Service Area Medicaid Eligible- Oswego County Northern Oswego County Health Services Service Area	2 HPSAs: 1 Full County, 1 Health Center Service Area -Medicaid Eligible- Oswego County -Northern Oswego County Health Services Service Area	2 HPSAs:1 Full County, 1 Health Center Service Area -Medicaid Eligible- Oswego County -Northern Oswego County Health Services Service Area	1 MUAs: 7 Census Tracts MUA: Oswego Service Area - 7 Census Tracts

County	Hospital	Primary Care Safety Net	Behavioral Health	Dental	Post-acute	Community Health Providers
Cayuga	Auburn Community Hospital	East Hill Family Medical, Inc. Family Health Network, Inc. Port Byron Community Health (Finger Lakes Community Health Center) Children's Health Specialists Hillside Children's Center Auburn Community Hospital – Primary Care Practices	Unity House of Cayuga County Cayuga County Department of Mental Hygiene Cayuga Centers Cayuga County Community Mental Health Confidential Help for Alcohol and Drugs (CHAD), Inc. Cayuga County Mental Health Center East Hill Family Medical Port Byron Community Health Hillside Children's Center Cayuga Counseling Services Family Health Network, Inc.	Cayuga County DDS East Hill Family Medical Port Byron Community Health Family Health Network, Inc.	Finger Lakes Center for Living Hospice and Palliative Care, Inc. (Cayuga Medical Center)	Cayuga County Office of Aging Hillside Children's Center Auburn Housing Authority UCPA of Cayuga County, Inc. Cayuga/Seneca Community Action Agency Cayuga Chamber of Commerce Auburn Nursing Home Cayuga County Health Department Cayuga Counseling Services
Lewis	Lewis County General Hospital	Lewis County General Hospital – Primary Care Practice Sites North Country Family Health Center	North Country Family Health Center	North Country Family Health Center		Anise Child & Family Lewis County County Services Lewis County Public Health
Madison	Community Memorial Hospital Oneida Health Care	Planned Parenthood Mohawk Hudson Liberty Resources Mary Rose Clinic Madison County Memorial Hospital, Primary Care Practices Oneida Healthcare Center	Hutchings Psychological Center Madison County Mental Health		VNA Home Care	Madison County Department of Health Anise Child & Family Loretto
Oneida	Faxton St. Luke's; Rome Memorial Hospital St. Elizabeth's Medical Center	RPCN- Utica Community Health Center Faxton St. Lukes Rome Memorial Hosptial St. Elizabeth Medical Center Oneida Healthcare Center	The Neighborhood Center Mohawk Valley Psychiatric Center	RPCN- Utica Community Health Center	St. Luke's Home, Mohawk Valley Home Care	Mohawk Valley Resource Center for Refugees, Inc. Upstate Cerebral Palsy
Onondaga	Crouse Hospital St. Joseph's Hospital Upstate University Hospital	Syracuse Community Health Center Crouse Hospital – Primary Care Practices St. Joseph's Hospital – Primary Care Practices Christian Health Services Ramha Clinic AMAUS Clinic Poverello Clinic Upstate University Hospital – Primary Care Practices Community General Hospital – Primary Care Practices	Hillside Children's Center Liberty Resources Onondaga County Department of Mental Hygiene Prevention Network Syracuse Community Health Center	Syracuse Community Health Center	Franciscan Health Support Services, LLC Hospice of Central New York James Square Health and Rehabilitation Center Loretto Health & Rehabilitation Center Onondaga County Department of Adult and Long Term Care Services St. Camillus Residential Health Care Facility VNA Homecare	ARC of Onondaga Arise, Inc. Aurora of Central New York Enable Liberty Resources Onondaga County Health Department REACH CNY, Inc. The Salvation Army, Syracuse Area Services
Oswego	Oswego Health	Northern Oswego County Health Services, Inc. (NOCHSI) Oswego Hospital – Primary Care Practices	Farnham, Inc. Hillside Children's Center Oswego County Department of Mental Hygiene Oswego Hospital	Northern Oswego County Health Services (NOCHSI) Seneca Hill Manor, Inc.	Morningstar Cares Hospice of Central New York Oswego County Health Department St. Luke's Health Services Seneca Hill Manor, Inc. VNA Homecare	Aurora of Central New York Arise, Inc. ARC of Oswego Catholic Charities of Oswego County Oswego County Health Department Oswego County Opportunities, Inc.
Data source: 2	014 Survey of Healt	h Care and Community Resource	s; Key Informant Interviews			

#### Medicaid Beneficiary Chronic Health Conditions, Inpatient and Emergency Room Utilization Dataset - 2012

https://health.data.ny.gov/api/views/m2wt-pje4/files/W8jjVDb7hRW8ThuXcnMEd0tn0NCVQPhIFziBWsqhew8?download=true&filename=NYSDOH\_MedicaidPopulation\_overview.pdf

#### Leading Chronic Conditions, and Leading Causes of Inpatient Admissions & ER Visits

\*Ranked in descending order on Total Admissions **Drivers of Inpatient Admission** 

#### COUNTY=CNYCC Service Area

Obs	Service Area	CONDITION	Members in	Unique Members	Total Admissions
			County with	Admitted	by County
			Condition	by County	with Condition*
				with Condition	
1	CNYCC	Depression	30,413	9,367	18,650
2	CNYCC	Hypertension	30,885	8,883	15,827
3	CNYCC	Drug Abuse	11,943	6,476	14,999
4	CNYCC	Diabetes	15,732	5,399	10,045
5	CNYCC	Asthma	14,517	3,627	6,860
6	CNYCC	Chronic Stress and Anxiety Diagnoses	12,282	2,957	5,979
7	CNYCC	Schizophrenia	9,435	2,616	5,450
8	CNYCC	Chronic Alcohol Abuse	4,683	2,479	5,447
9	CNYCC	COPD and Major Other Chronic Pulmonary	5,629	2,851	5,296
		Diagnoses			
10	CNYCC	Chronic Mental Health Diagnoses	5,509	2,020	5,070
11	CNYCC	Cardiomyopathy, Congestive Heart Failure	3,722	2,390	4,713
		and Other Cardiovascular Major Diagnoses			
12	CNYCC	Atrial Fibrillation, Cardiac Dysrhythmia, and	3,528	2,171	4,492
		Conduction Disorders			
13	CNYCC	Bi-Polar Disorder	4,056	1,619	3,770
14	CNYCC	Chronic Bronchitis and other Chronic	3,443	1,741	3,659
		Pulmonary Diagnoses			
15	CNYCC	Coronary Atherosclerosis	3,379	2,171	3,437
16	CNYCC	Post Traumatic Stress Disorder	2,102	722	1,753
17	CNYCC	Angina and Ischemic Heart Disease	1,555	828	1,680
18	CNYCC	History of Myocardial Infarction	939	738	1,449
19	CNYCC	Conduct, Impulse Control, and Other	2,307	554	1,392
		Disruptive Behavior Disorders			
20	CNYCC	Attention Deficit / Hyperactivity Disorder	6,237	649	1,324
21	CNYCC	Major Personality Disorders	464	283	867
22	CNYCC	Congenital and Cardiac Defects/Anomalies	712	433	848
23	CNYCC	History of Percutaneous Transluminal	296	270	463
		Coronary Angioplasty			
24	CNYCC	Cardiac Device Status	338	187	293
25	CNYCC	History of Coronary Artery Bypass Graft	202	175	247

#### COUNTY=Cayuga

Obs	COUNTY	CONDITION	Members in	Unique Members	<b>Total Admissions</b>
			County with	Admitted	by County
			Condition	by County	with Condition*
				with Condition	
1	Cayuga	Depression	2129	610	1103
2	Cayuga	Hypertension	2124	562	959
3	Cayuga	Diabetes	1164	384	645
4	Cayuga	Drug Abuse	388	272	630
5	Cayuga	Asthma	945	211	387
6	Cayuga	Chronic Stress and Anxiety Diagnoses	868	191	373
7	Cayuga	Chronic Mental Health Diagnoses	420	147	355
8	Cayuga	COPD and Major Other Chronic Pulmonary	419	211	332
		Diagnoses			
9	Cayuga	Cardiomyopathy, Congestive Heart Failure	226	150	301
		and Other Cardiovascular Major Diagnoses			
10	Cayuga	Atrial Fibrillation, Cardiac Dysrhythmia, and	235	145	294
		Conduction Disorders			
11	Cayuga	Schizophrenia	606	158	286

12	Cayuga	Coronary Atherosclerosis	242	138	220
13	Cayuga	Chronic Alcohol Abuse	135	96	211
14	Cayuga	Bi-Polar Disorder	248	92	181
15	Cayuga	Chronic Bronchitis and other Chronic	170	88	181
		Pulmonary Diagnoses			
16	Cayuga	Post Traumatic Stress Disorder	190	56	150
17	Cayuga	History of Myocardial Infarction	88	75	129
18	Cayuga	Angina and Ischemic Heart Disease	117	59	110
19	Cayuga	Conduct, Impulse Control, and Other	136	32	93
		Disruptive Behavior Disorders			
20	Cayuga	Attention Deficit / Hyperactivity Disorder	605	45	87
21	Cayuga	Major Personality Disorders	35	25	77
22	Cayuga	Congenital and Cardiac Defects/Anomalies	56	28	62
23	Cayuga	History of Coronary Artery Bypass Graft	25	24	35
24	Cayuga	History of Percutaneous Transluminal	25	19	30
		Coronary Angioplasty			
25	Cayuga	Cardiac Device Status	23	15	21

#### COUNTY=Lewis

Obs	COUNTY	CONDITION	Members in County with Condition	Unique Members Admitted by County with Condition	Total Admissions by County with Condition
1	Lewis	Depression	490	153	243
2	Lewis	Hypertension	486	115	169
3	Lewis	Asthma	194	53	79
4	Lewis	Diabetes	143	43	63
5	Lewis	Drug Abuse	52	35	60
6	Lewis	Chronic Mental Health Diagnoses	71	30	57
7	Lewis	COPD and Major Other Chronic Pulmonary	51	32	57
		Diagnoses			
8	Lewis	Chronic Stress and Anxiety Diagnoses	113	40	54
9	Lewis	Chronic Bronchitis and other Chronic	43	21	41
		Pulmonary Diagnoses			
10	Lewis	Bi-Polar Disorder	30	17	32
11	Lewis	Chronic Alcohol Abuse	32	20	30
12	Lewis	Post Traumatic Stress Disorder	29	14	28
13	Lewis	Schizophrenia	49	13	24
14	Lewis	Attention Deficit / Hyperactivity Disorder	91	10	16
15	Lewis	Conduct, Impulse Control, and Other Disruptive Behavior Disorders	23	5	16

#### COUNTY=Madison

Obs	COUNTY	CONDITION	Members in	Unique Members	Total Admissions
			County with	Admitted	by County
			Condition	by County	with Condition
				with Condition	
1	Madison	Depression	1605	423	769
2	Madison	Hypertension	1539	375	631
3	Madison	Drug Abuse	394	235	461
4	Madison	Asthma	748	156	270
5	Madison	Diabetes	501	142	230
6	Madison	Chronic Stress and Anxiety Diagnoses	654	139	227
7	Madison	Schizophrenia	442	114	214
8	Madison	COPD and Major Other Chronic Pulmonary	284	121	179
		Diagnoses			
9	Madison	Chronic Alcohol Abuse	131	63	150
10	Madison	Chronic Mental Health Diagnoses	142	57	136
11	Madison	Chronic Bronchitis and other Chronic	168	65	118
		Pulmonary Diagnoses			
12	Madison	Bi-Polar Disorder	149	59	115
13	Madison	Coronary Atherosclerosis	125	59	83
14	Madison	Attention Deficit / Hyperactivity Disorder	329	37	55

15	Madison	Conduct, Impulse Control, and Other	116	23	44
		Disruptive Behavior Disorders			
16	Madison	Post Traumatic Stress Disorder	28	14	29
17	Madison	Atrial Fibrillation, Cardiac Dysrhythmia, and	24	14	17
		Conduction Disorders			
18	Madison	Angina and Ischemic Heart Disease	24	5	8

#### COUNTY=Oneida

Obs	COUNTY	CONDITION	Members in	Unique Members	<b>Total Admissions</b>
			County with	Admitted	by County
			Condition	by County	with Condition
				with Condition	
1	Oneida	Depression	9013	2915	5556
2	Oneida	Hypertension	8919	2817	4995
3	Oneida	Drug Abuse	3722	2061	4616
4	Oneida	Diabetes	4949	1939	3659
5	Oneida	Cardiomyopathy, Congestive Heart Failure	1690	1100	2122
		and Other Cardiovascular Major Diagnoses			
6	Oneida	Asthma	3983	1114	2061
7	Oneida	COPD and Major Other Chronic Pulmonary	2013	1047	1918
		Diagnoses			
8	Oneida	Chronic Stress and Anxiety Diagnoses	3664	959	1817
9	Oneida	Chronic Mental Health Diagnoses	1832	653	1548
10	Oneida	Chronic Alcohol Abuse	1244	714	1546
11	Oneida	Schizophrenia	2875	795	1530
12	Oneida	Atrial Fibrillation, Cardiac Dysrhythmia, and	1164	730	1472
		Conduction Disorders			
13	Oneida	Coronary Atherosclerosis	1332	741	1308
14	Oneida	Bi-Polar Disorder	1204	513	1092
15	Oneida	Chronic Bronchitis and other Chronic	968	516	1037
		Pulmonary Diagnoses			
16	Oneida	Angina and Ischemic Heart Disease	532	303	633
17	Oneida	Post Traumatic Stress Disorder	786	242	522
18	Oneida	History of Myocardial Infarction	286	234	511
19	Oneida	Conduct, Impulse Control, and Other	705	175	416
		Disruptive Behavior Disorders			
20	Oneida	Congenital and Cardiac Defects/Anomalies	333	215	393
21	Oneida	Major Personality Disorders	226	128	364
22	Oneida	Attention Deficit / Hyperactivity Disorder	1592	173	340
23	Oneida	Chronic Cardiovascular Diagnoses - Minor	145	101	266
24	Oneida	History of Percutaneous Transluminal	149	138	257
		Coronary Angioplasty			
25	Oneida	Cardiac Device Status	192	97	163
26	Oneida	History of Coronary Artery Bypass Graft	57	53	74
27	Oneida	HIV Disease	112	29	53
28	Oneida	Defibrillator Status	56	27	49

#### COUNTY=Onondaga

Obs	COUNTY	CONDITION	Members in	Unique Members	<b>Total Admissions</b>
			County with	Admitted	by County
			Condition	by County	with Condition
				with Condition	
1	Onondaga	Depression	12699	4094	8734
2	Onondaga	Drug Abuse	5949	3194	7723
3	Onondaga	Hypertension	13973	4019	7365
4	Onondaga	Diabetes	7260	2368	4567
5	Onondaga	Asthma	6668	1651	3258
6	Onondaga	Chronic Alcohol Abuse	2479	1313	2950
7	Onondaga	Schizophrenia	4368	1203	2708
8	Onondaga	Chronic Stress and Anxiety Diagnoses	4786	1129	2565
9	Onondaga	Chronic Mental Health Diagnoses	2286	885	2448
10	Onondaga	Atrial Fibrillation, Cardiac Dysrhythmia, and	1742	1072	2339
		Conduction Disorders			
11	Onondaga	COPD and Major Other Chronic Pulmonary	2215	1134	2269
----	----------	--	------	------	------
		Diagnoses			
12	Onondaga	Cardiomyopathy, Congestive Heart Failure	1576	1011	2082
		and Other Cardiovascular Major Diagnoses			
13	Onondaga	Chronic Bronchitis and other Chronic	1786	902	2014
	_	Pulmonary Diagnoses			
14	Onondaga	Bi-Polar Disorder	1951	753	1942
15	Onondaga	Coronary Atherosclerosis	1589	838	1542
16	Onondaga	Post Traumatic Stress Disorder	818	310	833
17	Onondaga	Angina and Ischemic Heart Disease	600	322	690
18	Onondaga	Attention Deficit / Hyperactivity Disorder	2708	294	650
19	Onondaga	History of Myocardial Infarction	401	309	588
20	Onondaga	Conduct, Impulse Control, and Other	638	154	418
		Disruptive Behavior Disorders			
21	Onondaga	Congenital and Cardiac Defects/Anomalies	267	162	340
22	Onondaga	Major Personality Disorders	148	98	323
23	Onondaga	History of Percutaneous Transluminal	101	94	143
		Coronary Angioplasty			
24	Onondaga	HIV Disease	215	61	118
25	Onondaga	History of Coronary Artery Bypass Graft	95	78	107
26	Onondaga	Cardiac Device Status	94	58	87
27	Onondaga	Chronic Cardiovascular Diagnoses - Minor	59	39	65
	Ŭ	-			

#### COUNTY=Oswego

Obs	COUNTY	CONDITION	Members in	Unique Members	<b>Total Admissions</b>
			County with	Admitted	by County
			Condition	by County	with Condition
				with Condition	
1	Oswego	Depression	4477	1172	2245
2	Oswego	Hypertension	3844	995	1708
3	Oswego	Drug Abuse	1438	679	1509
4	Oswego	Chronic Stress and Anxiety Diagnoses	2197	499	943
5	Oswego	Diabetes	1715	523	881
6	Oswego	Asthma	1979	442	805
7	Oswego	Schizophrenia	1095	333	688
8	Oswego	Chronic Alcohol Abuse	662	273	560
9	Oswego	COPD and Major Other Chronic Pulmonary	647	306	541
		Diagnoses			
10	Oswego	Chronic Mental Health Diagnoses	758	248	526
11	Oswego	Bi-Polar Disorder	474	185	408
12	Oswego	Conduct, Impulse Control, and Other	689	165	405
		Disruptive Behavior Disorders			
13	Oswego	Coronary Atherosclerosis	458	225	390
14	Oswego	Atrial Fibrillation, Cardiac Dysrhythmia, and	363	210	370
		Conduction Disorders			
15	Oswego	Chronic Bronchitis and other Chronic	308	149	268
		Pulmonary Diagnoses			
16	Oswego	Angina and Ischemic Heart Disease	282	139	239
17	Oswego	History of Myocardial Infarction	164	120	221
18	Oswego	Cardiomyopathy, Congestive Heart Failure	230	129	208
		and Other Cardiovascular Major Diagnoses			
19	Oswego	Post Traumatic Stress Disorder	251	86	191
20	Oswego	Attention Deficit / Hyperactivity Disorder	912	90	176
21	Oswego	Major Personality Disorders	55	32	103
22	Oswego	Congenital and Cardiac Defects/Anomalies	56	28	53
23	Oswego	History of Percutaneous Transluminal	21	19	33
		Coronary Angioplasty			
24	Oswego	History of Coronary Artery Bypass Graft	25	20	31
25	Oswego	Cardiac Device Status	29	17	22

#### Medicaid Beneficiary Chronic Health Conditions, Inpatient and Emergency Room Utilization Dataset - 2012

https://health.data.ny.gov/api/views/m2wt-

pje4/files/W8jjVDb7hRW8ThuXcnMEd0tn0NCVQPhIFziBWsqhew8?download=true&filename=NYSDOH\_MedicaidPopulation\_overview.pdf

#### Leading Chronic Conditions, and Leading Causes of Inpatient Admissions & ER Visits

\*Ranked in descending order on Total Admissions Drivers of Emergency Department Visits

#### **CNYCC Service Area**

Obs	COUNTY	CONDITION	Members in	Unique Members	Total ER Visits
			County with	with ER Visits	by County
			Condition	by County	with Condition
				with Condition	
1	CNYCC	Depression	30413	14867	51432
2	CNYCC	Hypertension	30885	11974	36279
3	CNYCC	Drug Abuse	11943	7461	33557
4	CNYCC	Asthma	14517	7350	23522
5	CNYCC	Chronic Stress and Anxiety Diagnoses	12282	5745	21365
6	CNYCC	Diabetes	15732	6301	20240
7	CNYCC	Schizophrenia	9435	4676	16676
8	CNYCC	Chronic Mental Health Diagnoses	5509	2762	12481
9	CNYCC	Chronic Alcohol Abuse	4683	2766	11181
10	CNYCC	Bi-Polar Disorder	4056	2392	10659
11	CNYCC	COPD and Major Other Chronic Pulmonary	5629	2398	9012
		Diagnoses			
12	CNYCC	Atrial Fibrillation, Cardiac Dysrhythmia, and	3528	1652	7371
		Conduction Disorders			
13	CNYCC	Chronic Bronchitis and other Chronic	3443	1788	6960
		Pulmonary Diagnoses			
14	CNYCC	Attention Deficit / Hyperactivity Disorder	6237	2261	5522
	011/00			10.00	5 4 5 0
15	CNYCC	Post Traumatic Stress Disorder	2102	1269	5459
16	CNYCC	Cardiomyopathy, Congestive Heart Failure	3722	1522	5408
		and Other Cardiovascular Major Diagnoses			
17	CNYCC	Coronary Atherosclerosis	3746	1451	5043
18	CNYCC	Conduct, Impulse Control, and Other	2307	1137	3681
		Disruptive Behavior Disorders			
19	CNYCC	Angina and Ischemic Heart Disease	1555	735	2856
20	CNYCC	History of Myocardial Infarction	939	478	2361
21	CNYCC	Major Personality Disorders	464	299	1888
22	CNYCC	Congenital and Cardiac Defects/Anomalies	712	310	1058
23	CNYCC	HIV Disease			
24	CNYCC	History of Percutaneous Transluminal			
		Coronary Angioplasty			
25	CNYCC	History of Coronary Artery Bypass Graft			
26	CNYCC	Cardiac Device Status			
27	CNYCC	Chronic Cardiovascular Diagnoses - Minor			

#### COUNTY=Cayuga

Obs	COUNTY	CONDITION	Members in	Unique Members	Total ER
			County with	with ER Visits	Visits by
			Condition	by County	County with
				with Condition	Condition*
1	Cayuga	Depression	2129	1138	3876
2	Cayuga	Hypertension	2124	940	2797
3	Cayuga	Asthma	945	551	1754
4	Cayuga	Chronic Stress and Anxiety Diagnoses	868	484	1671
5	Cayuga	Diabetes	1164	558	1658
6	Cayuga	Drug Abuse	388	270	1439
7	Cayuga	Schizophrenia	606	315	1227

8	Cayuga	Chronic Mental Health Diagnoses	420	243	1153
9	Cayuga	COPD and Major Other Chronic Pulmonary Diagnoses	419	210	772
10	Cayuga	Bi-Polar Disorder	248	153	627
11	Cayuga	Atrial Fibrillation, Cardiac Dysrhythmia, and Conduction Disorders	235	126	574
12	Cayuga	Attention Deficit / Hyperactivity Disorder	605	237	563
13	Cayuga	Post Traumatic Stress Disorder	190	120	518
14	Cayuga	Cardiomyopathy, Congestive Heart Failure and Other Cardiovascular Major Diagnoses	226	125	493
15	Cayuga	Chronic Alcohol Abuse	135	87	435
16	Cayuga	Chronic Bronchitis and other Chronic Pulmonary Diagnoses	170	108	413
17	Cayuga	Conduct, Impulse Control, and Other Disruptive Behavior Disorders	136	71	330
18	Cayuga	Coronary Atherosclerosis	242	113	324
19	Cayuga	Angina and Ischemic Heart Disease	117	65	246
20	Cayuga	History of Myocardial Infarction	88	50	177
21	Cayuga	Major Personality Disorders	35	24	157
22	Cayuga	Congenital and Cardiac Defects/Anomalies	56	35	152
23	Cayuga	History of Coronary Artery Bypass Graft	25	16	59
24	Cayuga	History of Percutaneous Transluminal Coronary Angioplasty	25	13	39
25	Cayuga	Cardiac Device Status	23	12	33

#### COUNTY=Lewis

Obs	COUNTY	CONDITION	Members	Unique Members	Total ER
			in County	with ER	Visits by
			with Condition	Visits by	County with
				County with	Condition
				Condition	
1	Lewis	Depression	490	284	976
2	Lewis	Hypertension	486	185	574
3	Lewis	Asthma	194	117	410
4	Lewis	Chronic Stress and Anxiety Diagnoses	113	66	262
5	Lewis	Drug Abuse	52	41	206
6	Lewis	Chronic Mental Health Diagnoses	71	52	146
7	Lewis	Diabetes	143	44	118
8	Lewis	Chronic Bronchitis and other Chronic	43	29	111
		Pulmonary Diagnoses			
9	Lewis	Attention Deficit / Hyperactivity Disorder	91	44	101
10	Lewis	Schizophrenia	49	32	98
11	Lewis	Bi-Polar Disorder	30	21	96
12	Lewis	COPD and Major Other Chronic Pulmonary	51	19	75
		Diagnoses			
13	Lewis	Chronic Alcohol Abuse	32	23	71
14	Lewis	Post Traumatic Stress Disorder	29	24	65
15	Lewis	Conduct, Impulse Control, and Other	23	14	38
		Disruptive Behavior Disorders			

#### COUNTY=Madison

Obs	COUNTY	CONDITION	Members in County with Condition	Unique Members with ER Visits by County with Condition	Total ER Visits by County with Condition
1	Madison	Depression	1605	850	2936
2	Madison	Hypertension	1539	589	1847
3	Madison	Drug Abuse	394	281	1446

4	Madison	Chronic Stress and Anxiety Diagnoses	654	336	1332
5	Madison	Asthma	748	398	1238
6	Madison	Schizophrenia	442	246	788
7	Madison	Diabetes	501	167	460
8	Madison	Chronic Mental Health Diagnoses	142	86	403
9	Madison	Chronic Alcohol Abuse	131	92	378
10	Madison	COPD and Major Other Chronic Pulmonary	284	116	359
		Diagnoses			
11	Madison	Bi-Polar Disorder	149	89	331
12	Madison	Attention Deficit / Hyperactivity Disorder	329	134	322
13	Madison	Chronic Bronchitis and other Chronic	168	90	280
		Pulmonary Diagnoses			
14	Madison	Conduct, Impulse Control, and Other	116	46	152
		Disruptive Behavior Disorders			
15	Madison	Coronary Atherosclerosis	125	48	125
16	Madison	Post Traumatic Stress Disorder	28	21	91
17	Madison	Angina and Ischemic Heart Disease	24	13	50
18	Madison	Atrial Fibrillation, Cardiac Dysrhythmia, and	24	6	12
		Conduction Disorders			

#### COUNTY=Oneida

Obs	COUNTY	CONDITION	Members in	Unique Members	Total ER Visits
			County with	with ER Visits	by County
			Condition	by County	with Condition
				with Condition	
1	Oneida	Depression	9013	4288	13840
2	Oneida	Hypertension	8919	3373	9909
3	Oneida	Drug Abuse	3722	2342	9637
4	Oneida	Diabetes	4949	1987	6378
5	Oneida	Chronic Stress and Anxiety Diagnoses	3664	1728	6162
6	Oneida	Asthma	3983	2019	5880
7	Oneida	Schizophrenia	2875	1402	4412
8	Oneida	Chronic Mental Health Diagnoses	1832	879	3625
9	Oneida	Bi-Polar Disorder	1204	739	2954
10	Oneida	Chronic Alcohol Abuse	1244	732	2835
11	Oneida	COPD and Major Other Chronic Pulmonary	2013	814	2796
12	Oneida	Cardiomyopathy, Congestive Heart Failure	1690	671	2230
		and Other Cardiovascular Major Diagnoses			
13	Oneida	Atrial Fibrillation, Cardiac Dysrhythmia, and Conduction Disorders	1164	491	2125
14	Oneida	Post Traumatic Stress Disorder	786	450	1817
15	Oneida	Coronary Atherosclerosis	1332	497	1784
16	Oneida	Chronic Bronchitis and other Chronic	968	488	1680
		Pulmonary Diagnoses			
17	Oneida	Attention Deficit / Hyperactivity Disorder	1592	639	1457
18	Oneida	Conduct, Impulse Control, and Other	705	368	1085
		Disruptive Behavior Disorders			
19	Oneida	Angina and Ischemic Heart Disease	532	235	878
20	Oneida	Major Personality Disorders	226	118	717
21	Oneida	History of Myocardial Infarction	286	134	617
22	Oneida	Congenital and Cardiac Defects/Anomalies	333	133	398
23	Oneida	Cardiac Device Status	192	75	294
24	Oneida	History of Percutaneous Transluminal	149	79	252
		Coronary Angioplasty			
25	Oneida	Chronic Cardiovascular Diagnoses - Minor	145	72	251
26	Oneida	HIV Disease	112	47	132
27	Oneida	History of Coronary Artery Bypass Graft	57	26	102
28	Oneida	Defibrillator Status	56	26	88

#### COUNTY=Onondaga

Obs	COUNTY	CONDITION	Members in	Unique Members	Total ER Visits
			County with	with ER Visits	by County
			Condition	by County	with Condition
				with Condition	
1	Onondaga	Depression	12699	6398	24378
2	Onondaga	Hypertension	13973	5617	17651
3	Onondaga	Drug Abuse	5949	3656	17432
4	Onondaga	Asthma	6668	3435	11834
5	Onondaga	Diabetes	7260	2954	9945
6	Onondaga	Chronic Stress and Anxiety Diagnoses	4786	2198	9023
7	Onondaga	Schizophrenia	4368	2183	8606
8	Onondaga	Chronic Alcohol Abuse	2479	1492	6445
9	Onondaga	Chronic Mental Health Diagnoses	2286	1161	5795
10	Onondaga	Bi-Polar Disorder	1951	1133	5587
11	Onondaga	Atrial Fibrillation, Cardiac Dysrhythmia, and Conduction Disorders	1742	874	4205
12	Onondaga	COPD and Major Other Chronic Pulmonary Diagnoses	2215	982	4040
13	Onondaga	Chronic Bronchitis and other Chronic Pulmonary Diagnoses	1786	936	3962
14	Onondaga	Cardiomyopathy, Congestive Heart Failure and Other Cardiovascular Major Diagnoses	1576	659	2491
15	Onondaga	Post Traumatic Stress Disorder	818	519	2488
16	Onondaga	Attention Deficit / Hyperactivity Disorder	2708	894	2381
17	Onondaga	Coronary Atherosclerosis	1589	617	2247
18	Onondaga	Angina and Ischemic Heart Disease	600	303	1306
19	Onondaga	History of Myocardial Infarction	401	209	1228
20	Onondaga	Conduct, Impulse Control, and Other Disruptive Behavior Disorders	638	319	1099
21	Onondaga	Major Personality Disorders	148	118	814
22	Onondaga	Congenital and Cardiac Defects/Anomalies	267	122	456
23	Onondaga	HIV Disease	215	99	308
24	Onondaga	History of Percutaneous Transluminal	101	54	186
25	Onondaga	History of Coronary Artery Bypass Graft	92	18	150
26	Onondaga	Cardiac Device Status	94	37	107
27	Onondaga	Chronic Cardiovascular Diagnoses - Minor	59	30	90

#### COUNTY=Oswego

Obs	COUNTY	CONDITION	Members in	Unique Members	Total ER
			County with	with ER Visits	Visits by
			Condition	by County	County with
				with Condition	Condition
1	Oswego	Depression	4477	1909	5426
2	Oswego	Hypertension	3844	1270	3501
3	Oswego	Drug Abuse	1438	871	3397
4	Oswego	Chronic Stress and Anxiety Diagnoses	2197	933	2915
5	Oswego	Asthma	1979	830	2406
6	Oswego	Diabetes	1715	591	1681
7	Oswego	Schizophrenia	1095	498	1545
8	Oswego	Chronic Mental Health Diagnoses	758	341	1359
9	Oswego	Bi-Polar Disorder	474	257	1064
10	Oswego	Chronic Alcohol Abuse	662	340	1017
11	Oswego	Conduct, Impulse Control, and Other	689	319	977
		Disruptive Behavior Disorders			
12	Oswego	COPD and Major Other Chronic Pulmonary	647	257	970
		Diagnoses			

13	Oswego	Attention Deficit / Hyperactivity Disorder	912	313	698
14	Oswego	Coronary Atherosclerosis	458	176	563
15	Oswego	Chronic Bronchitis and other Chronic Pulmonary Diagnoses	308	137	514
16	Oswego	Post Traumatic Stress Disorder	251	135	480
17	Oswego	Atrial Fibrillation, Cardiac Dysrhythmia, and Conduction Disorders	363	155	455
18	Oswego	Angina and Ischemic Heart Disease	282	119	376
19	Oswego	History of Myocardial Infarction	164	85	339
20	Oswego	Major Personality Disorders	55	39	200
21	Oswego	Cardiomyopathy, Congestive Heart Failure and Other Cardiovascular Major Diagnoses	230	67	194
22	Oswego	Congenital and Cardiac Defects/Anomalies	56	20	52
23	Oswego	History of Percutaneous Transluminal Coronary Angioplasty	21	12	49
24	Oswego	History of Coronary Artery Bypass Graft	25	14	32
25	Oswego	Cardiac Device Status	29	10	18

# Appendix B. Inventory of Resources by County

# Table 1. Data Source for County Resource Information, by Type of Service

Type of service	Data Source
Hospital	Health Facility General Information. Health Data NY https://health.data.ny.gov/dataset/Health-Facility-General-
позрна	Information/vn5v-hh5r
Outpatient primary care	
Diagnostic and Treatment	Health Facility General Information. Health Data NY https://health.data.ny.gov/dataset/Health-Facility-General-
Center	Information/vn5v-hh5r
	Health Facility General Information. Health Data NY https://health.data.ny.gov/dataset/Health-Facility-General-
Hospital-based	Information/vn5v-hh5r
clinics/Hospital Extension	Provider List - October 1, 2014, NYS DOH available at:
	http://www.health.ny.gov/regulations/hcra/provider.htm
FQHCs	HRSA, Find a Health Center, available at: http://findahealthcenter.hrsa.gov/Search_HCC.aspx?byCounty=1
	Health Homes by County, NYS DOH available at:
Health Home	https://www.health.ny.gov/health_care/medicaid/program/medicaid_health_homes/contact_information/list
	_by_county.htm#cayuga
Dentel	List of Article 28 Dental Health Facilities, NYS DOH available at:
Dental	https://www.health.ny.gov/prevention/dental/providers/
Behavioral Health	
	Office of Mental Health, NYS DOH, available at:
Inpatient	http://bi.omh.ny.gov/bridges/directory?region=&prog_selection=
Quita etile et	Office of Mental Health, NYS DOH, available at:
Outpatient	http://bi.omh.ny.gov/bridges/directory?region=&prog_selection=
Desidential	Office of Mental Health, NYS DOH, available at:
Residential	http://bi.omh.ny.gov/bridges/directory?region=&prog_selection=
Post-acute	
	Health Facility General Information. Health Data NYhttps://health.data.ny.gov/dataset/Health-
Nursing Home/ Skilled	Facility-General-Information/vn5v-hh5r
Nursing Facilities	/New York State Nursing Home Profile, NYS DOH available at: http://nursinghomes.nyhealth.gov/
Long term Home Health Care	
Program, Certified Home	Health Facility General Information. Health Data NY https://health.data.ny.gov/dataset/Health-Facility-General-
Health Agency	Information/vn5v-hh5r
Licensed assisted living	Licensed Assisted Living Residences, NYS DOH available at:
facility	https://www.health.ny.gov/facilities/assisted_living/licensed_programs_residences.htm
Palliative/Hospice	
lleeries	Health Facility General Information. Health Data NY https://health.data.ny.gov/dataset/Health-Facility-General-
Ноѕрісе	Information/vn5v-hh5r
	New York State Department of Health HIV Resource Directory
HIV/AIDS Resources	https://www.health.ny.gov/diseases/aids/general/resources/resource_directory/docs/syracuse.pdf
Non-Medical	
C	Health Facility General Information. Health Data NY https://health.data.ny.gov/dataset/Health-
САА	Facility-General-Information/vn5v-hh5r
	Health Facility General Information. Health Data NY https://health.data.nv.gov/dataset/Health-
ARC	Facility-General-Information/vn5v-hh5r
	Health Facility General Information, Health Data NV https://health.data.pv.gov/dataset/Health
YMCA	Facility Concerned Information. Treattin Data NT TILLPS.//Treattin.udid.fly.gov/udiaSet/Tealth-
	Facility-General-Information/vn5v-nn5r

# Table 2. Cayuga County Resources

Type of service	Providers	
Hospital	Auburn Community Hospital	
Outpatient primary care		
Diagnostic and Treatment Center	Cayuga County Department of Health	
	E John Gavras Center	
	East Hill Family Medical Inc.	
	Moravia Health Center	
	Summit Pediatrics	
	Fingerlakes Family Medicine	
Hospital-based clinics/Hospital Extension	Fingerlakes Medical Care Center	
	East Hill Family Medical Inc. & East Hill Family Medical Inc./Summit Pediatrics	
	Family Health Center New York, Inc. – Monrovia Medical Office	
FOHCs	Family Health Network, Inc.	
	Finger Lakes Migrant Health Project	
	Surgeuse Community Health Contor	
	CNYHHN (Central New York Health Home Network)	
Health Home	Onondaga Case Management Services Inc.	
	St. Joseph's Hospital Health Center	
	East Hill	
Dental	Family Health Network, Inc.	
	Finger Lakes Migrant Health	
Behavioral Health	Debayioral Health Linit at Auburn Community Hagnital	
Inpatient	Hillside Finger Lakes Compus PTE	
Outpatient	Cayuga County Community Mental Health Clinic	
Outpatient	Child/Adolescent Day Treatment Program	
	Family Realth Network, Inc.	
	Linity House Apartment Program	
	Unity House Cavuga Supported Housing/Cavuga - Comm Svcs	
Residential	Unity House Cayliga Supported Housing/Cayliga - Commissions	
	Unity House Supported Housing/Cavuga County - Comm. Sycs	
Post-acute		
	Auburn Nursing Home	
	Auburn Senior Services, Inc.	
Nursing Home/ Skilled Nursing Facilities	Finger Lakes Center for Living	
	Northwoods Rehabilitation & Extended Care Facility at Moravia	
Licensed assisted living facility	North Brook Heights Home for Adults	
Palliative/Hospice	Hospice of the Finger Lakes	
	AIDS Community Resources, Inc.	
	Access, Care and Resources for Health	
HIV/AIDS Resources	Cayuga County Health & Human Services	
	East Hill Family Medical	
Non-Medical		
САА	Cayuga/Senaca Community Action Agency, Inc.	
ARC	Senaca-Cayuga ARC	
YMCA	Auburn YMCA	

#### Table 3. Lewis County Resources

Type of service	Providers	
Hospital	Lewis County General Hospital	
Outpatient primary care		
Diagnostic and Treatment Center	Lewis County Public Health Agency	
	Beaver River Health Center	
	Harrisville Central School	
	Harrisville Health Center	
Hospital-based clinics/Hospital Extension	Harrisville Medical Center	
	Harrisville of E J Noble	
	South Lewis Health Center	
	South Lewis Middle-High School	
	Lewis County Opportunities	
FQHCs	North County Family Health Center – Lowville	
	CNYHHN (Central New York Health Home Network)	
Health Home	St. Joseph's Hospital Health Center	
Dentel	North Country Children's Clinic- Dental Services	
Dental	North County Family Health Center	
Behavioral Health		
Outpatient	North County Transitional Living Services Inc., Behavioral Health and Wellness Center	
	NCTLS Supp Housing/Lewis County Supp Housing-Comm.Svcs	
Residential	NCTLS Supp Housing/MRT SH Lewis Co Comm Svcs	
	NCTLS Supp Housing/RCE SH Lewis Cty - Comm Svcs	
Emergency	North County Transitional Living Services Inc., Crisis Intervention	
Post-acute		
Nursing Home/ Skilled Nursing Facilities	Lewis County General Hospital-Nursing Home Unit	
Certified Home Health Agency	Lewis County General Hospital Certified Home Healthcare Agency	
Palliative/Hospice	Lewis County General Hospital Hospice	
HIV/AIDS Resources	Lewis County Public Health Agency	
Non-Medical		
САА	Lewis County Opportunities, Inc.	
ARC	The ARC, Oneida-Lewis Chapter	

#### Table 4. Madison County Resources

Type of service	Providers	
	Community Memorial Hospital Inc	
Hospital	Oneida Healthcare	
Outpatient primary care		
Diagnostic and Treatment Center	Madison County Public Health Department	
	Bassett Hamilton Surgical Services	
	Bassett Healthcare Hamilton	
	Canastota-Lenox Health Center	
Hospital-based clinics/Hospital Extension	Chittenango Family Care	
	Family Health Centers of Community Memorial Hospital	
	Oneida Health Care Wellness and Rehabilitation Center	
	Maternal Child Health Center	
	Eamily Health Center of CMH – Hamilton (Rural Health Clinic)	
	Family Health Center of CMH - Marriavilla (Rural Health Clinic)	
FQHCs/Health Centers	Operating Realth Center of Civin – Morrisvine (Rulai Realth Cinic)	
	Chercence Community Health Program (Indian Health Service Facility)	
	Syracuse Community Health Center	
	CNYHHN (Central New York Health Home Network)	
Health Home	Onondaga Case Management Services Inc.	
	St. Joseph's Hospital Health Center	
Additional Safety Net Providers	The Mary Rose Clinic	
Planned Parenthood	Planned Parenthood Mohawk Hudson Inc	
	Bassett Health Care Dental Department	
Dental	Community Memorial Hospital	
	Sitrin Medical Rehab Center	
Behavioral Health		
Outpatient	Consumer Services of Madison County, Consumer Services PROS	
	Consumer Services Supported Housing/Madison Co. Comm. Sucs	
	Liberty Resources OMH Apartments	
Residential	Liberty Resources Supported Housing/Madison - Comm. Sycs	
	Venture House	
Post-acute		
	Chittenango Center for Rehabilitation and Health Care	
Number - Lines / Chilled Number - Facilities	Community Memorial Hospital Inc NH Unit	
Nursing Home/ Skilled Nursing Facilities	Crouse Community Center Inc	
	Oneida Healthcare	
Certified Home Health Agency	HCR	
Long term Home Health Care program	HCR	
Adult day health care program	Cazenovia Senior Services	
	Hamilton Adult Day Services Program	
HIV/AIDS Resources	Madison County Department of Health	
Community Coalitions dba PPIDGES		
	Community Action Partnership for Madison County Inc	
ARC	Madison-Cortland ARC	
YMCA	Oneida Family YMCA	

#### Table 5. Oneida County Resources

Type of service	Providers
Hospital	Faxton-St Lukes Healthcare St Lukes Division
	Mohawk Valley Heart Institute, Inc
	Rome Memorial Hospital, Inc
	St Elizabeth Medical Center
Outpatient primary care	
	Boonville Medical Office
	Harden Blvd Health Center
	Oneida County Health Department
Diagnostic and Treatment Contor	Sitrin Medical Rehabilitation Center
Diagnostic and Treatment Center	UCP at Brookley Road
	UCP Clinic at Rome
	UCP & Handicapped Persons of Utica Area
	Utica Community Health Center
	Alcohol Outpatient Clinic
	Barneveld Clinic
	Barneveld Office
	Bassett Healthcare - Clinton
	Boonville Family Care
	Boonville Medical Office
	Chestnut Commons Point Rehab Center
	Clinton Family Health Center
	Community Medical Services-Mohawk
	Community Medicine - East Utica
	F-SLH Regional Cancer Center Rome
	Family Health Centers of Community Memorial Hospital
	Family Practice - New Hartford
	Faxton Medical Campus
	FSLH - St. Luke's Home Renal Dialysis
Lespital based clinics (Lespital Extension	Genesee Urgent Care
Hospital-based clinics/Hospital Extension	Hampden Place
	Harden Boulevard Health Center
	Little Falls Family Practice
	New Hartford ACP Medical Office
	North Utica Community Health Center
	North Utica Medical Office
	Prime Care
	Regional Wound Care Center
	Rome Memorial Hospital
	Sauquoit Community Medicine
	Sister Rose Vincent Family Medicine Center
	St. Elizabeth Medical Group-New Hartford
	St. Elizabeth Medical Arts
	Verona Health Center
	Washington Mills Office
	Waterville Family Health Center

Hospital-based clinics/Hospital Extension	Waterville Office
	Whitesboro Office
	Women and Children's Family Health Center
	Family Health Center of CMH – Waterville (Rural Health Clinic)
	North County Family Health Center
FOHCs	Northern Oswego Community Health Services
	Rochester Primary Care Network
	Surgeuse Community Health Contor
Health Home	CNYHHN (Central New York Health Home Network)
Planned Parenthood	Planned Parenthood Mohawk Hudson Inc
	Faxton-St Luke's Healthcare
Dental	Sitrin Dental Clinic
	Sitrin Medical Rehab Center
	UCP Handi Per Of Utica Area
Behavioral Health	Control New York Develoption Control Develoption (control to b)
	Central New York Psychiatric Center - Psychiatric Inpatient Unit
	Faxton-st. Luke's Healthcare Psychiatric IP Unit
Innotiont	House of the Good Shepherd RTF
inpatient	Roma Memorial Hashital Saniar Babayiaral Hashth Unit
	St. Elizabeth Hospital Devebiatric Inpational Unit
	Central New York Psychiatric Center - Psychiatric Innatient   Init
	Community Health & Behavioral Services CDTP
	Community Health & Behavioral Services Clinic Program
	Dr. Rao Behavioral Health Clinic
	Mental Health Connections of Utica
Outpatient	MVPC ACT
	Neighborhood Center Behavioral Health - Rome
	Rome Clinic
	York Street Clinic
	Adult Community Residence
	Albany Street Community Residence
	Cath Char O-M/MRT Supp Housing Oneida Cty - Comm Svcs
	Cath Char RC Dio Syr SH/Oneida Cty PC Long Stay Comm Svcs
	Catholic Char/Utica-Rome- Supported Housing-Comm.Svcs.
	Churchill Avenue Community Residence
	CNYS - Supported Housing/S+C - Comm. Svcs.
	Enriched Living Center
Residential	North George Street Community Residence
	Noyes Street Community Residence
	Oneida Street Community Residence
	Pathways to Independent Living
	Transitional Living Center
	UCP Supported Housing/Oneida-Comm.Svcs.
	UCP/MRT Supported Housing Uneida Cty - Comm Svcs
	Whiteshare Community Residence
	Vorkville Community Residence
Post-acute	
· Ost-acute	Bethany Gardens Skilled Living Center
	Betsy Ross Rehabilitation Center, Inc
Nursing Home/ Skilled Nursing Facilities	Charles T Sitrin Health Care Center Inc
	Colonial Park Rehabilitation and Nursing Center

	Eastern Star Home & Infirmary	
	Focus Rehabilitation and Nursing Center at Utica	
	Harding Nursing Home	
	Heritage Health Care Center	
	Katherine Luther Residential Health Care and Rehabilitation Center	
	Masonic Care Community of New York	
Nursing Home/ Skilled Nursing Facilities	Presbyterian Home for Central New York Inc	
	Rome Center for Rehabilitation and Health Care	
	Rome Memorial Hospital, Inc - RHCF	
	St Joseph Nursing Home Co of Utica	
	St Luke's Home	
	Sunset Nursing and Rehabilitation Center, Inc.	
	The Pines at Utica Center for Nursing & Rehabilitation	
	Cedarbrook Village, Incorporated	
Licensed Assisted Living Facility	Loretto Utica Center Enriched Housing Program	
Licensed Assisted Living Facility	Presbyterian Residential Community	
	The Terrace at Woodland	
	Acacia Certified Home Care Company	
Certified Home Health Agency	St Elizabeth Certified Home Care	
	Visiting Nurse Association of Utica and Oneida County Inc	
Long term Home Health Care program	Visiting Nurse Association of Utica and Oneida County Inc	
Palliative/Hospice	Hospice and Palliative Care, Inc.	
	AIDS Community Resources, Inc.	
	Access, Care and Resources for Health	
	St. Elizabeth Medical Center	
niv/AiD3 Resources	Oneida County Department of Health	
	Rome Memorial Hospital	
	St. Luke's Memorial Hospital Center	
Non-Medical		
Community Coalitions	Comprehensive Adolescent Pregnancy Prevention Projects	
community coantions	dba BRiDGES	
CAA	Mohawk Valley Community Action Agency, Inc.	
ARC	The ARC, Oneida-Lewis Chapter	
	Family Rome YMCA	
YMCA	New Hartford YMCA	
	YWCA Mohawk Valley	

# Table 6. Onondaga County Resources

Type of service	Providers
Hospital	Crouse Hospital
	Crouse Hospital - Commonwealth Division
	St Joseph's Hospital Health Center
	Syracuse VA
	University Hospital SUNY Health Science Center
	UPSTATE University Hospital at Community General
Outpatient primary care	
	Christian Health Service of Syracuse, Inc
	Independent Living Service Health Center
	Lafayette Health Center
	McAuliffe Health Center
	Onondaga County Department of Health
Diagnostic and Treatment Center	St Camillus Residential Health Care Facility
	Syracuse Community Health Center East
	Syracuse Community Health Center Inc
	Syracuse Community Health Center South
	Syracuse Community Health Center West
	U C P and Handicapped Children's Association of Syracuse Inc
	Adolescent Drug & Alcohol Abuse Program
	Cardiopulmonary Rehabilitation
	Community General Hospital Health Education and Rehab West
	Crouse East Hand Clinic
	Crouse Hospital Physical Therapy
	Crouse Neurology
	Crouse Prompt Care
	Development Evaluation Center
	Hutchings Psychiatric Center
	Joslin Diabetes Center
	Maternal Child Health Center
	Primary Care Center-West
	SJHHC Northeast Medical Center
Hospital-based clinics/Hospital Extension	St Joseph's Hosp Mental Health Center
	St Joseph's Hosp Outpatient Svs
	St Joseph's Hospital Health Center-Asc
	UHCC – Harrison
	UHCC - Madison Irving
	UHCC at Hill Medical
	UHCC-IHP
	UHCC-POB
	University Health Care Center
	UPSTATE C.A.R.E.
	Upstate Campus East
	Upstate Pediatrics
	UPSTATE University Hospital at Community General Outpatient Therapy Services
	Urgent Medical Care of Skaneateles

	Bellevue Middle School Health Center (School Health Center)
	Delaware Elementary School Based Health Center (School Health Center)
	Dr. Weeks Elementary SBHC (School Health Center)
	Dr. King Elementary SBHC (School Health Center)
	East Hill Family Medical Inc.
	Family Health Network of CNY
	Fowler High School Based Health Center (School Health Center)
	Franklin Elementary School Health Center (School Health Center)
	Grant Middle School Health Center (School Health Center)
	HW Smith School Health Center (School Health Center)
FOHCs	Onondaga Nation of New York Health Center (Indian Health Service Facility)
	Northern Oswego Community Health Services
	Surgeuse Community Health Center
	Syracuse Community Health Center Eact Health Center
	Syracuse Community Health Center – East Health Center
	Syracuse Community Health Center - LaFayette Family Health Center
	Syracuse Community Health Center – Rescue Mission Clinic
	Syracuse Community Health Center – Ross Towers Apartments Health Center
	Syracuse Community Health Center – Southwest Health Center
	Syracuse Community Health Center – South Site
	Syracuse Community Health Center – West Health Center
	Westside Academy at Blodgett School Health Center (School Health Center)
	Rahma Clinic
Additional Safety Net Providers	AMAUS Medical Services
	Poverello Health Center
	Onondaga Case Management Services Inc.
Health Home	St. Joseph's Hospital Health Center
Planned Parenthood	Planned Parenthood of Central and Western New York
	Loretto Geriatric Center
Devited	St Joseph's Hospital Health Center
Dental	Syracuse Community Health Center Inc (3 sites)
	University Hospital Suny Health Science (2 sites)
Behavioral	
	Psychiatric Inpatient Unit
Inpatient	St. Joseph's Inpatient Psychiatric Services
	SUNY Health Science Center Psychiatric Inpatient Unit
	Aries Child & Family Community General IP Unit
	CYS Outpatient Clinic
	Madison Street Clinic
	OCMS Outpatient Behavioral Health Clinic
	Onondaga Case Management ACT Program
Outpatient	Onondaga County Clinic Treatment Services
	Onondaga County Day Treatment Program
	Outpatient Psychiatry Clinic
	SBH Mental Health Clinic
	St. Joseph's Child and Family Outpatient Clinic
	St. Joseph's Hospital Adult/Adolescent Clinic
	St. Joseph's Hospital Health Center PROS
	i ne Brownell Center for Benavioral Health

	Washington Street Clinic
	Central New York Services at The Hawthorn
	CNYS - Supported Housing/Onondaga County-Comm.Svcs.
	CNYS SH/Onondaga Cty PC Long Stay Comm Svcs
	CNYS/MRT Supp Housing Onondaga Cty - Comm Svcs
	Court Street Community Residence
	Florence House
	Gateway House SRO
	Genesee Street Residence
	Glenwood Avenue SOCR
	Highland Avenue Community Residence
	Liverpool Community Residence
Residential	Loretto Community Residence - Baldwinsville
	Loretto Geriatric Community Residence
	Madison Towers Community Residence
	Salvation Army - SH/State Street Apartments - Comm. Svcs.
	Salvation Army Supported Housing/Onondaga-Comm.Svcs.
	Sterling House Community Residence
	The Children's Community Residence
	The Homestead
	Thompson Road Community Residence
	TLS - Onondaga Co Supported Housing - Comm. Svcs
	Transitional Living Services Apartment Program
	C&Y - HBCI
	Emergency Housing & Respite Services (EHRS)
	Home Based Crisis Intervention
Emergency	St. Joseph's CPEP
	YES Team Program
	Youth Emergency Services
Post-Acute	
	Central Park Rehabilitation and Nursing Center
	Elderwood at Liverpool
	Iroquois Nursing Home Inc
	James Square Health and Rehabilitation Centre
	Jewish Home of Central New York
	Loretto Health and Rehabilitation Center
Nursing Home/ Skilled Nursing Facilities	Nottingham RCHF
	St Camillus Residential Health Care Facility
	Sunnyside Care Center
	Syracuse Home Association
	The Cottages at Garden Grove, a Skilled Nursing Community
	The Crossings Nursing and Rehabilitation Centre
	Van Duyn Center for Rehabilitation and Nursing
	Buckley Landing Enriched Housing Site #6
	Loretto EHP #1 Bernardine Apartments
Line and Analysis during the State	Loretto Village Apts. Enriched Housing Site #5
Licensed Assisted Living Facility	Manlius Home for Adults
	Park Terrace at Radisson
	Sedgwick Heights
	Visiting Nurse Association of Central New York Inc
	Visiting Nulse Association of Central New Tork Inc
Certified Home Health Agency	St Camillus Home Care Agency

	St Josephs Hospital Health Center CHHA
	CCH Home Care & Palliative Services Inc
Long term Home Health Care program	Visiting Nurse Association of Central New York Inc
Adult Day Health Care Program	Day Break On Intrepid Lane
Palliative/Hospice	Hospice of Central New York Hospice & Palliative Care Associates
	Access, Care and Resources for Health
	AIDS Community Resources, Inc.
	American Indian Community House, Inc.
	Onondaga County Health Department
niv/AiDS Resources	St. Joseph's Hospital
	SUNY Upstate Medical Center
	Syracuse Community Health Center
	Syracuse Model Neighborhood Facility, Inc.
Non-Medical	
	Comprehensive Adolescent Pregnancy Prevention Projects
Community Coalitions	Creating Healthy Places Network
	Tobacco Free Onondaga County
CAA	PEACE, Inc
ARC	ARC of Onondaga
	Baldwinsville Family YMCA
	Downtown Syracuse YMCA
	East Area Family YMCA
YMCA	Manlius YMCA
	North Area Family YMCA
	Southwest YMCA
	YWCA Syracuse and Onondaga County

#### Table 7. Oswego County Resources

Type of service	Providers
Hospital	Oswego Hospital
	Oswego Hospital - Alvin L Krakau Comm Mtl Health Center Div
Outpatient primary care	
	Fulton Health Center
	Mary Walker Health Center Clinic
	Mexico Health Center
	Northern Oswego County Health Services Inc
	Northern Oswego County Health Services Inc Fulton
Diagnostic and Treatment Center	Northern Oswego County Health Services Inc Oswego
	Oswego County Health Dept
	Oswego County Health Dept
	Oswego County Opportunities Inc
	Parish Health Center
	Phoenix Health Center
	AMS of Oswego Health
	Central Square Medical Health Center
	Fulton Medical Health Center
	Hannibal Primary Care Center
	Lakeside Heart Clinic
	OH Fulton Health Services Center
	Orleans Community Health Center
	Oswego Hospital Radiology & Lab Services
Hospital-based clinics/Hospital Extension	Oswego Hospital/Mexico Family Health Center
	Oswego Hospital Fulton Health Services Center
	Parish Health Services Center
	Phoenix Health Services Center
	Phoenix Primary Care Center
	Radiology Ext Clinic Pulaski
	Samaritan Family Health Center
	Seneca Hill Health Services Center
	APW High School Based Health Center (School Health Center)
FQHCs	East Hill Family Medical Inc.
	Health Center at Mexico Middle School (School Health Center)
	Health Center at Pulaski Jr/Sr High School School (School Health Center)
	Health Center at Sandy Creek School (School Health Center)
	Lura M. Sharp Elementary School Health Center
	North County Family Health Center
	Northern Oswego Community Health Services
	Northern Oswego Community Health Services – Fulton Health Center
	Northern Oswego Community Health Services – Mexico Health Services Center
	Northern Oswego Community Health Services – Parish Health Services Center
	Northern Oswego Community Health Services – Phoenix Health Services Center
	Oswego Health Center
	The Health Center at APW Elementary School (School Health Center)

Health Home	Onondaga Case Management Services Inc.					
nealth nome	St. Joseph's Hospital Health Center					
Dental	Pulaski Health Center Dental					
Behavioral Health						
Inpatient	Oswego Hospital Mental Health Center Division Psych IP Unit					
	Child and Adolescent Psychiatry Services					
Outpatient	Jswego Hospital ACT Program					
	Oswego Hospital Outpatient Treatment Program					
Outpatient	Stepping Stones Day Treatment					
	Oswego County - Supported Housing-Comm.Svcs.					
	Oswego County DSS SH/PC Long Stay SH Oswego Cty-Comm Svcs					
Residential	Jswego County Opportunities - Transitional Living Residence					
	Oswego County Opportunities Apartment Program					
	Oswego DSS/MRT Supp Housing Oswego Cty - Comm Svcs					
Emergency	Oswego Health Opportunities - Mental Health Crisis Residential Service					
Post-acute						
	Michaud Residential Health Services, Inc.					
	Morningstar Residential Care Center					
Nursing Home/ Skilled Nursing Facilities	Pontiac Nursing Home					
	Seneca Hill Manor Inc					
	St Luke Residential Health Care Facility Inc					
Certified Health Home Agency	Oswego County Department of Health Division of Nursing					
Long term Home Health Care program	Oswego County Health Department Division of Nursing					
Palliative/Hospice	Oswego County Hospice					
Non-Medical						
Community Coalition	Comprehensive Adolescent Pregnancy Prevention Projects					
community coantion	Tobacco Free Network					
CAA	Oswego County Opportunities, Inc.					
ARC	ARC of Oswego					
VMCA	Fulton Family YMCA					
	Oswego YMCA					

#### Appendix C. Quality Data – Hospitals, FQHCs, and HEDIS Data

#### Table 1. Hospital Quality Data

	Complications	Deaths - Other Conditions	Emergency Department Wait Time (minutes)	Hospital- Acquired Infections - Bloodstream	Hospital Acquired Infections- Surgical Site	Patient Satisfaction	Readmiss- ions Within 30 Days	Heart Attack Patients Readmitted within 30 Days	Heart Failure Patients Readmitted to Hospital within 30 Days	Pneumonia Patients Readmitted within 30 Days	Timely and effective care (composite measure)
Auburn Community	0.82	1.37	60	0	0.00	53%	19%	19%	21%	17%	95.3%
Canton-Potsdam	0.70	0.89	24	0	0.73	66%	20%	n/a	24%	17%	97.6%
Claxton-Hepburn	0.76	0.9	22	0	0.00	60%	20%	19%	23%	18%	98.4%
Clifton-Fine	0.99	1.05	n/a	n/a	n/a	82%	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a
Community Memorial	1.01	1.02	31	0	0.00	82%	19%	n/a	22%	17%	99.5%
Cortland Regional Medical	0.80	1.19	35	0	0.43	57%	n/a	n/a	26%	18%	96.5%
Crouse	0.97	1.07	19	1.08	0.89	63%	22%	18%	26%	19%	97.8%
Faxton-St Lukes Healthcare	0.89	1.15	56	2.12	1.10	62%	22%	18%	24%	20%	96.9%
Gouverneur	0.91	1.27	n/a	n/a	n/a	64%	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a
Lewis County General	1.17	1.09	35	0	0.00	70%	18%	n/a	21%	16%	86.3%
Little Falls	0.92	1.33	42	n/a	n/a	72%	20%	n/a	24%	18%	78.4%
Massena Memorial	0.93	1.09	24	n/a	0.00	59%	21%	n/a	22%	20%	99.2%
Oneida Healthcare	0.89	1.15	35	0	1.25	69%	21%	n/a	24%	18%	96.3%
Oswego	0.80	1.28	27	0	1.21	60%	22%	19%	26%	19%	95.0%
Rome Memorial	0.69	1.41	45	0	0.32	64%	21%	19%	23%	20%	95.3%
St. Elizabeth Medical Center	1.03	1.22	38	0.25	1.07	70%	22%	20%	24%	19%	97.1%
St. Josephs	0.73	1.21	84	1.01	1.02	73%	21%	20%	25%	20%	98.5%
Syracuse VA	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	23%	21%	25%	23%	98.3%
University Hospital SUNY	1.08	1.13	44	0.65	0.68	63%	21%	17%	24%	20%	95.6%
Upstate University Hospital	0.89	1.09	n/a	0	1.37	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a

Data Source: NYS Health Profiles, NYS DOH available at: http://profiles.health.ny.gov/hospital/index

n/a = Hospital has too few cases to report

#### Key:

**Complications:** Combines information for common patient safety problems in the hospital. The score displayed is a ratio compared to the national average of 1.0 (PSI 90). Lower is better. **Deaths, non-cardiac surgery related:** This score combines hospital mortality information for common conditions. The score displayed is a ratio compared the national average of 1.0 (IQI 91). Lower is better.

Emergency department wait time: Average time patients spent in the emergency department before they were seen by a healthcare professional. Lower is better.

Hospital-Acquired Infections – Bloodstream: The CLABSI Overall Standardized Infection Ratio (SIR) summarizes the average performance across all available types of ICUs. The SIR compares the infection rates in a small population (a hospital) to infection rates in a standard population (NYS in the same year), after adjusting for risk factors that might affect the chance of developing an infection. The SIR is the actual number of infections in the hospital, divided by the number of infections that would be statistically predicted if the standard population (NYS) had the same risk distribution as the observed population. Lower is better.

Hospital Acquired Infections- Surgical Site: The overall SSI Standardized Infection Ratio (SIR) is calculated as the sum of the observed number of surgical site infections divided by the sum of the predicted number of surgical site infections. Lower is better.

Patient Satisfaction: This measure is used to assess adult inpatients' perception of their hospital. Patients rate their hospital on a scale from 0 to 10, where 0 is the worst hospital possible and 10 is the best hospital possible. Higher is better.

Readmissions Within 30 Days: A composite average of the 30-day readmission rates for heart attack, heart failure, and pneumonia. Lower is better.

Heart Attack Patients Readmitted within 30 Days: This measure shows the all-cause 30-day readmission rate for patients discharged from a previous hospital stay for heart attack. Lower is better. Heart Failure Patients Readmitted to Hospital within 30 Days: This measure shows the all-cause 30-day readmission rate for patients discharged from a previous hospital stay for heart failure. Lower is better.

Pneumonia Patients Readmitted within 30 Days: This measure shows the all-cause 30-day readmission rate for patients discharged from a previous hospital stay for pneumonia. Lower is better. Timely and effective care (Composite measure): This measure is a weighted average of all of the process-of-care, or "core" measures, reported on CMS Hospital Compare. Higher is better.

# Table 2. Federally Qualified Health Center (FQHC) Quality Data

	Syracuse CHC	Northern Oswego Community Health Services	East Hill Family Medical, Inc.	Finger Lakes Migrant Health Project	Family Health Network of CNY	Rochester Primary Care Network	North Country Family Health	United Cerebral Palsy Association of the North	All New York State Health Center	All National Health Centers
	25.00/	21.0%	24.00/	0.7%	22.10/	21.20/		Country, Inc.	10 5%	22.0%
Prevalence of hypertension	25.0%	21.0%	24.8%	9.7%	23.1%	21.2%	29.6%	31.3%	19.5%	23.6%
Prevalence of diabetes	9.1%	22.0%	13.4%	5.6%	10.0%	10.2%	16.0%	16.9%	10.0%	12.6%
Prevalence of asthma	9.7%	9.0%	3.9%	2.5%	5.0%	6.6%	12.7%	6.9%	8.3%	5.9%
Prevalence of HIV	0.3%	0.0%	0.0%	0.1%	0.0%	0.1%	0.0%	0.0%	1.3%	0.6%
% of prenatal patients with visit in first trimester	80.3%	n/a	14.3%	n/a	93.5%	70.3%	n/a	n/a	77%	72%
% of births low birth weight	7.3%	n/a	n/a	n/a	4.3%	8.8%	n/a	n/a	6.7%	7.3%
% of females 15-44 up to date on cervical cancer screening	71.4%	30.0%	78.6%	33.7%	47.4%	61.5%	78.6%	51.3%	61.8%	57.8%
% of adolescents up to date on weight screening and follow up	87.1%	49.7%	34.3%	53.0%	63.9%	82.6%	52.9%	3.0%	55.7%	51.8%
% of adults up to date on weight screening and follow up	31.4%	24.6%	91.4%	43.5%	33.2%	44.5%	50.0%	31.7%	53.3%	53.3%
% of patients screened for tobacco use	100.0%	94.0%	92.9%	70.9%	89.0%	95.3%	100.0%	97.9%	90.4%	91.5%
% of tobacco users counseled for cessation	100.0%	30.6%	62.9%	81.3%	88.4%	57.7%	91.8%	61.9%	68.6%	63.7%
% of patients up to date on colorectal cancer screening	57.1%	25.7%	40.0%	24.5%	40.7%	13.7%	40.0%	32.0%	35.6%	32.6%
% of children up to date on immunizations	91.4%	47.1%	84.3%	72.0%	43.2%	84.0%	87.1%	63.6%	76.2%	76.4%
% of persistent asthmatics receiving treatment	100.0%	82.2%	31.4%	50.3%	88.6%	94.1%	74.3%	88.0%	75.6%	77.7%
% of coronary artery disease patients on lipid therapy	100.0%	93.0%	74.3%	40.7%	80.8%	89.5%	82.4%	89.2%	80.1%	75.1%
% of vascular disease patients on aspirin therapy	98.6%	73.6%	82.9%	50.0%	76.8%	84.6%	68.5%	88.5%	81.7%	74.8%
% of hypertensive patients with blood pressure < 140/90	65.7%	73.4%	81.4%	69.7%	62.1%	55.2%	52.9%	70.4%	68.0%	63.6%
% of diabetics with HbA1c <= 9%	68.6%	67.4%	85.7%	75.5%	71.6%	74.2%	82.9%	77.1%	74.7%	68.9%
Data Source: State and Individual Program Grantee Data, Bureau of Primary Health Care, available at: http://bphc.hrsa.gov/uds/datacenter.aspx?g=d&year=2013&state=NY#glist										

# Table 3. HEDIS Measures from DSRIP Clinical Process of Quality Measures Chartbooks

	Cayuga	Cortland	Herkimer	Lewis	Madison	Oneida	Onondaga	Oswego	ST. Lawrence	Upstate New York	New York State
A. Behavioral Health											
Adherence to Antipsychotic Medications for People Living with Schizophrenia	76	68	U	U	U	60*	50*	62*	58*	65	63
Antidepressant Medication Management - Effective Treatment for Acute Phase	57	69	U	U	U	46*	45*	49*	60	51	49
Diabetes Monitoring for People with Diabetes and Schizophrenia	U	U	U	U	U	75	65*	U	U	66	68
Diabetes Screening for People with Schizophrenia/BPD Who are Using Antipsychotic Med.	78	U	83	U	U	74*	84	80	80	77	79
Follow-up after hospitalization for Mental Illness within 30 days	70	62	64	58*	68	51*	48*	72	34*	59	55
Follow-up care for Children Prescribed ADHD Medications - Initiation Phase	57	59	45*	U	55	57	53	59	45*	51	57
Initiation of Alcohol and Other Drug Dependence Treatment	83	73*	79	77*	75*	77*	72*	84	79	78	78
C. Diabetes Mellitus											
Comprehensive Diabetes Care HbA1c Testing	78	82	84	85	74*	81	76	78	79	76	80
E. HIV/AIDS											
Cervical Cancer Screening	66	73	71	59*	64	73	66	66	58*	63	67
Chlamydia Screening Among Young Women	54*	57*	55*	38*	57*	65	68	28*	46*	58	66
Comprehensive Care for People Living with HIV or AIDS - Engagement in Care	U	U	U	NA	U	91	93	U	U	90	89
Comprehensive Care for People Living with HIV or AIDS - Syphilis Screening	U	U	U	NA	U	69	56*	U	U	59	69
Comprehensive Care for People Living with HIV or AIDS - Viral Load Monitoring	U	U	U	NA	U	60	70	U	U	64	66
F. Perinatal Care											
Well-Child Visits in the First 15 Months of Life	88	92	93	83*	87	92	89	83*	81*	87	85
Breast Cancer Screening Among Women	50*	61	61	49*	54*	64	61	55	49*	55	63
Colorectal Cancer Screening	36*	38*	45	39*	43	45	39*	40*	39*	41	49
Data Source: Revised DSRIP Clinical Process of Quality Measures Chartbooks (*) Worse than upstate value (U) Unreportable due to number of recipients in these data being <30 (NA) Data not available											



# Appendix D. Executive Summary of Central NY Needs Assessment

# I. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

# A. Purpose and Rationale

The purpose of this assessment was to collect information from quantitative and qualitative sources to help the HFWCNY and regional primary care stakeholders better understand community need as well as primary care safety-net strength and capacity.

More specifically, the primary objectives of this project were to:

- 1. Describe and assess the **underlying demand for primary care services,** including the identification of at-risk populations, priority health issues, service gaps, and barriers to access.
- 2. Describe and assess the existing **supply of primary care system** with respect to capacity, quality, and strength.
- 3. Assess consumer experience with primary care.
- 4. Assess the **impact and consequence of health care reform** with respect to internal operations and external collaboration.

# **B. Key Findings**

# 1. Primary Care Demand and Community Need

• Large numbers and percentages of low-income, racial/ethnic minority, and refugee/immigrant populations throughout the region struggle with access to health care and disparities in outcomes, particularly in the region's urban areas but also throughout rural areas.



• High rates of morbidity for the leading health conditions throughout the central New York region, particularly in Syracuse and Utica.



Large numbers of uninsured populations throughout the region who lack access to health care and will continue to lack access even after the implementation of the ACA.



1



High rates of preventable inpatient service utilization throughout the region indicate gaps in primary care capacity.

# 2. Consumer Input and Barriers to Access

The majority of parents (71%) reported that they were able to get an appointment to see a provider the same day that their child was sick. In comparison to the WNYCS survey, access to acute care visits is much higher in central New York, with more families able to access same-day appointments and fewer families choosing the emergency room.



The rate of emergency room utilization for adults surveyed 39% compared to 28% nationally • in 2012. Of those who did visit the emergency room, only 56% did so for an emergent



medical emergency.

When asked about ability to access • provider over the phone, 43% of adults said that if they called their provider responded the same day. Compared to the national CAHPS survey, which found that 63% of adults were able to get a response from their provider the same day, central New York patients experienced poorer phone access.

Children had much higher rates of dental

access than adults, as 75% children received all the preventive dental care they needed, compared to 55% of adults.

Forty percent (40%) of parents said their child did not need specialty care in the last year.



Patients Served by FQHCs in Central New York

Of the 60% of respondents who said their child did needed specialty care, 30% reported some problem accessing a specialty provider.

# 3. Primary Care Structure, Supply, Capacity

• FQHCs play a major role in the region, particularly in Syracuse. Since 2007, the number of patients served by FQHCs in central New York has increased by more than 25%. from approximately 60,000 patients in 2007 to more than 80,000 patients in 2012.



• Private, hospital-affiliated, and independent primary care providers play a major role in the safety-net in most communities in the region and are often the leading primary care providers in their market areas. With the implementation of ACA, the hospital based practices are becoming more integral to hospital service delivery and business strategy to develop integrated delivery systems that are offered incentives to keep patients and communities healthy rather than to provide certain scope of services.



- Despite the dramatic growth in core safety-net provider organizations, there is still substantial unmet need in the region, particularly among low-income segments of the population. In some communities, the safety-net's penetration into the low-income population may be as low as 20-30%.
- Urgent care clinics are evolving in many markets as a way of expanding

capacity to provide more timely care while simultaneously reducing the burden that nonemergent, emergency department utilization has on hospitals and patients. Many people think this is positive but others feel that it threatens "core" safety-net providers, whose goal and financial position is often dependent on promoting a more stable "medical home."

	Strengths	Weaknesses
Outreach, Eligibility/Enrollme nt, and Primary Care Engagement	<ul> <li>FQHCs and other core safety-net providers are conducting extensive outreach, insurance eligibility screening, and insurance enrollment efforts.</li> <li>In some cases, these efforts are being accomplished with outreach workers who are going to underserved communities and/or working with other community partners.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Need for greater outreach, insurance eligibility screening, and enrollment efforts particularly among non-FQHC providers.</li> <li>Lack of primary care engagement, particularly for people with chronic illness or with risk-factors.</li> <li>Emergency department diversion programs to promote engagement in more appropriate primary care.</li> </ul>
Patient-Centered Medical Home	<ul> <li>Most primary care safety-net practices have embraced patient-centered medical home (PCMH) principles, such as:</li> <li>Implementation of EHR</li> <li>Tracking of quality indicators</li> <li>Implementation of quality systems</li> <li>Case and care management services</li> <li>External referral systems</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Need to invest resources to bridge gap between theory and practice and promote the full implementation and practice of PCMH principles, such as:         <ul> <li>Population-based panel management of preventive services and chronic disease</li> <li>Provider communication</li> <li>Information transfer between specialists</li> </ul> </li> </ul>

# 4. Primary Care Internal Operational Strengths and Weaknesses



Utilization of Interdisciplinary Teams	<ul> <li>Specialty care and mental health integration through co-located and enhanced referral mechanisms.</li> <li>Some level of case and care management services is provided at most safety-net practice sites.</li> <li>Appointment reminder calls and specialty care referral scheduling.</li> </ul>	• Team-based approaches to providing primary care that involve physicians as well as nurse practitioners, physician assistants, and other mid- level providers have shown to be very effective and efficient, yet there is limited evidence of these models being applied in the region.
Health Information Technology (HIT) and Quality Improvement	<ul> <li>Most safety-net practices are using robust electronic medical record systems.</li> <li>Most are tracking quality indicators and many have applied quality improvement protocols.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Most practice sites lack the time, resources, and understanding to train providers to fully use their medical record systems to identify those at-risk, manage follow-up, communicate with other providers, and coordinate care.</li> </ul>
Administrative Operations and Procedures		<ul> <li>One of the most significant barriers to safety-net growth is primary care provider recruitment, especially in rural areas.</li> <li>Many practices struggle with coding, billing, and other financial procedures.</li> </ul>

#### 5. Primary Care External Partnerships and Collaboration

• The central New York region, as most in the nation, has struggled to coordinate and integrate its primary care system and safety-net. The Affordable Care Act has supported collaboration, through encouraging preventive care and new collaborations across providers through accountable care organizations. Continued efforts must be made to remove barriers to collaboration so that health and social service providers can explore how to enhance the quality of clinical care, better integrate and coordinate services, improve patient experience, and reduce inefficiencies.

# **D. Recommendations**

The findings above highlight the fact that there is a strong, diverse group of safety-net providers operating throughout the region. While no county in central New York is completely lacking in safety-net capacity, there is still dramatic unmet need and limited capacity throughout the region. There is also considerable room for safety-net providers to improve the quality and efficiency of operations. The following recommendations from the JSI project team are intended to guide how primary care safety-net providers and other stakeholders in the region should work individually and collectively to strengthen and build the capacity of the safety-net and continue to respond to ACA and other current and emerging health service delivery and payment reform trends.



# Strengthen and Expand the Capacity of the Primary Care Safety-net

This assessment highlights the need to strengthen primary care operations and expand the capacity of the primary care safety to address unmet needs, fill capacity gaps, and improve the overall quality and efficiency of the care provided.

#### 1. Focus on operational improvement

Primary care safety-net strengthening efforts should focus initially on enhancing internal clinical and administrative operations and systems. The goal of these efforts should be to create patient-centered, coordinated, integrated, service delivery approaches that improve quality, safety, and access.

The following are the leading areas that need to be addressed:

- Internal clinical and administrative procedures
- *Quality and performance improvement*
- Chronic disease management

# 2. Expand primary care capacity

Despite progress in the past five years, efforts still need to be made to increase primary care safety-net capacity. This should be accomplished through a multi-pronged strategy that focuses first on maximizing existing primary care capacity and then on adding providers or practice sites across the spectrum of "core," "essential," and "contributing" safety-net categories, as appropriate.

- *Prioritize expanding access through current providers*: Explore how to address unmet need by refining patient flow, developing primary care pods, creating interdisciplinary teams, and other ways that increase productivity and maximize existing capacity.
- *Take a multi-pronged approach to expansion:* Primary care expansion should include supporting not only core but also essential and contributing providers in their ability to serve the safety-net.

#### 3. Support primary care provider recruitment and retention

Almost all safety-net providers in the region struggle to recruit physicians and fill gaps in their clinical staffing. This issue is not unique to central New York and its safety-net providers but is an issue for safety-net providers throughout the nation particularly in rural areas.

• Support regional approach to recruitment and retention: Utilize the expertise of agencies and organizations that are closely involved in provider training and development in the state and nationally, such as CHCANYS, Area Health Education Centers (AHEC), NYS Primary Care Office, and the National Health Service Corps (NHSC), to develop a regional strategy to primary care providers. This could include development of a toolkit or resource center that works on behalf of the region's safety-net.



# Promote Population-based Approaches to Community Health and Consumer Engagement in a Patient-Centered Medical Home

There is growing appreciation in the health care field that communities must act collectively to reduce health care disparities and improve their overall health and well-being. To do so, communities should develop a shared agenda and implement targeted, well-integrated efforts that build on existing programs or assets. They also need shared evaluative metrics and a community infrastructure that guides and monitors these activities.<sup>1</sup>



# 1. Promote population-based approaches to community health

Support the development of population basedapproaches to health by developing well-integrated systems of care and working collaboratively on preventive health initiatives. The University of Wisconsin's Population Health Institute has demonstrated the importance of taking action at the community-level to improve health status and reduce mortality. Communities that have achieved the most promising results are taking a two-fold approach:

- •*Continuum of care:* Communities ensure that residents have access to a well-intergated continuum of care.
- *Address social determinants of health:* Communities and integrated delivery systems that include primary care are working collaboratively to improve physical environments, address social/economic factors, and implement targeted community health programs.

# 1. Promote consumer/primary care engagement in a patient-centered medical home

Communities and primary care practice sites need to collaborate to reach the community at-large including people with chronic conditions in more targeted ways to:

- Promote healthy behaviors
- Provide education and support
- Promote primary care engagement
- 2. Support the development of registries and other HIT tools to identify and promote primary care engagement and chronic disease management
- *Improve use of EHRs to support chronic disease management*: Safety-net practices in the region would benefit from support that allowed them to share information and explore how to use EHRs to ensure that patients are fully engaged in their care and receive tailored follow-up and case/care management services.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Hanleybrown, F., Kania, J., Kramer, M. Channeling Change: Making Collective Impact Work. Stanford Social Innovation Review. 2012



• *Leverage EHRs to improve care management*: Practice sites would also benefit from the formal implementation of primary care engagement and care management protocols/interventions that allow EHRs to identify and manage chronic disease management patients.

#### Promote Collaboration and Communication across the Safety-net and a Broad, Collective Understanding of Health Reform/Health System Trends

ACA and the opportunities that are part of the bill have facilitated collaboration by encouraging community organizations to respond to various grant opportunities or to integrate their services to better position themselves for potential changes in payment practices. Despite these positive steps, there is still need to promote greater collaboration and educate provider about various facets of health reform, important trends in health care service delivery and payment, and/or issues related to primary care clinical and administrative operations. These efforts will promote communication and partnership generally as well as encourage services integration, care coordination, and joint planning.

The following are recommendations related to collaboration.

- 1. Facilitate information sharing and collaboration by supporting the development of market-level, primary care-specific or broader community coalitions.
- *Market level coalitions:* Regional stakeholders should support the development of market-level coalitions that focus on information sharing and strengthen ability to respond to opportunities. This kind of work is happening at some of the region's rural health networks and this should continue to be supported.
- 2. Raise awareness and understanding of current mechanisms and tools associated with health service delivery and payment reform.
  - *Regional Education on ACA:* Regional stakeholders should ensure that all safety-net providers (core, essential, and contributing) have an understanding of current mechanisms and tools associated with health reform and the development of integrated delivery systems so that practice sites can take advantage of opportunities. Payment reform has the potential to offer new flexibility, investment, and aligned incentives to achieve the Triple Aim. If providers are informed of payment reform concepts, they can participate in shaping payment reform efforts to protect and sustain the safety-net.

# **3.** Continue to support HIT infrastructure development and health information exchange.

• *RHIO Investment:* Investment in efforts that support the development of the central New York RHIO and the involvement of core safety-net providers would reduce the "digital divide" that is already apparent in the region. Access to total health system utilization data is the first critical step in assuming accountability and eventually increased payment for achieving Triple Aim goals.



# Appendix E. Findings from 2013 CNY Consumer Access Survey

The 2013 Central New York Consumer Access Survey (CNYCS) was developed to understand consumer experience related to using primary care services in the region. The primary objective is to understand gaps in services encountered by adults accessing care for themselves and/or children. The survey questions, which were designed to mirror and complement the qualitative interviews with providers and other key informants, assesses consumers' experience scheduling appointments, reaching providers by phone, and ability to communicate with providers to access care and a medical home. The survey covered general health access barriers such as insurance status and communication as well as specific barriers to different types of medical services. A copy of the survey is included in Appendix C.

The survey was designed based on the 2007 Western New York Consumer Access Survey (WNYCAS), which was developed primarily by drawing questions from existing state and national health surveys. Where questions were not available to address specific issues of interest to HFWCNY, JSI adapted similar questions from previous JSI surveys. The 2013 survey added questions on adult access to care, as the 2007-08 survey was focused on children's access. The four national surveys from which questions were pulled were: the 2003 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH);<sup>1</sup> The Commonwealth Fund 2006 Health Quality Survey;<sup>2</sup> CDC Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System 2006 (BRFSS);<sup>3</sup> and the 2011/2012 Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Provider and Systems (CAHPS) Patient-Centered Medical Home Item Set.<sup>4</sup> The western New York region that was surveyed in 2007 was surveyed using the new questionnaire in 2013 as well, and data from this survey will be used as comparison throughout this report.

The goal of survey distribution was to capture families in two distinct groups: 1) those waiting for services and affiliated with one of the community health centers or other pediatric providers that serve low-income families; and 2) families in the community whose status related to the safety-net utilization were unknown. The survey was distributed face-to-face to parents at community agencies, events, and provider offices with the cooperation of numerous organizations and individuals across the central New York region. A total of 531 surveys were collected from September through October 2013.

A complete discussion of the methodology and the limitations of the survey are listed in the Appendix C.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2003 National Survey of Children's Health, Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health website. http://childhealthdata.org/content/Default.aspx

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Commonwealth Fund 2006 Health Quality Survey

http://www.commonwealthfund.org/surveys/surveys\_show.htm?doc\_id=50684

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). *Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System Survey Data*. Atlanta, Georgia: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2006. The CDC Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance Survey (BRFSS) http://www.cdc.gov/brfss/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The CAHPS Patient-Centered Medical Home Item Set https://cahps.ahrq.gov/Surveys-Guidance/CG/PCMH/index.html



# **Summary of Survey Results**

A comprehensive safety-net provides children and their family access to preventive and acute care and enables communication between providers and families. The results of the 2013 Central New York Consumer Survey (CNYCS) provide insight into which components of comprehensive care the central New York safety-net has provided and the areas where consumers perceive there to be gaps. Comparing data from this survey with state and national statistics provides a context for the data and highlights areas where central New York residents have better access to care than is typical, and areas that may be targets for improvement within the safety-net.

#### **Figure 7: Demographic Characteristics**

Children	Age range:	Children with	n special needs:		
	<1 year 1%	17% of childre	en need more		
	1-5 years 27%	health services	s than usual*		
	6-12 years 41%				
	13-18 years 31%	*Determined b	by Question 13 of		
	-	survey	-		
Adults	Age range:	Gender:	Race:	Employment:	
	18-40 years 41.6%	75% female	82% white	Fulltime:	41.2%
	41-65 years 51.6%	25% male	7% black or	Part time (one job):	11.9%
	65+ years 6.8%		African	Part time (multiple jobs):	3.6%
			American	Not employed -retired:	10.1%
			1% Native	Not employed -student:	5.0%
			American	Not employed for pay:	5.6%
			<1% Asian	Not employed –disability:	14.7%
			3% multi-racial	Other:	8.0%
			5% Hispanic		
Household	Income:		Number of		
	<10,000 20.0%		<u>children living</u>		
	10,000-15,000 11.1%		at home		
	15,000-25,000 13.0%		96% 1-3 children		
	25,000-35,000 12.0%		living at home		
	35,000-50,000 13.2%		4% 4+ children		
	50,000-75,000 16.1%		living at home		
	75,000+ 14.6%				

Respondents were asked to fill out the adult portion of the survey, and if the adult was a parent with a child under the age of 18, s/he was also asked to complete the portion of the survey on the child's access to care. Of the 531 surveys completed, 501 respondents who filled out the adult survey portion of the survey and 220 parents completed both the adult and the children's access-to-care portions.

Eighty-two percent (82%) of those surveyed identified as White; 7% identified as Black or African-American; 1% as Native American or Alaskan Native; 3% multi-racial; <1% as Asian; and < 1% as Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander. When asked specifically about Hispanic ethnicity, 5% of survey respondents identified as Hispanic/Latino.



Seventeen percent (17%) of children in the CNYCS were perceived by their parents as having a health condition that requires more services than usual. This is slightly lower but still comparable to the western New York survey region, in which 21% of children were identified as requiring more services than usual. According to the CDC's National Survey of Children with Special Healthcare Needs, 13% of children nationwide have special health needs. The definition of a child with special healthcare needs is complex, and the difference in these numbers is based on the kinds of questions used to determine special needs. The CNYCS and WNYCS asked a single question, while the CDC survey asks parents a series of more detailed questions of to determine whether the child has special healthcare needs.

#### Health Care Access and Utilization

• Location of care. Families were asked where they usually take their child when s/he is sick and needs health care. For most families, the primary source of care is a doctor's office or private clinic (82%), followed by community health centers (9%), and urgent care (3%). Four percent (4%) said they don't have a place where they usually take their children, and 1% said they take their child to "some other place" for care.

Among adults, the primary sources of care were doctor's office or private clinic (68%), community health center (13%), and urgent care (4%). Six percent (6%) of adults reported they do not have a usual place, 3% said they don't know where they go, and 6% did not respond to this question.

It is important to note that many people do not differentiate a community health center from a doctor's office or private clinic, so it is likely that many of those who responded "doctor's office or private clinic" go to a community health center.

Table 1. Where do you usually go forhealth care?					
Location	Children	Adults			
Doctor's office or private clinic	81.6	68.0			
Community health center or other public clinic	9.2	12.6			
Hospital outpatient dept.	0.0	0.2			
Urgent care	2.8	4.0			
Hospital ER	1.0	0.9			
Some other place	1.0	0.4			
Don't know	0.0	2.3			
Don't have a place I usually go	4.1	5.6			
Did not respond	0.2	6.0			

Health coverage. The rate of insurance among the children surveyed was 94%. This is the slightly above rate of coverage that was seen in the WNYCAS survey (92%), and somewhat lower than the state and national rates of children's coverage. The lower rate of insurance is likely due to the deliberate over-sampling of low-income children in the CNYCS. According to the National Survey of Children's Health (2011-12)<sup>5</sup> 95% of children nationally have coverage and in New York State 97% have coverage.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> http://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey



Among adults, 84% of adults surveyed have coverage, which is slightly lower than the rate in New York state. According to the March 2013 US Census Current Population survey, 88% of adults in New York state have health insurance. The rate of coverage of adults surveyed is also lower than the adults surveyed in the WNYCS survey, which was 91%.

Continuity of coverage is a concern for children and adults. Thirteen percent (13%) of children and 15% of adults had some period of time in the last 12 months without health insurance. This is slightly higher than in western New York, where just 11% of children and 13% of adults surveyed experienced a lapse in coverage in the previous 12 months. Nationally 11% of children have had a gap in coverage in the last 12 months.

The majority of the children in the population surveyed have public coverage, with 60% of children on Medicaid. In contrast, the majority of the adults surveyed have private insurance (45%), with just 27% on Medicaid (Table 2). In comparison, 23% of the total population in New York state is covered by Medicaid. The high percentage of respondents with Medicaid is biased by the deliberate surveying of low-income families.

#### **Table 2. Health Insurance Coverage**

Insurance	Children	Adults
Medicaid	60%	27%
Medicare	1%	14%
Private Insurance or Private HMO	37%	45%
Other	1%	12%
Don't know	1%	1%

• **Preventive care.** Regular preventive care is associated with lower rates of emergency room use and inpatient hospitalization. Among children the rate of accessing preventive care is consistent with the state average and with the experience of families surveyed in western New York. In 2013, 88% of children surveyed had a preventive care visit in the last year. This compares to the state of New York rate of 92%,<sup>6</sup> and the WNY survey rate of 89%. There was no difference in rate of preventive care access between those children surveyed in community locations such as Head Start and provider locations such as health centers.

Parents were asked the wait time to schedule a preventive care visit. The majority (69%) of children could access a preventive care visit within a week, and only 14% had to wait more than a month. These wait-times are comparable to the WNY survey, in which 68% of children had access to a preventive care visit within a week.

Adults had a lower rate of accessing preventive care than

<sup>6</sup> National Survey of Children's Health (2011/2012)

In comparison to the WNYCS survey, access to acute care visits is much higher in central New York, with more families able to access same-day appointments and fewer families choosing the emergency room.



children. Eighty-four percent (84%) of adults had a preventive care visit in the last year. Comparison data is not available for adults, as this question is no longer part of the standard Behavior Risk Surveillance System questionnaire. Adults were not asked about the wait-time for scheduling a preventive care visit.

• Acute care. In addition to wait-times for preventive care visits, adults and children were asked how long they had to wait for an urgent care visit. The majority of parents (71%) reported that they were able to get an appointment to see a provider on the day their child became sick. An additional 24% were able to get an appointment in 1-to-3 days, and the remaining 5% of families had to wait four or more days or went to the emergency room. In comparison to the WNYCS survey, access to acute care visits is much higher in central New York, with more families able to access same-day appointments and fewer families choosing the emergency room (Figure 8).



Figure 8. "The last time your child was sick or needed medical attention in the past 12 months how quickly could you get an appointment to see a health care provider?"

Among adults who were sick in the last year,<sup>7</sup> 47% were able to get care on the same day, 36% in one-to-three days, 14% in four or more days, and 3% went to the ER. The Commonwealth Fund Survey 2006 Quality Survey found that 41% of adults were able to schedule an appointment on the same day they called, 16% the following day, and 28% had to wait two or more days.<sup>8</sup> While a different question, a more recent benchmark is that 67% of adults in the CAPHS Survey (2011-12) said they got an appointment for urgent care as soon as needed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Access to urgent care was calculated from the total who sought acute care from a primary care provider in the last 12 months. Those that responded that they did not need acute care or directly went to the ER were removed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The 2006 Commonwealth Fund Quality Survey has not been repeated, and this was the original question source.



• Emergency room use. Among children, 43% had an emergency room visit in the last year in central New York, compared to 44% in western New York, and 40% in the 2007 WNYCAS survey. The National Survey of Children's Health no longer includes a question on emergency room use, but for the last year data was available (2003), the rate was 18.9% for children nationally.

The rate of emergency room utilization of adults surveyed was slightly lower, at 39%. In comparison, in 2012, 28% of adults nationally visited the emergency room according to the Commonwealth Fund Insurance Tracking Survey for Adults. Many families used the emergency room multiple times a year, as 14% of adults and 17% of children went to the emergency department two or more times during the last twelve months. The reason people used the emergency room was often that their provider office was not open (42% for children, and 19% for adults). Many went because they had legitimate medical emergencies (34% for children, and 56% for adults) (Figure 9).

#### Figure 9: Reasons for Going to the Emergency Room



# Access to Oral, Mental Health and Specialty Care

• **Dental care.** Dental care access was determined by two questions: 1) Did you see a dentist for preventive care in the last twelve months? and: 2) Did you receive all the dental care needed in the last 12 months? Of those children who are older than 1 year<sup>9</sup>, 65% received a dental visit in the last 12 months, and 70% reported their child received all the dental care he or she needed. While the rate of preventive dental access in central New York is less than the national rate (77%), it is comparable to the western New York

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>The determination of age of 1-year and older for recommended dental care is based on guidelines used by the National Survey of Children's Health. Casamassimo P. Bright Futures in Practice: Oral Health. Arlington, VA: National Center for Education in Maternal and Child Health, 1996.


region, where 72% of children had a preventive dental care visit in the past year. The cited locations for preventive dental care were a dental office (90%), health center or primary care office (3%), and school or daycare (7%).

Children reported much higher rates of dental access than adults; as 70% children received all the preventive dental care they needed compared to 55% of adults.

- Mental health care. Parents were asked whether their child received mental health services in the last 12 months and if all the services needed were received. Fifteen percent (15%) reported that their child had received mental health services in the last 12 months. This is more than double the number of children nationwide, according to the National Survey of Children's Health (6.8%). This may indicate children in central New York have better access to services, a higher degree of need than children nationally, or both. However, of children who needed mental health services, 26% did not get all of the services they needed. This is much higher than the 10% found in the western New York survey region. There were no clear reasons why children were unable to get this care, with the most frequent answers being "other" (n=4) and "don't know" (n=2). Reasons related to cost, transport, or insurance were listed only once or not at all. Adults were not asked about mental health utilization but they were asked about behavioral health screening in their primary care office (see 'Medical Home' below).
- Specialty care. Access to specialty care was assessed by asking parents (1) if their children had needed specialty care in the past 12 months, (2) how much of a problem was it to get care from the specialty provider? Forty percent (40%) of parents said their child did not need specialty care in the last year. Of the 60% of respondents who said their child needed specialty care, a total of 30% reported some problem accessing a specialty provider. Of those, 13% said accessing a specialist was a small problem, 13% said it was a moderate problem, and 3% said it was a big problem. For those who said specialty care was a problem, 14% said it was too long to wait for an appointment and 9% could not find a provider who accepts their child's insurance. Many families (9%) cited multiple problems including prohibitive cost, no health insurance, and long distance.

Access to specialty care was less of a problem for adults (27%) than children (30%). Ten percent (10%) of adults said it was a small problem, 7% said it was a moderate problem and 6% said it was a big problem. Among those who reported there was a problem, 41% said there was too long a wait for an appointment; 23% said cost was a problem, 20% had no insurance, and 14% could not find a provider that accepts their insurance. Many (19%) cited multiple reasons including long distance, long waits, and lack of transport.

#### Access to a Medical Home

Access to a medical home is increasingly being identified as a standard for high quality primary care. The Consumer Assessment of Forty-three percent (43%) of adults in central New York who called said their provider returned calls on the same day. The national CAHPS survey found that 63% of adults were able to get a response from their provider the same day.



Health Providers and Services (CAHPS) has developed a Patient Centered Medical Home (PCMH) survey to assess whether a practice has adopted features of a medical home. Several questions were drawn from this survey to assess adult access to a medical home.

• Ability to get advice from provider by phone. Access to advice by phone is considered an important part of medical home access. Both children and adults were asked about phone access to their provider; however, different questions were used to allow for comparison to national surveys. Parents were asked, "During the past 12 months when you have called your child's health care provider for help or advice over the phone because your child was sick, how often were you able to get the help or advice you needed?" About half (47%) said that if they called they got the help they needed. While this is comparable to the rate in the 2007 WYNCAS survey of 48%, phone access remains significantly poor compared to the 80% of families who were always able to get the advice they needed over the phone in the 2003 National Survey of Children's Health.<sup>10</sup>

Adults were asked a similar question: "In the last 12 months, when you phoned this doctor's office during regular office hours, how often did you get an answer to your medical question the same day?" Forty-three percent of adults said that if they called, their provider responded the same day. Compared to the national CAHPS survey, which found that 63% of adults were able to get a response from their provider the same day, central New York patients experienced poorer phone access.

• **Provider and patient communication.** Provider communication was assessed by asking: "How often does your provider explain things in a way that you understand?" And "How often did your provider listen carefully to you?" Among children, 64% of parents said that their child's provider always listens carefully to them, and among adults, 60% said their provider always listens carefully to them. Sixty-three percent (63%) of adults and 66% of parents said their health provider always explains things in a way they understand. Provider communication in central New York could be improved as compared to national rates of quality communication in the 2012 CAHPS survey (Figures 10 and 11).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Note that the National Survey of Children's Health has not included the question on phone access to providers in the more recent 2011/2012 survey.





Figure 10: "How often does your provider explain things in a way that you understand?"



Figure 11: "In the last 12 months, how often did your provider listen carefully to you?"

• Adult access to medical home. In addition to questions on provider communication and phone access, adults were asked a series of questions from the CAHPS PCMH survey to assess whether they have access to a provider who offers medical home access. Eighty-two percent (82%) of adults have someone they think of as their personal doctor or primary care provider. Among adults surveyed, 63% reported that their provider seems to know important information about his/her medical history. With respect to setting goals for health, 75% reported that their provider talked within them in the last 12 months about goals. In comparison, only 47% reported that their provider gave them information on what to do for care during evenings, weekends, or holidays. Access to integrated behavioral health in primary care is predicated on screening in the primary care office. Of those who had seen their regular provider in the last year, 53% reported



that their provider had talked to them about things in their life that worry them or cause stress.

Relative to CAHPS national benchmark data, adults in central New York have good access to screening for behavioral health and goal setting. There is room for improvement in access to providers who have information on their medical history and their care from specialists. Further, many adults in central New York (32%) did not know what to do if they needed care on nights, weekends, or holidays, compared to adults nationally (17%) (Figure 12).



Figure 12. Adult Access to a Medical Home.

# **Appendix F. Central New York Safety Net Assessment**

Note: The following report was provided to John Snow, Inc. (JSI) by North Shore Long Island Health System (North Shore LIJ) in 2013. North Shore LIJ provided targeted analytic support to JSI as part of JSI's Central New York Primary Care Safety Net Assessment project funded by the Health Foundation of Western and Central New York. Specifically, North Shore LIJ compiled and analyzed New York State Medicaid and Hospital utilization data (Salient and SPARCS Data). JSI analyses have been subsequently updated by the JSI staff as part of its scope of work for the CNYCC Community Needs Assessment.

# **Executive Summary of the Medicaid and Self Pay Population**

Within the eight Counties of Central New York, the inner city core of Syracuse, which is located in Onondaga County, and is the largest population base in the eight Counties of Central New York, showed the most substantial safety net services need. This need was based on very high PQI, discharge and emergency department utilization rates that were consistently several times higher than the overall rates for both Central and Upstate New York. The greatest need was found in the following Syracuse zip codes: 13202, 13203, 13204, 13205, 13206, 13207, 13208 and 13210.

Oneida County, which has the second largest population base in Central New York, in the two cities of Utica and Rome, also exhibited great need for safety net services. The identification of this need was also based on PQI, discharge and emergency department utilization rates that were several times higher than the overall rates for both Central and Upstate New York. This need was primarily seen in Utica (13501 and 13502) and Rome (13340). In addition, two Oneida County zip codes with quite small population bases, Chadwicks (13319) and Woodgate (13494) exhibited substantial need.

Finally, Herkimer County showed indication of need for safety net services, particularly in the following zip codes: Middleville (13406), Herkimer (13350), Cold Brook (13324) and Ilion (13357). While these areas did not have the same level of indication of need as the above mentioned areas, from indicator to indicator, there was a consistent pattern of these zip codes being in the highest need category. These zip codes have small population bases, making cost effective interventions somewhat challenging at the very local level. Instead a county-wide or regional approach focused on prevention would improve the cost-effectiveness of interventions. Whereas, within the high need areas of Syracuse, Rome and Utica, a more intensive, highly focused approach on a much more local level might result in a more substantial return on investment in terms of improved health outcomes and decreased Medicaid costs.

In contrast to the above mentioned Counties, Tompkins County, home to the City of Ithaca and Cornell University, performed very well on all indicators. Generally on both a County and zip



code level, Tompkins County was well below the Central and Upstate New York benchmark rates for nearly every indicator. These findings were corroborated by an analysis completed independently by the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation and the University of Wisconsin Population Health Institute in their "County Health Rankings & Roadmaps". In that analysis Tompkins County was ranked as one of the healthiest Counties in New York State.<sup>1</sup>

#### **Central New York – General Overview**

The Central New York region has a number of unique characteristics that make data interpretation somewhat challenging in relation to telling the full story of the healthcare safety net. First, a large portion of this region is very rural with very small population bases. For example, the northern portion of Herkimer County is part of the Adirondack Park. A very small change in service utilization, for example can have a very large effect. In addition, people in rural areas often do not have easy access to health care services because these services are not generally located in sparsely populated areas. Lack of accessibility is further exacerbated by transportation barriers. If an individual in one of these sparsely populated areas does not have a vehicle, the ability to get to a service provider who may be several miles away is substantially diminished, as inexpensive alternative modes of public transportation generally only exist within the areas of greater population.

Portions of the eight Counties of Central New York are considered health care provider shortage areas. As a result of the lack of providers, particularly those who accept Medicaid in combination with inadequate transportation options, accessing care within this eight (8) County region can be very challenging. In addition, people who reside on the border of another county may have easier and more direct access to programs and services in an adjacent county, some of which are counties that were not reviewed as a part of this analysis. Therefore, it may look as though people living in certain areas of the region do not have easily accessible care, when in reality they may be accessing services in an area outside the scope of this project.

Finally, there are a large number of immigrants who have recently settled in the region, particularly in Oneida County due in part to having one of the largest resettlement agencies in the Country located in the County.

"The Mohawk Valley Resource Center for Refugees has been responsible for the resettlement of over 13,000 refugees in New York State since 1979. Over 4,000 of these refugees have resettled in Oneida County. Initially, the majority of these refugees came from Bosnia, the former Soviet Union and Vietnam. The most recent influx of refugees is from southern Somalia, Burma and Bhutan. In addition, Oneida County has a significant and growing Latino population. The 2005-2007 American Community Survey 3-year estimate for the County is that 3.5% of the population speaks Spanish. It is also estimated that 549 Native Americans reside in Oneida County. Oneida County's rural communities are also seeing an increase of Amish and Mennonite families."<sup>2</sup>



These individuals are likely to have language, cultural and other significant barriers to navigating the health care delivery system and receiving appropriate care. This was indicated in the "Oneida County 2010-2013 Community Health Assessment":

"Culturally and linguistically diverse residents were identified as a vulnerable population facing personal barriers to health care in Oneida County."<sup>3</sup>

In fact, they may not be receiving care at all, which would then lead to the postulation that there may be more substantial need in the region than what is being reflected in the data.

To follow is a more detailed assessment of the safety net services and recipients in the eight Counties of Central New York, including information on the providers, utilization of services, and disease patterns that may be indicative of health disparities, access issues or geographic areas that require a closer look from a service provision perspective. Given the largely rural population base in Central New York, a regional approach was taken to interpret the data.

### Central New York – Safety Net Providers

There are one hundred and eighty (180) safety net providers in the eight (8) Counties of Central New York. This includes:

- Fifteen (15) acute care hospitals The regional hub for hospital-based services is Syracuse (Onondaga County). It is anchored by four (4) large to mid-sized hospitals that provide a full range of services, including tertiary services. Oneida County, home to the cities of Utica and Rome, is the only other place in the region with a substantial hospital-based health care presence. It has three (3) hospitals, two of which offer some tertiary level services.
- Five (5) Federally Qualified Health Centers one (1) in Cayuga, one (1) in Cortland, one (1) in Onondaga and two (2) in Oswego.
- One Hundred forty-six (146) licensed extension clinics four (4) in Cayuga, eleven (11) in Cortland, fifteen (15) in Herkimer, sixteen (16) in Madison, twenty-three (23) in Oneida, forty-eight (48) in Onondaga, twenty-six (26) in Oswego and three (3) in Tompkins.
- Fourteen (14) safety net dental providers two (2) in Cayuga, one (1) in Cortland, two (2) in Herkimer, two (2) in Madison, one (1) in Oneida and six (6) in Onondaga. Oswego and Tompkins do not have any safety net dental providers.

Within each of the eight (8) Counties, the hospitals are generally located within the population hubs. Within Cortland, Madison, Oneida and Onondaga Counties, FQHC and clinic locations are well distributed along the major roadways. In Cayuga, there is only coverage in the south and central portions of the County. In Herkimer providers are only found in the southern third of the County. The upper portion of Herkimer County is part of Adirondack Park. In Oswego, there is no coverage in the eastern section of the County. Finally, in Tompkins County, the three safety net providers are only found in the center of the County (Ithaca). In such instances where a there is a lack of geographic dispersion of safety net facilities, more easily accessible



health care is often found in an adjacent county (some of which have not been profiled in this report).

#### **Characteristics of the Medicaid Population**

Not surprisingly, the two Counties with the largest number of Medicaid enrollees are also the counties with the largest populations. The eight (8) Counties of Central New York have a total of 277,458 Medicaid enrollees, Onondaga and Oneida account for 171,713 or 62% of all of the Medicaid enrollees. The number of safety net service recipients also follows this pattern. While there are a total of 224,698 recipients of Medicaid services in the eight (8) Counties of Central New York, 139,062 or 62% of them are in Onondaga or Oneida. This is true also of the recipients served by the safety net provider network. Of the 181,180 Medicaid recipients served by the safety net, 61% of them are from Onondaga and Oneida.

Again, not surprisingly the largest numbers of Medicaid recipients, recipients of services and recipients of safety net services are found in the zip codes of the region with the largest populations. These areas by County are:

- Cayuga County Auburn
- Cortland County Cortland
- Herkimer County Frankfort, Herkimer, Ilion, Little Falls and Salisbury Center
- Madison County Canastota and Oneida
- Oneida County Rome and Utica
- Onondaga County– Syracuse and the city's suburbs to the north
- Oswego County Oswego and the surrounding areas of Central Square, Fulton, Hannibal, Mexico, Phoenix and Pulaski

Overall, in the eight (8) County region, 81% of the Medicaid enrollees received one or more service within the timeframe of January 2012 through December 2012. This is consistent with the rest of New York State at 81% during this same timeframe. Oneida and Oswego Counties had the highest rates of service utilization at 82%. The lowest rates were found in Herkimer and Madison Counties. In addition, overall a little more than 65% of the Medicaid enrollees of the eight (8) County region were recipients of safety net services. This is consistent with the percentage seen in Upstate New York at 64%. Oswego County, at nearly 69%, Cortland and Herkimer Counties, at approximately 68% were the highest. Tompkins (62%) and Onondaga (64%) Counties were the lowest. Approximately 81% of the Central New York region Medicaid service recipients received safety net services. This is consistent with the 80% for Upstate New York. Herkimer at 85% and Oswego at 84% were the highest, while Tomkins (77%) and Oneida (79%) were the lowest.

When looked at from a zip code level enrollment and utilization rates vary widely both within the eight (8) county region and within each county. The areas with the highest rates of Medicaid enrollment include:



- Herkimer County Salisbury Center and Middleville
- Onondaga County A number of zip codes in Syracuse
- Oneida County Part of the City of Utica and Westdale

The Medicaid enrollment rates between January 2012 and December 2012 in each of these areas was 40% or more of the population.

The lowest rates of Medicaid enrollment during this same period, of 0% to 10% were found in:

- Cayuga County Aurora
- Herkimer County Eagles Bay (part of Adirondack Park)
- Madison County Cazenovia and Hamilton
- Onondaga County Camillus, Cirero, Fayettville, Jamesville, Manlius, Marcellus, Skaneateles, and one zip code in Syracuse

The following counties had no zip codes with Medicaid enrollment rates of more than 30%: Cayuga, Madison and Tompkins.

Similar patterns are seen with Medicaid service recipient rates and Medicaid safety net service recipient rates. However, there are some zip codes within the eight (8) county region where the rate of enrollees is higher than the rates for utilization of services. By County these areas are:

- Cayuga County Auburn, Cato, Genoa, Moravia and Port Byron
- Cortland County Cincinnatus, Cortland, Homer, Marathon and Truxton
- Herkimer County Cold Brook, Frankfort, Herkimer, Jordanville, Mohawk, Salisbury Center and West Winfield
- Madison County Canastota, DeRuyter, Eaton, Erieville, Georgetown, Madison and Munnsville
- Oneida County Alder Creek, Barneveld, Blossvale, Boonville, Camden, Clinton, Forestport, Marcy, New Hartford, Oriskany Falls, Sherrill, Taberg, Waterville, Westdale, Woodgate and Yorkville
- Onondaga County Baldwinsville, Clay, Fabius, LaFayette, Marietta, Memphis, Nedrow, and parts of Syracuse
- Oswego County Central Square, Cleveland, Constantia, Fulton, Hannibal, Hastings, Lacona, Oswego, Pulaski, Richland and Redfield
- Tompkins County Groton, Ithaca and Lansing

When there is a difference between enrollment rates and rates of utilization of safety net services, there is an indication of a potential gap. By County the areas that have enrollment rates that are higher than the rate of utilization of safety net services are:

 Cayuga County – Auburn, Aurora, Cato, Cayuga, Kings Ferry, Martville, Moravia, Port Byron, Scipio Center, Sterling, and Union Springs



- Cortland County Cincinnatus, Cortland, Homer, Marathon and Truxton. Seemingly
  most of the services accessed are safety net with the exception of McGraw, as the rates
  of each are close.
- Herkimer County –Cold Brook, Dolgeville, Little Falls, Middleville, Newport, Old Forge and Salisbury Center
- Madison County Bouckville, Chittenago, Kirkville, New Woodstock, North Brookfield and Oneida
- Oneida County Ava, Cassville, Clayville, Deansboro, Holland Patent, Oriskany, Remsen, Rome, Sauquoit, southern Utica, and Vernon Center.
- Onondaga County Brewerton, Bridgeport, East Syracuse, Jordan, Minoa, Nedrow and parts of Syracuse
- Oswego County –Altmar, Bernhards Bay, Mallory and Parish
- Tompkins County Newfield, Trumansburg and Slaterville Springs

# **Total Prevention Quality Indicators (PQIs)**

PQIs are defined as conditions for which access to and provision of appropriate outpatient care can can prevent complications of chronic disease and potentially prevent the need for hospitalization. To follow is a list of the areas that require closer examination related to increased need for improved access to outpatient care. The areas highlighted have total PQI rates that are two (2) to five (5) times greater than the average rates for Central and Upstate New York. The areas by County are as follows:

- Herkimer County Nearly the entire county has rates that are substantially higher than the benchmarks. Middleville and Cold Brook have the highest rates in the County.
- Oneida County Utica, Rome and Waterville.
- Onondaga County The inner city core of Syracuse which includes the following zip codes: 13202, 13203, 13204, 13205, 13207 and 13208.

# **Diabetes PQI and Inpatient Hospitalization Rates**

The following areas had one or more diabetes indicator rates that were substantially higher than the Central and Upstate New York benchmark rates:

- Cayuga County Auburn and Cato
- Herkimer County Eagle Bay, Herkimer, Newport and Little Falls
- Oneida County Woodgate had the greatest need. It had the highest rates for PQI 1 (short-term complications of diabetes) and PQI 16 (lower extremity amputation) in the eight (8) county region. It also had the second highest rates for PQI 3 (long-term



complications of diabetes). Camden, Utica and to a lesser extent Rome and a few other outlining areas also showed up on a number of diabetes indicators.

- Onondaga County The central core of Syracuse showed need across all of the diabetes indicators. The greatest need was seen in the following zip codes: 13202, 13203, 13204, 13205 and 13207
- Oswego County Richland appeared as an area of high need on all of the diabetes indicators, with the exception of uncontrolled diabetes, for which there was no data. A number of other areas in the Northeastern portion of Oswego County showed up as areas of need, as well, primarily for short-term complications of diabetes. These areas included Lacona, Pulaski and Redfield.

General Conclusion – Because of the small populations, the rural nature of the area, and the nature of the ambulatory sensitive conditions (people may have diabetes without realizing it and therefore not seek treatment) there is a possibility that there is far more diabetes morbidity than is indicated by the data. A region-wide approach focused on diabetes prevention and early intervention could be very beneficial in reducing/keeping Medicaid costs down.

#### **Respiratory PQI and Inpatient Hospitalization Rates**

The following areas had one or more respiratory indicator rates that were substantially higher than the Central and Upstate New York benchmark rates:

- Cayuga County Sterling
- Herkimer County Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease was what stood out most prominently. A large portion of the County showed up as having unmet need related to it. These areas included: Cold Brook, Dolgeville, Frankfort, Ilion, Middleville and Poland.
- Madison County Adult asthma showed up most prominently in the central region of the county, which includes Bouckville, Canastota, Eaton, Georgetown and Morrisville. Indicators of unmet need/morbidity related to chronic obstructive pulmonary disease were found in the eastern region of the County and included Madison, Munnsville and Oneida.
- Oneida County the cities of Utica and Rome showed up consistently on the indicators. There were a few areas with much smaller populations in the County that also appeared.
- Onondaga County the central inner city core of Syracuse showed up on every indicator for respiratory morbidity/high inpatient utilization.
- Oswego County Adult asthma showed up most prominently in Hasting. COPD showed up most prominently in West Monroe and a few surrounding areas.



General Conclusion – Due to the rural nature of a large portion of the Central New York Region, and a major focus on farming, it may be beneficial to look at exposures to pesticides, toxic chemicals and organic dusts that are commonly found in farming practices. Numerous research studies have been completed on the respiratory effects of exposures to such chemicals and dusts. The journal "Occupational Medicine", in 2002 had a review of a number of such studies. The following statement was made in the article:

"Respiratory diseases have long been recognized in association with work in farming. Overall, only a small proportion of the population is employed in agriculture, so respiratory disease in farmers is not a major public health issue. However, farmers are known to have high morbidity and mortality from certain respiratory diseases, as shown by routinely collected statistics. Multiple exposures are common and some exposures can give rise to more than one specific disease. The most important diseases are rhinitis and asthma. The most serious respiratory diseases are hypersensitivity pneumonitis and respiratory infections. Most importantly, respiratory diseases are preventable by controlling harmful exposures to organic dust, toxic gases and chemicals on farms through improvements in animal rearing techniques, ventilation of animal accommodation, careful drying and storage of animal feed-stuffs, crops and other products, and use of personal protective equipment."<sup>4</sup>

The focus could then be on educating farm workers to limiting their exposure to these toxins through the proper handling of the chemicals and the use of personal protective equipment. In addition, farm owners could be encouraged to change their farming practices to limit the use of toxic chemicals and transition to more sustainable and/or organic methods. While this may not impact morbidity immediately, it should improve it on a longer term basis, as well as have a positive environmental impact.

### **Circulatory PQI and Cardiac-Related Inpatient Hospitalization Rates**

- Oneida County the cities of Rome and Utica, as well as Lee Center.
- Onondaga County the inner city core of Syracuse.

The rates of coronary vascular disease discharges specifically showed a very distinct pattern. Nearly all of Herkimer and Oneida Counties showed high levels of need. The central core of Syracuse and a few other remote areas within the eight (8) county region also appeared as areas of high need for this indicator.

General conclusion - Given the distinct pattern of coronary vascular disease morbidity in Herkimer and Oneida Counties, as well as Syracuse, it seems as though a broad based program focusing on healthy behaviors such a proper nutrition and exercise would be very beneficial, not only for cardiovascular-related morbidity, but for diabetes, as well.

### Pneumonia and Influenza Inpatient Hospitalization Rates

The most substantial indication of need based on inpatient utilization rates was seen in the inner core of Syracuse. There were also a number of areas in both Herkimer and Oneida Counties. In addition, each of the other counties had one or two areas of concern.



General conclusion – Prevention education should be a focus on a broad scale, as well as in clinics/health centers. Encourage immunizations for both Pneumonia and Influenza when indicated.

#### **Injuries/Poisoning Inpatient Hospitalization Rates**

The inner city core of Syracuse in Onondaga County, Utica in Oneida County and almost all of Herkimer County, as well as upper Cayuga County and Altmar, Mallory, Richland and Sandy Creek in Oswego County had high rates of injuries/poisoning inpatient hospitalizations. Tompkins was the only county without any indication of high levels of injuries/poisoning.

General conclusions – It is likely that there are different causal factors in the different areas highlighted above. In the Cities, injuries and poisonings may be more related to problems of living in an impoverished environment, whereas in the more rural areas, it is more likely to be as a result of agricultural accidents.

General conclusion - The causes of these injuries and poisonings should be investigated and education programs be developed to address them.

#### **Cancer Inpatient Discharge Rates**

There were no particular patterns in the cancer inpatient discharge rates with the exception that a portion of Syracuse in Onondaga County and the Southern portion of Utica in Oneida County showed high discharge rates. There were also areas of need within a number of the small towns dispersed throughout the region.

### Medicaid & Self Pay Inpatient Discharges

The following areas had inpatient discharge rates that were two times or more that of the Central and Upstate New York rates:

- Herkimer County Middleville and Van Hornesville
- Oneida County Chadwicks and Utica
- Onondaga County the central inner city core of Syracuse

### **Emergency Department Admission and Visit Rates**

The highest utilization of Emergency Department services that resulted in an admission was found in the Syracuse region (Onondaga County), Oneida and Herkimer Counties, as well as portions of Northeastern and Southwestern Oswego County.

### **Emergency Department Substance Abuse Admission and Visit Rates**



The following areas had inpatient discharge rates that were two times or more that of the Central and Upstate New York rates:

- Herkimer County Middleville
- Oneida County Chadwicks, Forestport, Oriskany, Utica and Yorkville
- Onondaga County the central inner city core of Syracuse

#### **Emergency Department Mental Health Admission and Visit Rates**

- Herkimer County Southern portions of the County
- Oneida County Utica and Rome
- Onondaga County Syracuse
- Oswego County the highest rates of mental health-related admission were found in a number of areas within Oswego County. These areas did not show up for high emergency department visit rates.

Interestingly, on both emergency department mental health indicators, the overall Central New York rates are higher than those for Upstate New York, which would perhaps indicate there is unmet need throughout the entire region.

#### **AREAS FOR FURTHER INVESTIGATION:**

- Does a gap between the rate of enrollment and the rate of utilization of services translate into poorer health outcomes? Does it indicate a lack of access or is it more indicative of a healthier Medicaid population? If the later, what is different about this population (e.g., lifestyles) than other Medicaid populations in the region?
- Are the areas where there are very low enrollment rates an indication of lack of access, a wealthier population or something else?
- Why does Tompkins County come up as the healthiest County on almost every indicator when it has low service utilization rates and only has safety net providers located in the center of the County (what does this mean)? What is being done differently here? Can it be used as a model for the other Counties or is there something unique about the area?
- Similarly, why does Syracuse do so poorly on almost all indicators, when it is the healthcare hub of the eight counties (8) and has some of the highest Medicaid service utilization rates in the region? What is causing this disparity? Are the available services appropriately focused on preventing health disparities?

#### REFERENCES



<sup>1</sup> Robert Wood Johnson Foundation and University of Wisconsin Population Health Institute, "County Health Rankings & Roadmaps – 2013 Rankings New York", website: www.countyhealthrankings.org/new-york

<sup>2</sup>Oneida County Department of Health, "Oneida County 2010-2013 Community Health Assessment"

<sup>3</sup>Ibid.

<sup>4</sup>Occupational Medicine, *"Respiratory Illness in Agricultural Workers"*, December 2002, 52 (8), 451-459



# Appendix G. Mapping Applications

Mapping Application	Link	Level of analysis	Layers
Demographics	<u>maps.jsi.com/cnydemographics/map.html</u>	ZCTA	<ul> <li>% Age 65+</li> <li>% Minority Race</li> <li>% Hispanic</li> <li>% Under 138% FPL</li> <li>% Under 200% FPL</li> <li>% Foreign Born</li> <li>% LEP (Limited English Proficiency</li> </ul>
Preventable Indicators	<u>maps.jsi.com/cnypreventable/map.html</u>	ZIP Code	<ul> <li>Medicaid PQI Overall Composite</li> <li>Subcategories</li> <li>Medicaid PDI Overall Composite</li> <li>Subcategories</li> <li>ER PPV - Potentially Preventable Visits</li> </ul>



Mapping Application	Link	Level of analysis	Layers
Access	<u>maps.jsi.com/cnyaccess/map.html</u>	County	<ul> <li>% Adults with Regular Health Care Provider</li> <li>% of Adults with Health Insurance</li> <li>% women aged 40+ who had mammograms in the past 2 years</li> <li>% of adults aged 50+ who ever had sigmoidoscopies or colonoscopies</li> </ul>
Utilization	http://maps.jsi.com/cnyutilization/map.html	ZIP Code	<ul> <li>% of Medicaid members with ER visit</li> <li>% of Medicaid members with inpatient admission</li> <li>% of members with major diagnostic categories: Mental health, Respiratory, Cardiovascular</li> </ul>



# Appendix H. Key Informant Interview Guide

There are four guides included: for community based resources, other healthcare providers, hospitals, and those involved with policy development.

# **Community Based Resources**

Hello [name of KI], my name is [name of interviewer] and I am calling from JSI, a public health consulting company. We have been contracted by a the CNY DSRIP Collaborative (consisting of four CNY DSRIP Performing Provider Systems - PPSs) to conduct a Regional Needs Assessment and would like, to talk with you for a few minutes to get your perspective on the needs of the Medicaid and uninsured populations in central New York.

### Are you familiar with DSRIP?

Well, we are conducting an extensive series of key informant interviews with community, regional, and statewide stakeholders in order to learn more about what people perceive to be the major health issues, the leading determinants of health, and the most influential barriers to care for low income, Medicaid and uninsured populations. We are also interested in learning about the available health- and community-based resources and the extent to which there are service gaps. The overarching goal of this project is to identify ways that we can reduce preventable hospital admissions and improve overall health status in the Medicaid population.

Do you still have a few minutes to speak with us? Remember, your participation is totally voluntary and we can stop at any time. Your responses will remain confidential.

Great! You're the expert here, so I'm looking forward to learning from you. Let's get started.

# **Discussion Questions**

- 1. Please tell us a bit about your organization.
  - a. What type of organization is [insert name of CBO here]?
  - b. What services does your organization provide?
  - c. How would you describe your service population?
- 2. Based on your experience, what do you see as the most significant issues that influence health status and access to and appropriate utilization of health services (Physical and Behavioral) for Medicaid beneficiaries and low income uninsured individuals? Are any of these issues more or less prevalent in your community or Central New York more broadly? Are there other issues impacting access to care specific to Central New York?



- a. *Prompts*: lack of coordination among providers, disparate data systems, separate delivery systems, lack of providers taking new Medicaid clients, policy barriers, environmental/social barriers, specific morbidity/mortality factors
- 3. Does your organization have relationships with any medical service providers in the area?
  - a. If so, which ones?
  - b. What is the nature of the relationship?
- 4. Are there any medical service providers that you don't currently partner with, but would like to?
  - a. If yes, what would you envision that partnership to look like?
- 5. Based on your experience, what are some of the "individual-level factors" that make your clients' lives complicated in a way that contributes to the use of avoidable health services? How much do they contribute?
  - a. *If needed for clarification:* By individual-level factors, I mean characteristics specific to an individual person.
  - b. *Probes [select those that apply to organization]*: health education, inadequate transportation, no usual source of medical care other than the ER, housing, reading level, limited health literacy, employment, misinformation, nutrition, existence of multiple chronic conditions, limited English proficiency, non-compliance with care instructions, mental health needs, substance use
- 6. Are there any individual factors that help prevent the use of avoidable health services?
- 7. Based on your experience, what are some of the "community-level factors" that make your clients' lives complicated in a way that contributes to the avoidable use of health services? How much do they contribute?
  - a. *If needed for clarification*: By community-level factors, I mean characteristics of the community in which the patient lives.
  - b. *Probes [select those that apply to organization]*: access to hospitals, clinics, and pharmacies; distance to providers; unhealthy living environment; weather; access to electronic medical records
- 8. Are there any community factors that help prevent the need to use health services?
- Does your organization currently specifically attempt to address avoidable hospital use?
   a. If so, how? What works? Best practices?



- b. If not, how can community-based service organizations like yours help reduce avoidable hospital use?
  - i. Probe: What partnerships would you need?
  - ii. Probe: What resources and support would be needed?
- 10. If you could make recommendations about systemic things that could be done to improve the ability of your clients to access services that could keep them healthy, what would they be?

# Closing

Thank you so very much for taking the time to speak with me. Before we finish, given the questions we've asked today is there anyone else you would recommend I speak with? Is there anything further you'd like to add that we have not already discussed? Thanks/closing

# Hospitals

Hello [name of KI], my name is [name of interviewer] and I am calling from JSI, a public health consulting company. We have been contracted by a the CNY DSRIP Collaborative (consisting of four CNY DSRIP Performing Provider Systems - PPSs) to conduct a Regional Needs Assessment and would like, to talk with you for a few minutes to get your perspective on the needs of the Medicaid and uninsured populations in central New York.

# Are you familiar with DSRIP?

Well, we are conducting an extensive series of key informant interviews with community, regional, and statewide stakeholders in order to learn more about what people perceive to be the major health issues, the leading determinants of health, and the most influential barriers to care for low income, Medicaid and uninsured populations. We are also interested in learning about the available health- and community-based resources and the extent to which there are service gaps. The overarching goal of this project is to identify ways that we can reduce preventable hospital admissions and improve overall health status in the Medicaid population.

As part of our interview we'd also like to discuss avoidable hospital use. Specifically, I'd like us to explore the areas of avoidable emergency department use, avoidable admissions and avoidable hospital readmissions (both short –term and long-term readmission).

Do you still have a few minutes to speak with us? Remember, your participation is totally voluntary and we can stop at any time. Your responses will remain confidential.



Great! You're the expert here, so I'm looking forward to learning from you. Let's get started.

# **Discussion Questions**

1. Based on your experience, what do you see as the most significant issues that influence health status and access to and appropriate utilization of health services (Physical and Behavioral) for Medicaid beneficiaries and low income uninsured individuals? Are any of these issues more or less prevalent in your community or Central New York more broadly? Are there other issues impacting access to care specific to Central New York?

b. *Prompts*: lack of coordination among providers, disparate data systems, separate delivery systems, lack of providers taking new Medicaid clients, policy barriers, environmental/social barriers, specific morbidity/mortality factors

2. When you think about avoidable hospitalization use, including all the types we have listed, which of these do you feel creates the largest burden on the health care system and health of the community?

a. *Prompts:* Which areas incur the most expenses and how; which most impacts health status of the community the most and how; which strain the current infrastructure and how?

3. Can you characterize the most common types of health issues or health events which lead to avoidable hospital use?

*Prompts:* What are the health issues and the reasons? Think about beyond the medical reason and think about potential events which lead up to hospital use.
 (*INTERVIEWER*: Use the list of reasons for hospital admission/re-admission on the next sheet as needed to prompt)

4. Thinking about the individuals or populations who most contribute to avoidable hospital use, how would you describe them?

- *a. Prompts:* Consider demographic, socioeconomic, behavioral) or cultural characteristics in your description.
- 5. What types of (current or new) approaches may work to decrease avoidable hospital use?
  - *a. Prompts:* Consider the different approaches by type of hospital use, type of health issue or population characteristics.

6. What type of additional infrastructure needs to be put in place in order to make these approaches successful?

*a. Prompts:* Consider clinical, programmatic (such as prevention, case management etc) and information infrastructure.



7. In your experience, what is the best role of the hospital in these potential approaches? What do you have in place, that is working to reduce inappropriate utilization?

• *Prompts:* What is the role of other clinical sectors, public health and community programs (both health and human services)?

# Closing

Thank you so very much for taking the time to speak with me. Before we finish, given the questions we've asked today is there anyone else you would recommend I speak with?

Is there anything further you'd like to add that we have not already discussed?

# Thanks/closing.

# POTENTIAL PROMPTS FOR REASONS FOR HOSPITAL USE

- Readmission for infections or complications arising directly from the initial hospital stay
- Readmission because of a recurrence of a chronic condition, this may or may not be the condition for which they were originally hospitalized
- The likeliness that someone is readmitted is related to their number of chronic conditions
- Data indicates that the largest volume of readmissions occurs among those with chronic conditions
- Inadequate discharge planning
- Poor care coordination between hospital and community clinicians
- Inadequate communication and transfer of important information including test results
- Lack of effective longitudinal community-based care
- Patients do not schedule follow-up primary care or specialty appointments
- Patients do not fully understand what is wrong with them
- Cultural and linguistic barriers
- Health literacy
- Patients are confused over medication or care regimen
- Family members lack proper knowledge to provide adequate care



# **Other Health Care Providers**

Hello [name of KI], my name is [name of interviewer] and I am calling from JSI, a public health consulting company. We have been contracted by a the CNY DSRIP Collaborative (consisting of four CNY DSRIP Performing Provider Systems - PPSs) to conduct a Regional Needs Assessment and would like, to talk with you for a few minutes to get your perspective on the needs of the Medicaid and uninsured populations in central New York.

### Are you familiar with DSRIP?

Well, we are conducting an extensive series of key informant interviews with community, regional, and statewide stakeholders in order to learn more about what people perceive to be the major health issues, the leading determinants of health, and the most influential barriers to care for low income, Medicaid and uninsured populations. We are also interested in learning about the available health- and community-based resources and the extent to which there are service gaps. The overarching goal of this project is to identify ways that we can reduce preventable hospital admissions and improve overall health status in the Medicaid population.

Do you still have a few minutes to speak with us? Remember, your participation is totally voluntary and we can stop at any time. Your responses will remain confidential.

Great! You're the expert here, so I'm looking forward to learning from you. Let's get started.

# **Discussion Questions**

1. Based on your experience, what do you see as the most significant issues that influence health status and access to and appropriate utilization of health services (Physical and Behavioral) for Medicaid beneficiaries and low income uninsured individuals? Are any of these issues more or less prevalent in your community or Central New York more broadly? Are there other issues impacting access to care specific to Central New York?

a. *Prompts*: lack of coordination among providers, disparate data systems, separate delivery systems, lack of providers taking new Medicaid clients, policy barriers, environmental/social barriers, specific morbidity/mortality factors

2. As we mentioned, we are looking for information on how to reduce preventable hospital readmissions among Medicaid beneficiaries and the low-income uninsured population. There are many reasons why these patients return to the hospital, and many of them are issues or barriers at the individual, provider, and community level. What kind of issues or barriers do you see affecting how Medicaid beneficiaries and/or uninsured patients are able to access your services or engage in their care?



a. Prompts for issues/barriers: transportation, hours of operation, sliding fee scales, etc.

3. What are your organization's current priorities for improving your services? Are any of them directed towards your Medicaid and/or uninsured populations?

- b. Prompts for general priorities: responding to HEDIS incentives, updating data systems, building relationships with other healthcare providers, promoting healthy women infants and children, etc.
- c. Prompts for Medicaid/uninsured efforts: offering additional assistance to improve health literacy, drop-in services so patients have more flexibility, etc.

4. Does your organization have relationships with any medical service providers in the area? If so, which ones?

- d. Follow-up if yes
  - i. How would you describe your relationship to your local primary care services in terms of collaboration?
  - ii. How effectively are patients linked from primary care to your services? (e.g. warm hand off, sharing data in real time, etc.)
  - iii. Are you aware of when they are admitted or readmitted to the hospital?
  - iv. Are you involved in any efforts with local primary care services to reduce preventable readmissions among Medicaid patients?
- e. Follow-up if no
  - i. Are there any medical service providers that you don't currently partner with, but would like to? If so, what would you envision that partnership to look like?

5. Understanding that some additional resources or infrastructure may be required, what changes do you think can be made to improve how you provide services to the Medicaid and/or uninsured patients, within [*organization*] or in collaboration with the local primary care services?

6. To address some of the issues we've discussed on a system-level, what would you recommend that your Performing Provider System (PPS) focus on?

# Closing

Thank you so very much for taking the time to speak with me. Before we finish, given the questions we've asked today is there anyone else you would recommend I speak with?

Is there anything further you'd like to add that we have not already discussed?

Thanks/closing.



# Policy/State

Hello [name of KI], my name is [name of interviewer] and I am calling from JSI, a public health consulting company. We have been contracted by a the CNY DSRIP Collaborative (consisting of four CNY DSRIP Performing Provider Systems - PPSs) to conduct a Regional Needs Assessment and would like, to talk with you for a few minutes to get your perspective on the needs of the Medicaid and uninsured populations in central New York.

### Are you familiar with DSRIP?

Well, we are conducting an extensive series of key informant interviews with community, regional, and statewide stakeholders in order to learn more about what people perceive to be the major health issues, the leading determinants of health, and the most influential barriers to care for low income, Medicaid and uninsured populations. We are also interested in learning about the available health- and community-based resources and the extent to which there are service gaps. Particularly relevant to our conversation, we are also interested in learning about how broader state policy, program, and budget issues may impact DSRIP and the landscape more broadly. We are hoping that through this process, we'll be able to identify ways that we can reduce preventable hospital admissions in the Medicaid and uninsured populations.

Do you still have a few minutes to speak with us? Remember, your participation is totally voluntary and we can stop at any time. Your responses will remain confidential.

Great! You're the expert here, so I'm looking forward to learning from you. Let's get started.

# Discussion Questions:

1. Based on your experience, what do you see as the most significant issues that influence health status and access to and appropriate utilization of health services (Physical and Behavioral) for Medicaid beneficiaries and low income uninsured individuals? Are any of these issues more or less prevalent in Central New York? Are there other issues impacting access to care specific to Central New York?

- c. *Prompts*: lack of coordination among providers, disparate data systems, separate delivery systems, lack of providers taking new Medicaid clients, policy barriers, environmental/social barriers, specific morbidity/mortality factors
- 2. Is your office/division/organization involved in DSRIP? How are you involved?
  - a. *Prompts*: If they are not familiar with DSRIP, tell them that it is New York's Delivery System Reform Incentive Payment (DSRIP) program intended to promote community collaboration and systems reform with the goal of ultimately decreasing avoidable hospital use in the Medicaid and uninsured population by 25% over 5 years.



3. What are your office/division/organization's priorities or strategic initiatives over the next few years related to the Medicaid or uninsured population?

4. What are significant gaps in services for Medicaid beneficiaries and low-income uninsured individuals in New York? Are those gaps the same in Central New York?

5. The overriding goal of DSRIP is to reduce hospital readmissions by 25%. What do you see as the main drivers of avoidable hospital use? Is your office/division/organization doing anything specific related to avoidable hospital use?

6. Are there resources that your office/division has that you think would be useful to the Performing Provider System (PPS')? Are there any potential resources that the PPS will have that may be useful to programs under your department?

7. To address some of the issues we've discussed, what would you recommend that the Performing Provider System should focus on?

# Closing

Thank you so very much for taking the time to speak with me. Before we finish, given the questions we've asked today is there anyone else you would recommend I speak with?

Is there anything further you'd like to add that we have not already discussed?

Thanks/closing.



# Appendix I. Complete List of Key Informant Interviews, by County

### Cayuga County

Interviewee Name	Organization Name	Organization Type
Raymond Bizarri	Cayuga County Department of Mental Hygeine	Other healthcare provider
Stephanie Hutchinson	Auburn Housing Authority	Community based resource
Elizabeth Nolan	Hillside Children's Center	Community Based Resource
Josephine M. Rose	East Hill Family Medical, Inc.	Other healthcare provider
Nancy Siefka	Cayuga County Office of Aging	Community Based Resource
Elizabeth Smith	Unity House of Cayuga County	Other healthcare provider
Mary Zelanzy	Finger Lakes Community Health Center	Other healthcare provider

# **Cortland County**

Interviewee Name	Organization Name	Organization Type
Catherine Feuerherm	Cortland County Health Department	Other healthcare provider
Elizabeth Haskins	Cortland County Office of Aging	Other healthcare provider
Kelly Hirsch		Hospital
Lisa Hoeschele	Family Counseling Services of Cortland County	Other healthcare provider
Jackie Leaf	Seven Valleys Health Coalition	Community based resource
Garra Lloyd-Lester	NAMI Cortland Reach	Other healthcare provider
Walter Priest	Family Health Network of Central New York	Other healthcare provider
Mark Thayer	Cortland County Department of Mental Hygiene	Other healthcare provider
Marie Walsh	Catholic Charities of Cortland County	Community based resource



#### **Herkimer County**

Interviewee Name	Organization Name	Organization Type
Christine Cain	Herkimer County Public Health Nursing Department	Community Based Resource
Deanna Charles	Catholic Charities of Herkimer County	Community Based Resource
Kathy Fox	Herkimer Office of Aging	Community Based Resource
Adam Hutchinson	Herkimer County Healthnet	Community Based Resource
Debra Ray	Herkimer County ARC	Community Based Resource
Fortunato Scerbo	Folts Center for Rehab and Nursing	Other healthcare provider
Edgar Scudder	Herkimer County Department of Mental Hygiene	Community Based Resource

### Lewis County

Interviewee Name	Organization Name	Organization Type
Brenda Bourgeois & Leah Schneider	Lewis County Office of Aging	Community Based Resource
Sarah Bullock	Lewis County Department of Mental Hygiene & Community Services	Other Healthcare Provider
Eric Burch	Lewis County General Hospital	Hospital
Penny Ingham	Lewis County Health Department	Other Healthcare Provider

### **Madison County**

Interviewee Name	Organization Name	Organization Type
Samual Barr	Barr Dental	Other Healthcare Provider
Teisha Cook	Madison County Department of Mental Hygiene	Other Healthcare Provider
Julie Dale	Community Action Partnership	Community Based Resource
Bryan Ehlinger	Oneida Healthcare – Extended Care Facility	Other Healthcare Provider
Sean Fadale	Community Memorial Hospital Clinic	Hospital
Eric Faisst	Madison County Health Department	Other Healthcare Provider
Gene Morreale	Oneida Healthcare	Other Healthcare Provider
Bonnie Slocum	Madison County Rural Health Council	Community Based Resource



#### Oneida County

Interviewee Name	Organization Name	Organization Type
Kim Atkins	Planned Parenthood Mohawk Hudson	Community Based Resource
Shelly Callahan	Mohawk Valley Resource Center for Refugees	Community Based Resource
Melissa Cary	The Neighborhood Center	Other healthcare provider
Janine Carzo	Regional Primary Care Network	Other healthcare provider
Steve Darman	Mohawk Valley Housing and Homelessness Coalition	Community Based Resource
Laura Eannace	Upstate Cerebral Palsy	Other healthcare provider
Kimberly Ellis	Visiting Nurse Association of Utica and Oneida	Community Based Resource
Phyllis Ellis	Oneida Health Department	Community Based Resource
Carol English	Patient Family Advocates	Community Based Resource
Diana Haldenwang	Mohawk Valley Perinatal Network	Community Based Resource
Rebecca King	Oneida County Department of Mental Hygiene	Community Based Resource
Mary Saunders	NAMI Hope	Community Based Resource
Sandra Soroka	The Neighborhood Center	Other healthcare provider
Debra Whiteford	Oneida County Department of Mental Hygiene	Community Based Resource

# Onondaga County

Interviewee Name	Organization Name	Organization Type
Aileen Balitz	St. Camillus Residential Health Care Facility	Other Health Care Provider
Carl Coyle	Liberty Resources	Other Health Care Provider
Elizabeth Crockett	REACH CNY, Inc.	Community Based Resource
Joan Dadey	Crouse Hospital	Hospital
Marta Durkin	Liberty Resources	Other Health Care Provider
Scott Ebner	Onondaga Case Management Services	Other Health Care Provider
Susan Furtney	St. Joseph's Hospital	Hospital
Bob Long	Department of Mental Hygiene	Other Health Care Provider
Jan Moag	SPOA Coordinator for Onondaga County	Community Based Resource



Interviewee Name	Organization Name	Organization Type
Mat Roosa	Department of Mental Health	Other Health Care Provider
Tim Scanlon	Franciscan Health Support Services, LLC	Other Health Care Provider
Kimberly Townsend	Loretto Health & Rehabilitation Center	Other Health Care Provider
John Warren	CNY Services, Inc.	Other Health Care Provider
Linda M. Wright	The Salvation Army	Community Based Resource

### Oswego County

Interviewee Name	Organization Name	Organization Type
Jeffrey Coakley	Oswego Hospital	Hospital
Diane Cooper-Currier	Oswego County Opportunities, Inc.	Community Based Resource
Dan Dey	Northern Oswego County Health Services	Other Healthcare Provider
Ann Gilpin	Oswego Hospital	Hospital
Jiancheng Huang	Oswego County Health Dept.	Other Healthcare Provider
Nicole Kolmsee	Department of Mental Hygiene	Other Healthcare Provider
Dr. Renato Mandanas	Oswego Hospital	Hospital
Mary-Margaret Pekow	Catholic Charities	Community Based Resource
Bob Pompo	Oswego Hospital	Hospital

### Saint Lawrence County

Interviewee Name	Organization Name	Organization Type
Todd Amo	United Helpers Canton Nursing Home, Inc.	Other Healthcare Provider
David Bender	Canton-Potsdam Hospital	Hospital
Brian Gardam	Hospice of St. Lawrence Valley	Other Healthcare Provider
Lauri Maki	St. Lawrence County Health Department	Other Healthcare Provider
Barb McBurnie	St. Lawrence County Office of Aging	Community Based Resource

